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Prelim inary Notes  
Important Terms. We use the following terms to identify various matters. These terms help to simplify the presentation of 

information in this Report.  

“Common stock” means GTI common stock, par value $.01 per share.  

“ Credit Agreement ” refers to the credit agreement providing for our senior secured credit facilities, as amended, or 
amended and restated at the relevant time. “ Revolving Facility ” refers to the revolving credit facility provided under the 
Credit Agreement, at the relevant time. On April 28, 2010, the Credit Agreement was amended and restated to, among 
other things, extend the maturity of the Revolving Facility to April 29, 2013, and add provisions to permit establishment of 
additional credit facilities thereunder.  

“Debentures” means our 1-5/8% convertible senior debentures issued under an Indenture dated January 22, 2004 (as 
supplemented). During the second quarter of 2008, all Debentures were either redeemed or converted into Common 
Stock.  

“GrafTech Finance” refers to GrafTech Finance Inc. only. GrafTech Finance is an indirect wholly-owned, special purpose 
finance subsidiary of GTI and the borrower under the Revolving Facility. GrafTech Finance was the issuer of the Senior 
Notes and was a guarantor of the Debentures.  

“GrafTech Global” refers to GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. only. GrafTech Global is an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of GTI and the direct or indirect holding company for all of our operating subsidiaries. GrafTech Global is a 
guarantor of the Revolving Facility.  

“GTI” refers to GrafTech International Ltd. only. GTI is our public parent company and the issuer of our publicly traded 
common stock registered under the Exchange Act and listed on the NYSE. GTI is a guarantor of the Revolving Facility.  

“Senior Notes” means our 10.25% senior notes due 2012 issued under an Indenture dated February 15, 2002 (as 
supplemented, the “ Senior Note Indenture ”). On September 28, 2009, we redeemed all of the remaining outstanding 
Senior Notes.  

“Senior Subordinated Notes” means our two senior subordinated promissory notes issued on November 30, 2010, in 
connection with the Seadrift Coke L.P. (“Seadrift”) and C/G Electrodes LLC (“C/G”) acquisitions, for an aggregate total 
face amount of $200 million. These senior subordinated notes are non-interest bearing and will mature in 2015. Because 
the Senior Subordinated Notes are non-interest bearing, we were required to record them at their present value 
(determined using an interest rate of 7.00%).  

“Subsidiaries” refers to those companies that, at the relevant time, are or were majority owned or wholly-owned directly 
or indirectly by GTI or its predecessors to the extent that those predecessors’ activities related to the graphite and carbon 
business.  

“GTIH” refers to GrafTech International Holdings, Inc. only. GTIH is our wholly-owned subsidiary through which we 
conduct most of our U.S. operations. GTIH is a guarantor of the Revolving Facility.  

“ We ,” “ us ” or “ our ” refers to GTI and its subsidiaries collectively or, if the context so requires, GTI, GrafTech Global, 
GrafTech Finance or GTIH, individually. In November 2010, we completed the reorganization of our holding company 
structure pursuant to which we formed a new parent holding company, GrafTech Holdings Inc., which had been renamed 
GrafTech International Ltd. (“new parent”). Our former parent holding company, which had been named GrafTech 
International Ltd. (“former parent”) as part of the reorganization, was renamed GrafTech Holdings Inc. and became a 
direct wholly owned subsidiary of a new parent. Our new parent  
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adopted the same certificate of incorporation (except for certain technical matters) and by-laws of our former parent; each 
share of common stock of our former parent was converted into one share of common stock of our new parent; and our 
new parent common stock was listed on the NYSE under our former parent’s ticker symbol “GTI.”  

Presentation of Financial, Market and Legal Data. References to cost in the context of our low cost advantages and 
strategies do not include the impact of special charges, expenses or credits, such as those related to investigations, lawsuits, 
claims, restructurings or impairments, or the impact of changes in accounting principles.  

Unless otherwise noted, when we refer to “ dollars ”, we mean U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise noted, all dollars are 
presented in thousands.  

References to spot prices for graphite electrodes mean prices under individual purchase orders (not part of an annual or 
other extended purchase arrangement) for near term delivery for standard size graphite electrodes used in large electric arc steel 
melting furnaces (sometimes called “ melters ” or “ melter applications”) as distinct from, for example, a ladle furnace or a furnace 
producing non-ferrous metals.  

Neither any statement made in this Report nor any charge taken by us relating to any legal proceedings constitutes an 
admission as to any wrongdoing.  

Unless otherwise noted, market and market share data in this Report are our own estimates. Market data relating to the 
steel, electronics, semiconductor, solar, thermal management, transportation, petrochemical and other metals industries, our 
general expectations concerning such industries and our market position and market share within such industries, both 
domestically and internationally, are derived from trade publications relating to those industries and other industry sources as well 
as assumptions made by us, based on such data and our knowledge of such industries. Market and market share data relating to 
the graphite and carbon industry as well as information relating to our competitors, our general expectations concerning such 
industry and our market position and market share within such industry, both domestically and internationally, are derived from the 
sources described above and public filings, press releases and other public documents of our competitors as well as assumptions 
made by us, based on such data and our knowledge of such industry. Our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are subject 
to change based on various factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors-Risks Relating to Us” and “Risk Factors –
Forward Looking Statements” in this Report. We cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of this market and market share 
data and have not independently verified it. None of the sources mentioned above has consented to the disclosure or use of data in 
this Report.  

Unless otherwise noted, references to “ market shares ” are based on sales volumes for the relevant year and references 
to “ natural graphite products ” do not include mined natural graphite flake.  

The GRAFTECH logo, GRAFCELL , GRAFOAM , and GRAFIHX™ are our trademarks and trade names used in this 
report. This Report also contains trademarks and trade names belonging to other parties.  

We make available, free of charge, on or through our web site, copies of our proxy statements, our annual reports on 
Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or 
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them 
with, or furnish them to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We maintain our website at 
http://www.graftech.com . The information contained on our web site is not part of this Report. The SEC maintains a website that 
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically. Please see 
http://www.sec.gov for more information.  

We have a code of ethics (which we call our Code of Conduct and Ethics) that applies to our principal executive officer, 
principal financial officer, principal accounting officers and controller, and persons performing similar functions, as well as our other 
employees, and which is intended to comply, at a minimum, with the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 
as well as the Sarbanes-Oxley  
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Act of 2002 and the SEC rules adopted thereunder. A copy of our Code of Conduct and Ethics is available on our web site at 
http://www.graftech.com/getdoc/fd25921b-07b1-429f-86fa-397f0d0cb30d/Code-of -Conduct-and-Ethics.aspx. We intend to report 
timely on our website any disclosures concerning amendments or waivers of our Code of Conduct and Ethics that would otherwise 
require the filing of a Form 8-K with the SEC.  

We also have corporate governance guidelines (which we call the Charter of the Board of Directors) which is available on 
our website at http://www.graftech.com/getdoc/6b8a3b4d-967c-4bdd-ab04-ea0011de0c91/GRAFTECH-INTERNATIONAL- LTD-
Corp-Gov-Guide.aspx as required by the NYSE.  
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INTRODU CTION  
Our vision is to enable customer leadership, better and faster than our competition, through the creation, innovation and 

manufacture of graphite and carbon material science-based solutions. We have 125 years of experience in the research and 
development of graphite and carbon-based solutions and our intellectual property portfolio is extensive. Our business was founded 
in 1886 by the National Carbon Company.  

We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of the broadest range of high quality graphite electrodes, products 
essential to the production of electric arc furnace (“ EAF ”) steel and various other ferrous and nonferrous metals. We also 
manufacture carbon, graphite and semi-graphite refractory products, which protect the walls of blast furnaces and submerged arc 
furnaces. We are one of the largest manufacturers of high quality natural graphite products enabling thermal management solutions 
for the electronics industry and fuel cell solutions for the transportation and power generation industries. We are one of the world’s 
largest manufacturers and providers of advanced graphite and carbon materials for the transportation, solar, and oil and gas 
exploration industries. We service customers in about 65 countries, including industry leaders such as Arcelor Mittal, BaoSteel, 
Gerdau S.A. and ThyssenKrupp Steel in steel, Samsung in electronics, Elkem Solar in the solar industry and Griffin Wheel in the 
transportation industry.  

On November 30, 2010, we announced the acquisition from the equity holders of Seadrift Coke L.P. (“Seadrift”) of 81.1% 
of the equity interests of Seadrift that we did not already own and from the equity holders of C/G Electrodes LLC (“C/G”) of 100% of 
the equity interests of C/G.  

Seadrift is one of the largest producers of petroleum-based needle coke in the world and owns the world’s only known 
stand-alone petroleum-based needle coke plant. Needle coke is the key raw material used to make graphite electrodes, including 
premium UHP graphite electrodes, which are critical consumables in EAF steel production. The acquisition of Seadrift helps to 
assure us of a stable supply for a majority of the primary raw material in the production of graphite electrodes and should allow us 
to reduce the relative cost of a significant portion of our supply of needle coke.  

C/G is a U.S.-based producer of large diameter premium UHP graphite electrodes used in the EAF steel making process. 
C/G also sells various other graphite-related products, including specialty graphite blocks, granular graphite and partially processed 
electrodes. The acquisition of C/G provides us with a large diameter graphite electrode manufacturing facility in the U.S. which will 
allow us to respond to customer orders more quickly and reduce freight cost and transit time for North American shipments.  

We currently manufacture our products in 14 manufacturing facilities strategically located on four continents. We believe 
our Industrial Materials network has the largest manufacturing capacity and the lowest manufacturing cost structures of all of our 
major competitors and delivers the highest-level quality products. We currently have the operating capability, depending on product 
mix, to manufacture approximately 255,000 metric tons of graphite electrodes sellable capacity. We believe that our global 
manufacturing network provides us with competitive advantages in product quality, proximity to customers, timely and reliable 
product delivery, and product costs. Given our global network, we are well positioned to serve the growing number of consolidated, 
global, multi-plant steel customers as well as certain smaller, regional customers and segments.  

We operate one of the premier research, development and testing facilities in the graphite and carbon industry, and we 
believe we are an industry leader in graphite and carbon material science and high temperature processing know-how. We believe 
our technological capabilities for developing products with superior thermal, electrical and physical characteristics provide us with a 
competitive advantage. These capabilities have enabled us to accelerate development and commercialization of our technologies 
to exploit markets with high growth potential.  

Products. We have five major product categories: graphite electrodes, refractory products, needle coke products, 
advanced graphite materials and natural graphite products.  
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Reportable Segments. Our businesses are reported in the following reportable segments: Industrial Materials, which 
include graphite electrodes, refractory products and needle coke products; and Engineered Solutions, which include advanced 
graphite materials and natural graphite products. We discuss our reportable segments and geographic areas in more detail in Note 
3, “Segment Reporting” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Industrial Materials. Our Industrial Materials segment manufactures and delivers high quality graphite electrodes, 
refractory products and needle coke products.  

We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of the broadest range of high quality graphite electrodes, refractory 
products, and needle coke products. Electrodes are key components of the conductive power systems used to produce steel and 
other non-ferrous metals. Approximately 70% of our graphite electrodes sold is consumed in the EAF steel melting process, the 
steel making technology used by all “mini-mills,” typically at a rate of one graphite electrode every eight to ten operating hours. We 
believe that mini-mills constitute the higher long-term growth sector of the steel industry and that there is currently no commercially 
viable substitute for graphite electrodes in EAF steel making. Therefore, graphite electrodes are essential to EAF steel production. 
The remaining approximately 30% of our graphite electrodes sold is primarily used in various other ferrous and non-ferrous melting 
applications, including steel refining (that is, ladle furnace operations for both EAF and basic oxygen furnace steel production), 
fused materials, chemical processing, and alloy metals. We are a producer of petroleum needle coke. Needle coke is a key raw 
material in the manufacture of the graphite electrodes used in the EAF steel production process.  

GrafTech is also a leading global supplier of carbon, semigraphite and graphite refractory hearth linings for blast and 
submerged arc furnaces used to produce iron and ferroalloys. Refractory products are used to protect the walls of blast furnaces 
and submerged arc furnaces due to their high thermal conductivity and the ease with which they can be machined to large or 
complex shapes. Among the major refractory product suppliers, GrafTech has one of the most complete offerings, including a full 
range of brick, block, ramming paste, cement and grout products.  

Engineered Solutions. Engineered Solutions include advanced graphite materials and natural graphite products. 
Advanced graphite materials are highly engineered synthetic graphite products used in many industrial areas due to their unique 
properties and the ability to tailor them to specific solutions. These products are used in the transportation, solar, metallurgical, 
chemical, oil and gas exploration, and various other industries as further described below. Our natural graphite products consist of 
thermal management solutions, fuel cell components, and sealing materials.  

INDUS TRIAL MATERIALS SEGMENT  
Our Industrial Materials segment, which had net sales of $1,008.8 million in 2008, $538.1 million in 2009, and $833.9 

million in 2010, manufactures and delivers high quality graphite electrodes, refractory products and needle coke products, as well 
as provides customer technical services. Industrial Materials sales represented approximately 85%, 82% and 83% of consolidated 
net sales for 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectively. We estimate that the worldwide demand for our industrial materials products was 
approximately $3.8 billion in 2009 (excluding needle coke products) and approximately $6.6 billion in 2010 (including needle coke 
products). On a comparable basis, the total worldwide demand change for Industrial Materials is an increase of 32% primarily due 
to improving global economic conditions. Customers for these products are located in all major geographic regions.  

Graphite Electrode Products . Graphite electrodes are consumed primarily in EAF steel production, the steel making 
technology used by all “mini-mills.” Graphite electrodes are also consumed in the refining of steel in ladle furnaces and in other 
smelting processes such as production of titanium dioxide.  

Electrodes act as conductors of electricity in the furnace, generating sufficient heat to melt scrap metal, iron ore or other 
raw materials used to produce steel or other metals. The electrodes are consumed in the course of that production.  
   

8  



Table of Contents  

Electric arc furnaces operate using either alternating electric current or direct electric current. The vast majority of electric 
arc furnaces use alternating current. Each of these alternating current furnaces typically uses nine electrodes (in three columns of 
three electrodes each) at one time. The other electric arc furnaces, which use direct current, typically use one column of three 
electrodes. The size of the electrodes varies depending on the size of the furnace, the size of the furnace’s electric transformer and 
the planned productivity of the furnace. In a typical furnace using alternating current and operating at a typical number of production 
cycles per day, one of the nine electrodes is fully consumed (requiring the addition of a new electrode), on average, every eight to 
ten operating hours. The actual rate of consumption and addition of electrodes for a particular furnace depends primarily on the 
efficiency and productivity of the furnace. Therefore, demand for graphite electrodes is directly related to the amount and efficiency 
of electric arc furnace steel production.  

Electric arc furnace steel production requires significant heat (as high as 5,000° F) to melt the raw materials in the furnace, 
primarily scrap metal. Heat is generated as electricity (as much as 150,000 amps) passes through the electrodes and creates an 
electric arc between the electrodes and the raw materials.  

Graphite electrodes are currently the only known commercially available products that have the high levels of electrical 
conductivity and the capability of sustaining the high levels of heat generated in an electric arc furnace producing steel. Therefore, 
graphite electrodes are essential to the production of steel in electric arc furnaces. We believe there is currently no commercially 
viable substitute for graphite electrodes in electric arc furnace steel making. We estimate that, on average, the cost of graphite 
electrodes represents about 2 – 3% of the cost of producing steel in a typical electric arc furnace.  

Electric arc furnace steel production was estimated to be approximately 390 million metric tons in 2010, representing 
approximately 28% of the world’s steel production. As global economic conditions continue to improve, we expect EAF production 
to increase approximately 6% in 2011. We are aware of approximately 43 million metric tons of new EAF capacity start ups and 
projects that we expect will be added over the next two-three years. We believe the EAF utilization rate in 2010 was approximately 
71%, compared to approximately 65% in 2009.  

Relationship Between Graphite Electrode Demand and EAF Steel Production. The improved efficiency of electric arc 
furnaces has resulted in a decrease in the average rate of consumption of graphite electrodes per metric ton of steel produced in 
electric arc furnaces (called “specific consumption”). We estimate that the average EAF melter specific consumption has declined in 
the last five years by an average of approximately 1.8% per year from slightly above 1.8 kilograms of graphite electrodes per metric 
ton produced in 2006 and we estimate that the rate of improvement in specific consumption will decline to less than one percent per 
year over the long term.  

Over the long term, specific consumption will continue to decrease at a more gradual pace, as the EAF steel makers 
investment cost (relative to the benefits) increases to achieve further efficiencies in specific consumption. Another contributing 
factor is the ongoing electrode quality improvements of graphite electrode manufacturers.  

We further believe that the rate of decline in the future will be impacted by the addition of modern EAF steel making 
capacity which tends to have lower specific consumption than the average. To the extent that this new capacity replaces old 
capacity, it has the accelerated effect of reducing industry wide specific consumption due to the efficiency of new electric arc 
furnaces relative to the old. However, to the extent that this new capacity increases industry wide EAF steel production capacity 
and that capacity is utilized, it creates additional demand for graphite electrodes. As an example, the approximately 43 million 
metric tons of new EAF capacity start ups and projects that we expect will be added over the next 2-3 years will result in 
approximately 74,000 metric tons of new graphite electrode demand, depending on steel industry utilization rates.  

Increases in EAF steel production, offset by declines in specific consumption, resulted in corresponding changes in 
demand for graphite electrodes. Graphite electrode demand is expected to increase in 2011 due to production increases in the EAF 
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steel industry, which are forecasted to increase over 5%. We estimate that graphite electrode demand will also grow at over 5% 
(net of specific consumption).  

Over the long term, graphite electrode demand is estimated to grow at an average annual net growth rate of 
approximately 2%, based on the anticipated growth of EAF steel production (average historical growth rate of 3%), partially offset 
by the decline in future specific consumption.  

Production Capacity . We believe that the worldwide total graphite electrode manufacturing capacity was approximately 
1.6 million metric tons for 2008 and 2009 and approximately 1.7 million metric tons for 2010. We believe that the graphite electrode 
industry manufacturing capacity utilization rate worldwide was less than 90% for 2008, approximately 60% for 2009, and 
approximately 80% for 2010.  

As a result of the recent acquisition and other actions, as well as our proprietary process and technological improvements, 
we have the capability, depending on product demand and mix, to manufacture approximately 255,000 metric tons of graphite 
electrodes annually from our existing assets.  

Industrial Materials Demand. We estimate that the worldwide demand for graphite electrodes, needle coke, refractories 
and other products was approximately $6.6 billion in 2010 and we estimate that we supplied approximately 14% of the worldwide 
demand for these products.  

Refractory Products. We manufacture carbon, semi-graphitic, and graphite refractory bricks which are used primarily for 
their high thermal conductivity. Common applications in blast furnace and submerged arc furnaces include cooling courses in the 
hearth bottoms for heat distribution and removal, backup linings in hearth walls for improved heat transfer and safety, and lintels 
over copper cooling plates where a single brick cannot span the cooling plate.  

GrafTech has one of the most unique carbon making processes in the world, called the hot-press process. By using 
various carbon and other sources and utilizing electricity, a baked refractory brick can be created in minutes as opposed to a month 
for the traditional block process. After cooling, the bricks are sent to an automated grinder and machined to the required size and 
shape to fill a customer’s order.  

Needle Coke Products. We are currently producing petroleum needle coke. Needle coke is the key raw material in the 
manufacture of graphite electrodes which are consumed in EAF steel production. Petroleum needle coke, a crystalline form of 
carbon derived from decant oil is used primarily in the production of graphite electrodes. Graphite electrode producers combine 
petroleum or pitch needle coke with pitch adhesives and other ingredients to form graphite electrodes.  

Petroleum and pitch needle coke, relative to other varieties of coke, is distinguished by its needle-like structure and its 
quality, which is measured by the presence of impurities, principally sulfur, nitrogen and ash. The needle-like structure of petroleum 
and pitch needle coke encourages expansion along the length of the electrode, rather than the width, which reduces the likelihood 
of fractures. Impurities reduce quality because they increase the coefficient of thermal expansion and electrical resistivity of the 
graphite electrode, which can lead to uneven expansion and a build-up of heat and cause the graphite electrode to oxidize rapidly 
and break. Petroleum and pitch needle coke is typically low in these impurities. In order to minimize fractures caused by 
disproportionate expansion over the width of an electrode, and minimize the effect of impurities, large-diameter graphite electrodes 
(18 inches to 32 inches) employed in high-intensity electric arc furnace applications are comprised almost exclusively of petroleum 
and pitch needle coke.  

ENGIN EERED SOLUTIONS SEGMENT  
Demand for products in our engineered solutions segment recovered to near 2008 levels during 2010 as the global 

economy recovery process progressed. The electronic thermal management demand continued to grow and the business also 
benefited from increased activity in solar and other energy products.  

Our Engineered Solutions segment had sales of $181.5 million in 2008, $120.9 million in 2009, and $173.1 million in 2010. 
Engineered Solutions represented approximately 15% of consolidated net sales for 2008, approximately 18% for 2009 and 
approximately 17% for  
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2010. We estimate that our addressable worldwide demand for engineered solutions was $1,027 million in 2008, $716 million in 
2009, and $1,100 million in 2010.  

Advanced Graphite Materials . Our advanced graphite materials include products in a variety of shapes and grades, 
weighing up to ten metric tons, for diverse applications. Our products are used in many applications including fused refractory 
products and semiconductor components. In addition, certain of our materials, when combined with advanced flexible graphite, 
provide superior heat management solutions for insulation packages, induction furnaces, high temperature vacuum furnaces and 
direct solidification furnaces and other industrial thermal management applications.  

Natural Graphite Products. We manufacture natural graphite products, consisting of flexible graphite. Applications 
include thermal management solutions used for the electronics, automotive, petrochemical, and transportation industries. We are 
one of the world’s largest manufacturers of natural graphite products for these uses and applications.  

B USINESS STRATEGIES  
We believe that, by growing our revenues and operating income, successfully implementing LEAN initiatives, and 

maximizing our cash flows, we will deliver enhanced financial performance and return on shareholder value, and also position us to 
capitalize on growth opportunities that may arise. We have transformed our operations, building competitive advantages to enable 
us to compete successfully in our major product lines, to realize enhanced performance as economic conditions improve and to 
exploit growth opportunities from our intellectual property portfolio. Our business strategies are designed to expand upon our 
competitive advantages by:  

Leveraging Our Unique Global Manufacturing Network. We believe that our global manufacturing network provides us 
with competitive advantages in product quality, product costs, timely and reliable delivery, and operational flexibility to adjust 
product mix to meet the diverse needs of a wide range of segments and customers.  

We continue to leverage our network to seek to achieve significant increases in throughput generated from our existing 
assets, through productivity improvements, capital expenditures, and other efficiency initiatives. We believe we can further exploit 
our network by focusing our technical and customer service capabilities on:  
   

   

We sell our products in every major geographic region. Sales of our products to buyers outside the U.S. accounted for 
about 83% of net sales in 2008, 82% of net sales in 2009, and about 80% of net sales in 2010. No single customer or group of 
affiliated customers accounted for more than 10% of our total net sales in 2008, 2009 or 2010.  

Driving Continuous Improvement with LEAN and Six Sigma . We believe a consistent focus on our customers and 
diligence towards aligning our processes to satisfy these customers is essential in today’s global market. We have undertaken a 
comprehensive launch of LEAN and Six Sigma with dedicated resources at all of our key manufacturing plants intended to create a 
common language and tool set centering around LEAN and Six Sigma.  

Our focus on waste reduction using a team approach creates knowledge at all levels of the organization. Concentrating on 
creating flow within processes enables us to capitalize on lower inventories while still maintaining high on-time-delivery. Our metric 
driven behavior and instituting solid corrective actions to anomalies drives us towards customer centric solutions.  
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�   the increasing number of large global customers created by the consolidation trend within the steel industry, to whom 

we believe we are well positioned to offer products that meet their volume, product quality, product mix, delivery 
reliability and service needs at competitive prices; and  

  
�   customers in targeted segments where we have competitive advantages to meet identified customer needs due to the 

range and quality of our products, the utilization of our capacity, the value of our customer technical service and our 
low cost supplier advantage.  
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We believe we will be able to continue to leverage our stream-lined processes as a sustainable competitive advantage 
with shorter lead times, lower costs, higher quality products, and exceptional service. We are applying these methodologies and 
tools to not only our manufacturing processes; but also to our transactional and business processes such as Accounts Receivable, 
New Product Introduction, and Cash Forecasting in order to develop a high-performing value stream.  

Accelerating Commercialization of Advantaged Technologies. We believe that our technological capabilities for 
developing products with superior thermal, electrical and physical characteristics provide us with a potential growth opportunity as 
well as a competitive advantage. We seek to exploit these capabilities and our intellectual property portfolio to accelerate 
development and commercialization of these technologies across all of our businesses, to improve existing products, and to 
develop and commercialize new products for higher growth rate areas such as electronic thermal management technologies. We 
received R&D Magazine’s prestigious R&D 100 Award in six of the past eight years. The R&D 100 Award honors the 100 most 
technologically significant products introduced into the marketplace each year. We received this award in 2003 and 2004 for our 
achievements in electronic thermal management products, in 2005 for our large-diameter pinless graphite electrodes, in 2006 for 
GRAFOAM carbon foam, a unique high strength, light weight carbon foam, in 2007 for GrafCell flow field plates, a key 
component to the commercialization of fuel cells, and in 2009 for our GRAFIHX™ Flexible Heat Exchangers, a graphite solution 
uniquely suited for radiant floor heating systems.  

Delivering Exceptional and Consistent Quality. We believe that our products are among the highest quality products 
available in our industry. We have been recognized as a preferred or certified supplier by many major steel companies and have 
received numerous technological innovation and other awards by industry groups, customers and others. Using our technological 
capabilities, we continually seek to improve the consistent overall quality of our products and services, including the performance 
characteristics of each product, the uniformity of the same product manufactured at different facilities and the expansion of the 
range of our products. We believe that improvements in overall quality create significant efficiencies and opportunities for us, 
provide us the opportunity to increase sales volumes and potential demand share, and create production efficiencies for our 
customers.  

Providing Superior Technical Service. We believe that we are recognized as one of the industry leaders in providing 
value added technical services to customers for our major product lines. We believe that we have one of the largest customer 
technical service and related supporting engineering and scientific organizations in our industry, with more than 200 engineers, 
scientists and specialists around the world. A portion of these employees assist key steel and other metals customers in furnace 
applications, operations and upgrades to reduce energy consumption, improve raw material costs and increase output.  

Maintaining Liquidity and Building Stockholder Value . We believe that our business strategies support our goal of 
growing revenues and operating income and maximizing the cash generated from operations. Maintaining liquidity remains a 
priority for us. At December 31, 2010, we had outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Facility of $130.0 million, $143.4 million 
outstanding related to Senior Subordinated Notes, and cash and cash equivalents of $13.1 million. We had no borrowings under 
our Revolving Facility at December 31, 2009 and our cash and cash equivalents exceeded $50 million.  

We continually review our assets, product lines and businesses to seek out opportunities to maximize value, through re-
deployment, merger, acquisition, divestiture or other means, which could include taking on more debt or issuing more equity. We 
may at any time buy or sell assets, product lines or businesses.  

PRODUCTI ON PLANNING  
We plan and source production of our products globally. We have evaluated virtually every aspect of our global supply 

chain, and we have redesigned and implemented changes to our global manufacturing, marketing and sales processes to leverage 
the strengths of our repositioned manufacturing network. Among other  
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things, we have reduced manufacturing bottlenecks, improved product and service quality and delivery reliability, expanded our 
range of products, and improved our global sourcing for our customers.  

We deploy synchronous work processes at most of our manufacturing facilities. We have also installed and continue to 
install and upgrade proprietary process technologies at our manufacturing facilities, use statistical process controls in our 
manufacturing processes for all products, and employ LEAN processing improvement techniques.  

Our global manufacturing network also helps us to minimize risks associated with dependence on any single economic 
region.  

MANUFACT URING  
Graphite Electrode. The manufacture of a graphite electrode takes, on average, about two months. We manufacture 

graphite electrodes ranging in size up to 30 inches in diameter and over 11 feet in length, and weighing as much as 5,900 pounds 
(2.6 metric tons). The manufacture of graphite electrodes includes six main processes: forming the electrode, baking the electrode, 
impregnating the electrode with a special pitch that improves the strength, rebaking the electrode, graphitizing the electrode using 
electric resistance furnaces, and machining.  

We generally warrant to our customers that our electrodes will meet our specifications. Electrode returns and 
replacements have been immaterial in the aggregate to net sales in each of the last three years.  

We manufacture graphite electrodes in the United States, Mexico, Brazil, South Africa, France and Spain. We have an 
electrode machining center in Russia.  

Refractory Products. Refractory bricks are manufactured in the United States, using a proprietary “hot press” process. 
We have two primary grades of refractory products. The manufacture of a refractory block begins with the mixing and blending of 
the raw materials. The raw materials are fed into molds and pressed into shape. Intense heat and pressure are then applied. The 
bricks are then cooled and then cut into the desired shapes. Our bricks are generally smaller than our competitors’ products. We 
believe our smaller brick size creates an easier installation process compared to larger bricks. We manufacture refractory bricks 
into sizes up to 18 inches, although we can manufacture bricks into a multitude of sizes and shapes to meet the needs of our 
customers.  

Petroleum Needle and Pitch Coke Products. Petroleum needle coke is produced through a manufacturing process very 
similar to a refinery. The production process converts decant oil into petroleum needle coke shaped in a needle-like structure. Pitch 
coke is produced using coal-tar pitch. We produce petroleum needle coke at one manufacturing facility in the U.S.  

Advanced Graphite Materials . Advanced graphite materials are manufactured using processes and technologies similar 
to those of graphite electrodes. Manufacturing lead times range between four to six months for most products and depend on the 
specific material properties that are needed to be imparted in the final billet. After the forming, baking, impregnation, rebaking and 
graphitization steps, the billets are either dressed and sold as raw stock or are machined into custom parts against proprietary 
specifications supplied by our customers. We produce advanced graphite materials in the United States, South Africa, Brazil, 
France and Italy.  

Natural Graphite Products. We use a proprietary process to convert mined natural graphite flake into expandable 
graphite, an intermediate product. We manufacture flexible graphite by subjecting expandable graphite to additional proprietary 
processing. Our natural graphite business operates two manufacturing facilities in the U.S. We believe that we operate one of the 
world’s most technologically sophisticated advanced natural graphite production lines.  

Quality Standards and Maintenance. Most of our global manufacturing facilities are certified and registered to ISO 9001-
2008 international quality standards and some are certified to QS 9001-2008. Natural graphite has a quality assurance system 
designed to meet the most stringent requirements of its customers and is ISO TS 16949:2009 certified. Maintenance at our facilities 
is conducted on an ongoing basis.  

Raw Materials and Suppliers . The primary raw materials for electrodes are engineered by-products and  
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residues of the petroleum and coal industries. We use these raw materials because of their high carbon content. The primary raw 
materials for graphite electrodes are calcined needle coke and pitch. We purchase raw materials from a variety of sources and 
believe that the quality and cost of our raw materials on the whole is competitive with those available to our competitors.  

We were parties to long-term contracts with ConocoPhillips for the supply of petroleum coke, our primary raw material. 
These supply agreements contained customary terms and conditions including annual price negotiations, dispute resolution and 
termination provisions, including, upon a termination, a three-year supply arrangement with reducing volume commitments. During 
2010, these termination provisions were exercised, and the contracts were formally terminated as of December 31, 2010. In 
accordance with the termination provisions, we have negotiated three-year supply arrangements with ConocoPhillips, for quantities 
of needle coke which we believe are sufficient for our raw material requirements as currently forecast.  

We have firm price contracts for the bulk of our 2011 needle coke requirements. We expect to purchase approximately 
35% of our 2011 needle coke requirements from Seadrift.  

Raw materials for refractory products are primarily sourced internally and from a variety of third parties. The primary raw 
material used in refractory products is crushed graphite.  

The primary raw material used by Seadrift to make petroleum needle coke is decant oil, a by-product of the gasoline 
refining process. Seadrift is not dependent on any single refinery for decant oil. While Seadrift has purchased a substantial majority 
of its raw material inventory from two or three suppliers in recent years, we believe that there is an abundant supply of decant oil in 
the United States available from a variety of sources on similar terms.  

We purchase energy from a variety of sources. Electric power used in manufacturing processes is purchased from local 
suppliers under contracts with pricing based on rate schedules or price indices. Our electric costs can vary significantly depending 
on these rates and usage. Natural gas used in manufacturing processes is purchased from local suppliers primarily under annual 
volume contracts with pricing based on various natural gas price indices.  

DIST RIBUTION  
We deploy various demand management and inventory management techniques to seek to ensure we can meet our 

customers’ delivery requirements while still maximizing the utilization of our production capacity. We can experience significant 
variation in our customers’ delivery requirements as their specific needs vary and change through the year. We generally seek to 
maintain appropriate inventory levels, taking into account these factors as well as the significant differences in manufacturing cycle 
times for graphite electrode products and our customers’ products.  

Finished products are usually stored at our manufacturing facilities. Limited quantities of some finished products are also 
stored at local warehouses around the world to meet customer needs.  

SALES AND CUSTOMER SERVICE  
Our product quality, our global manufacturing network and our low cost structure allow us to deliver a broad range of 

product offerings across various segments. We differentiate and sell the value of our product offerings, depending on the segment 
or specific product application, primarily based on product quality and performance, delivery reliability, price, and customer 
technical service.  

We price our products based on the value that we believe we deliver to our customers. Pricing may vary within any given 
industry, depending on the segment within that industry and the value of the offer to a specific customer. We believe that we can 
achieve increased competitiveness, customer demand, and profitability through our value added offerings to customers. In certain 
segments where the product is less differentiated, these value added offerings have less impact on our competitiveness. 
Historically, our graphite electrode customers generally seek to negotiate to secure the reliable supply of their anticipated volume 
requirements on an annual basis, sometimes called the “graphite electrode book building process”. These orders are subject to 
renegotiation or adjustment to meet changing conditions. The remainder of our graphite electrode  
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customers purchase their electrodes as needed at then current market prices (i.e., at the spot price).  

We believe that we are one of the recognized industry leaders in providing value added technical services to customers 
for our major product lines, and that we have one of the largest customer technical service and related supporting engineering and 
scientific organizations in our industry, with more than 200 engineers, scientists and specialists around the world.  

We deploy these selling methods and our customer technical service to address the specific needs of all products. Our 
direct sales force operates from 15 sales offices located around the world.  

Industrial Materials. We sell our Industrial Materials segment products primarily through our direct sales force, 
independent sales representatives and distributors, all of whom are trained and experienced with our products.  

We have customer technical service personnel based around the world to assist customers to maximize their production 
and minimize their costs. We employ about 162 engineers and technicians in our Industrial Materials segment, a portion of whom 
provide technical service and advice to key steel and other metals customers. These services include furnace applications and 
operation, as well as furnace upgrades to reduce energy consumption, improve raw material costs and increase output.  

Engineered Solutions . Our Engineered Solutions products are sold using direct employees and independent sales 
representatives and distributors in all major geographic regions of the world including North and South America, Africa, Europe and 
Asia.  

The majority of our products are custom built to customer specifications after an iterative review process between the 
customer’s engineers and our sales and technical service employees. Our sales personnel are trained and experienced with the 
products they sell. We provide technical service to our customers through dedicated technical service engineers who operate out of 
our North American and European facilities. We believe that our technical service differentiates us from our competition and take 
pride in our ability to support the technical requirements of our customers.  

TECHNO LOGY  
We believe that we are an industry leader in graphite and carbon materials science and high temperature processing 

know-how and that we operate premier research, development and testing facilities for our industry. We have 125 years of 
experience in the research and development of graphite and carbon technologies. Over the past several years, we have analyzed 
our intellectual property portfolio to identify new product opportunities with high growth potential for us, redirected research to 
enhance and exploit our portfolio and accelerated development of such products.  

Research and Development. We conduct our research and development both independently and in conjunction with our 
strategic suppliers, customers and others. We have a dedicated technology center located at our corporate headquarters in Ohio, 
which focuses on all products. We also have a pilot plant that has the capability to produce small or trial quantities of new or 
improved graphite products, to accelerate scale-up and market entry. In addition, we have a state-of-the-art testing facility located 
at our headquarters capable of conducting physical and analytical testing for those products. The activities at these centers and 
facilities are integrated with the efforts of our engineers at our manufacturing facilities who are focused on improving manufacturing 
processes.  

Research and development expenses amounted to $9.0 million, $10.2 million and $12.3 million in 2008, 2009 and 2010, 
respectively.  

We believe that our technological and manufacturing strengths and capabilities provide us with a significant growth 
opportunity as well as a competitive advantage and are important factors in the selection of us by industry leaders and others as a 
strategic partner. Our technological capabilities include developing products with superior thermal, electrical and physical 
characteristics that provide a differentiating advantage. We seek to exploit these strengths and capabilities across all of our 
businesses, to improve existing products and to develop and commercialize new products with high growth potential.  

A significant portion of our research and development is focused on new product development, particularly engineered 
solutions for advanced energy  
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applications such as solar silicon manufacturing, electronic thermal management, energy storage and generation. Other significant 
work focuses on advancements in electrode technology and raw material optimization.  

Intellectual Property. We believe that our intellectual property, consisting primarily of patents and proprietary know-how, 
provides us with competitive advantages and is important to our growth opportunities. Our intellectual property portfolio is 
extensive, with close to 400 U.S. and foreign patents, as well as close to 400 pending U.S. and foreign carbon and graphite related 
patent applications, which we believe, is more than any of our major competitors. Among our competitors, we hold one of the 
largest number of patents for flexible graphite as well as the largest number of patents relating to the use of natural graphite for 
certain fuel cell applications. In addition, we have obtained exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to various U.S. and foreign patents 
relating to our technologies. These patents and licenses expire at various times over the next two decades.  

We own, and have obtained licenses to, various trade names and trademarks used in our businesses. For example, the 
trade name and trademark UCAR are owned by Union Carbide Corporation (which has been acquired by Dow Chemical Company) 
and are licensed to us on a worldwide, exclusive and royalty-free basis until 2025. This particular license automatically renews for 
successive ten-year periods. It permits non-renewal by Union Carbide in 2025 or at the end of any renewal period upon five years’
notice of non-renewal.  

We rely on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws as well as appropriate agreements to protect our intellectual 
property. Among other things, we seek to protect our proprietary know-how and information, through the requirement that 
employees, consultants, strategic partners and others, who have access to such proprietary information and know-how, enter into 
confidentiality or restricted use agreements.  

COMP ETITION  
Industrial Materials. Competition in the industrial materials segment is intense and is based primarily on product 

differentiation and quality, delivery reliability, price, and customer service, depending on the segment or specific product 
application.  

In the most demanding product applications (that is, graphite electrodes that can operate in the largest, most productive 
and demanding EAF steel mills in the world), we compete primarily on product quality, delivery reliability, and customer technical 
service. We believe these are prerequisite capabilities that not all producers of graphite electrodes possess or can demonstrate 
consistently. In this segment, we primarily compete with higher quality graphite electrode producers, although this segment of the 
graphite electrode demand has become increasingly competitive in recent years as graphite electrode producers have improved 
the quality of their offerings and become qualified suppliers to some of the largest and most sophisticated EAF customers.  

In other product applications, including ladle furnaces requiring less demanding performance and certain other ferrous and 
non-ferrous segments, we compete based on product differentiation and product quality. Our product quality, unique global 
manufacturing network, proximity to regional and local customers and the related lower cost structure allows us to deliver a broad 
range of product offerings across these various segments.  

We believe that there are no current commercially viable substitutes for graphite electrodes in EAF steel production.  

Our refractory products business competes based on product quality, useful life, and technology. We believe our 
proprietary hot press process and the smaller shape of our refractory bricks provides a more diverse product that is easier to install 
than larger refractory bricks.  

We believe that there are certain cost and technology barriers to entry into our industry, including the need for extensive 
product and process know-how and other intellectual property and a high initial capital investment. It also requires high quality raw 
material sources and a developed energy supply infrastructure. However, competing manufacturers, particularly Chinese 
manufacturers, have been able to expand their sales and manufacturing geographically.  

There are a number of international graphite electrode producers, including SGL Carbon SE (Germany), Tokai Carbon 
Co., Ltd. (Japan), Showa Denko Carbon K.K. (Japan), Graphite India Limited (India), HEG  
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Limited (India), SEC Corporation Limited (Japan), Nippon Carbon Co., Ltd. (Japan), Energoprom Group (Russia), Beijing FangDa 
Carbon Tech Co. Ltd. (China) and Sinosteel Corporation (China), as well as a number of others which are in China.  

All graphite electrode manufacturers, even those without multinational manufacturing operations, are capable of, and 
many in fact are, supplying their products globally, and are experiencing increased competition from Indian, Russian and Chinese 
graphite electrode manufacturers. The Chinese government has strongly supported and invested heavily in industrial expansion in 
recent years and continues to do so. As a part of this expansion, Chinese production of graphite electrodes has increased and the 
quality of the electrodes produced in China has improved. The Chinese policy of maintaining a fixed rate of exchange of the 
Renminbi to the U.S. dollar may provide Chinese producers with a competitive advantage with respect to exports of graphite 
electrodes.  

We believe there are currently approximately ten other firms producing UHP-grade needle coke. These competitors 
include ConocoPhillips, Petrocokes Japan Limited (Japan), Mitsubishi Chemical Company, Baosteel Group (China), C-Chem Co., 
Ltd. (Japan), Indian Oil Company Limited, Hongtai Chemical Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. (China), JX Holdings Inc. (Japan), 
Petrochina International Jinzhou Co., Ltd. (China) and Sinosteel Anshan Research Institue of Thermo-Energy Co. Ltd. (China). 
Competition in the needle coke industry is based primarily on service, price, reliability and efficiency of products. Our Seadrift 
facility competes primarily on the quality and price of its needle coke.  

Engineered Solutions. Competitors of our engineered solutions segment compete on product differentiation and 
innovation, quality, price, delivery reliability and customer service depending on the specific demands or product applications.  

We believe we are the technology leader within the segments we participate in, and we differentiate ourselves based on 
our ability to provide customers with a solution that gives them one of the lowest total operational costs in meeting their product 
manufacturing needs. We achieve this by using our extensive product, process and application knowledge.  

We believe there are certain barriers to entry into this industry, including the need for extensive product and process 
know-how, intellectual property and a high initial capital investment.  

We compete with other major specialty graphite competitors who manufacture and sell on a global basis. These 
competitors include SGL Carbon A.G. (Germany), Tokai Carbon Co., Ltd. (Japan), Toyo Tanso Co., Ltd.(Japan), Mersen S.A. 
(France) and several other competitors, a number of which are in China.  

ENVIR ONMENTAL MATTERS  
We are subject to a wide variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the presence, storage, 

handling, generation, treatment, emission, release, discharge and disposal of wastes and other substances defined as hazardous 
or toxic, or otherwise believed to have potential to harm the environment or human health, which govern our current and former 
properties, neighboring properties and our current operations worldwide. These laws and regulations (and the enforcement thereof) 
are periodically changed and are becoming increasingly stringent. We have experienced some level of regulatory scrutiny at most 
of our current and former facilities, and have been required to take corrective or remedial actions and incur related costs in the past, 
and may experience further regulatory scrutiny, and may be required to take further corrective or remedial actions and incur 
additional costs in the future. Although it has not been the case in the past, these costs could have a material adverse effect on us 
in the future.  

The principal U.S. laws and regulations to which we are subject include:  
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�   the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and similar state and local 

laws which regulate air emissions, water discharges and hazardous waste generation, treatment, storage, handling, 
transportation and disposal;  

  
�   the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund 

Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, and the Small Business Liability Relief and Brownfields  
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Further, laws adopted or proposed in various states impose or may impose, as the case may be, reporting or remediation 
requirements if operations cease or property is transferred or sold.  

We believe that we are currently in material compliance with the federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and 
regulations to which we are subject. We have received and may in the future receive notices from the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (“U.S. EPA”) or state environmental protection agencies, as well as claims from other parties, alleging that we 
are a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) under Superfund and similar state laws for past and future remediation costs at waste 
disposal sites and other contaminated properties. Although Superfund liability is joint and several, in general, final allocation of 
responsibility at sites where there are multiple PRPs is made based on each PRP’s relative contribution of hazardous substances 
to the site. Based on information currently available to us, we believe that any potential liability we may have as a PRP will not have 
a material adverse effect on us.  

As a result of amendments to the Clean Air Act enacted in 1990, certain of our facilities have been or will be required to 
comply with new reporting requirements and standards for air emissions that have been or may be adopted by the U.S. EPA and 
state environmental protection agencies over the next several years pursuant to regulations that have been or could be 
promulgated, including potentially the promulgation of maximum achievable control technology standards for the carbon and 
graphite manufacturing industry. The regulations that have been promulgated to date have necessitated use of additional 
administrative and engineered controls, and changes in certain manufacturing processes, in order for us to achieve compliance 
with these regulations. Similar foreign laws and regulations have been or may also be adopted to establish new standards for air 
emissions, which may also require additional controls on our manufacturing operations outside the U.S. Based on information 
currently available to us, we believe that compliance with these regulations will not have a material adverse effect on us.  

Our manufacturing operations outside the U.S. are also subject to the laws and regulations of the countries in which those 
operations are conducted. These laws and regulations primarily relate to pollution prevention and the control of the impacts of 
industrial activities on the quality of the air, water and soil. Regulated activities include, among other things: use of hazardous 
substances; packaging, labeling and transportation of products; management and disposal of toxic wastes; discharge of industrial 
and sanitary wastewater; and process emissions to the air. Under the European Union’s (“EU”) regulations concerning the 
Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals (commonly referred to as “REACH”), enacted in 2007, 
manufacturers and importers into the EU of certain chemical substances are required to register and evaluate their potential 
impacts on human health and the environment. Under REACH, the continued importation into the EU, manufacture and/or use of 
certain chemical substances may be restricted, and manufacturers and importers of certain chemicals will be required to undertake 
evaluations of those substances. The requirements of REACH are being phased in over a period of years, and compliance is 
requiring and will continue to require expenditures and resource commitments. Based on information currently available to us, we 
believe that compliance with these regulations will not have a material adverse effect on us.  

International accords, foreign laws and regulations, and U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations are increasingly 
being enacted to address concerns about the effects that carbon dioxide emissions and other identified greenhouse gases (“GHG”) 
may have on the environment and climate worldwide. These effects are widely referred to as Climate Change. Some members of 
the international community have taken actions in the past to address Climate Change issues on a  
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Revitalization Act of 2002, and similar state laws that provide for the reporting of, responses to and liability for releases 
of hazardous substances into the environment; and  

  
�   the Toxic Substances Control Act and related laws that are designed to track and control chemicals that are produced 

or imported into the United States and assess the risk to health and to the environment of new products at early 
developmental stages.  



Table of Contents  

global basis. The Kyoto Protocol, which was ratified in 1997, set binding GHG emission reduction targets for the participating 
industrialized countries. Members of the international community have been meeting since 2007 in the interest of negotiating a 
future treaty to replace the Kyoto Protocol, which will expire in 2012. Although the U.S. did not ratify the Kyoto Protocol, it is 
possible that the U.S. would sign a new international Climate Change treaty. The EU Emissions Trading Scheme (“EU ETS”), 
enacted under the provisions of the Kyoto Protocol, requires certain listed energy-intensive industries to participate in an 
international “cap and trade” system of GHG emission allowances. As carbon and graphite manufacturing is not a covered industry 
under the current EU ETS, our European operations are not required to comply with these provisions. However, the EU ETS will 
also expire in 2012 and will likely be replaced by similar legislation that could cover some or all of our manufacturing operations in 
Europe. Should that happen, our European operations could incur additional expenses to purchase emission allowances in the 
open trading market.  

In the U.S., similar Climate Change legislation has also been proposed in Congress but has not been enacted. Such 
legislation could be passed in the future and could limit GHG emissions from covered entities through a similar “cap and trade”
system to reduce the quantity of national GHG emissions in accordance with established goals and deadlines. One or more of our 
U.S. facilities could be covered by such new legislation and the company could be required to purchase emission allowances, 
depending on the final promulgated GHG emission thresholds, availability of government-granted free emission allowances to 
energy-intensive or trade vulnerable industries, and other unknown variables.  

On October 30, 2009, a Final Mandatory Reporting of Greenhouse Gases Rule was issued in the U.S., which as of the 
January 1, 2010 effective date, requires facilities with specified GHG sources that emit over the annual threshold quantities to 
monitor and report their GHG emissions. Corporations that are large suppliers of petroleum products (including, by definition, 
importers and exporters) must also submit an annual activity report to the U.S. EPA. Some of our operations are covered under this 
Rule, and we believe that we have the necessary administrative systems in place to comply with the requirements. Under various 
other foreign and U.S. state regulations, we are currently required to report certain GHG emissions to the pertinent authorities. 
Furthermore, in December 2009, the U.S. EPA issued an “endangerment and cause or contribute finding” for GHG, under 
Section 202(a) of the Clean Air Act, allowing it to issue new rules that directly regulate GHG emissions under the existing federal 
New Source Review, Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD) and Title V Operating Permit programs. On May 13, 2010, the 
U.S. EPA set GHG emissions thresholds to define when permits under these programs are required for new and existing industrial 
facilities. Under these programs, new or significantly modified facilities must also use best available control technologies to 
minimize GHG emissions. Therefore, our U.S. facilities may be required in the future to modify our air permits, implement additional 
administrative and engineered controls, invest in capital improvements, and/or make changes in certain manufacturing processes in 
order for us to achieve compliance with these regulations or to expand our operations. Based on information currently available to 
us, we believe that compliance with these regulations will not have a material adverse effect on us.  

We have sold or closed a number of facilities that had operated solid waste landfills on-site. In most cases where we 
divested the properties, we have retained ownership of the landfills. When our landfills were or are to be sold, we obtained or seek 
to obtain financial assurance we believe to be adequate to protect us from any potential future liability associated with these 
landfills. When we have closed landfills, we believe that we have done so in material compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. We continue to monitor these landfills pursuant to applicable laws and regulations. To date, the costs associated with 
the landfills have not been, and we do not anticipate that future costs will be, material to us.  

Estimates of future costs for compliance with U.S. and foreign environmental protection laws and regulations, and for 
environmental liabilities, are necessarily imprecise due to numerous uncertainties, including the impact of potential new laws and 
regulations, the availability and application of new and diverse technologies, the extent of insurance coverage, the discovery of 
contaminated properties, or the identification of new hazardous substance disposal sites  
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at which we may be a PRP and, in the case of sites subject to Superfund and similar state and foreign laws, the final determination 
of remedial requirements and the ultimate allocation of costs among the PRPs. Subject to the inherent imprecision in estimating 
such future costs, but taking into consideration our experience to date regarding environmental matters of a similar nature and facts 
currently known, we estimate that our costs and capital expenditures (in each case, before adjustment for inflation) for 
environmental protection regulatory compliance programs and for remedial response actions will not increase materially over the 
next several years.  

Furthermore, we establish accruals for environmental liabilities when it is probable that a liability has been or will be 
incurred, and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. We adjust these accruals as new remedial actions or other 
commitments are made, and when new information becomes available that changes the estimates previously made.  

INSURA NCE  
We maintain insurance against civil liabilities relating to personal injuries to third parties, for loss of or damage to property, 

for business interruptions and for environmental matters, that provides coverage, subject to the applicable coverage limits, 
deductibles and retentions, and exclusions, that we believe are appropriate upon terms and conditions and for premiums that we 
consider fair and reasonable in the circumstances. We cannot assure you, however, that we will not incur losses beyond the limits 
of or outside the coverage of our insurance.  

EM PLOYEES  
At December 31, 2010, we had 2,915 employees (excluding contractors), an increase of 768 employees compared to 

2009. Of this 768 employee increase, 296 were related to the Seadrift and C/G acquisitions. A total of 555 employees were in 
Europe (including Russia), 866 were in Mexico and Brazil, 429 were in South Africa, 1 was in Canada, 1,054 were in the U.S. and 
10 were in the Asia Pacific region. At December 31, 2010, 1,602 of our employees were hourly employees.  

At December 31, 2010, approximately 53% of our worldwide employees were covered by collective bargaining or similar 
agreements, which expire at various times in each of the next several years. At December 31, 2010, about 1,287 employees, or 
44% of our employees, were covered by agreements which expire, or are subject to renegotiation, at various times through 
December 31, 2011. We believe that, in general, our relationships with our unions are satisfactory and that we will be able to renew 
or extend our collective bargaining or similar agreements on reasonable terms as they expire. We cannot assure, however, that 
renewed or extended agreements will be reached without a work stoppage or strike or will be reached on terms satisfactory to us.  

We have not had any material work stoppages or strikes during the past decade.  
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Item 1A. Risk Factors  
An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The risks described below are not the only ones facing us. 

Additional risks not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also have a material adverse effect on us. If 
any of the following risks actually occur, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or business could be harmed. In 
that case, the market price of our securities could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.  

RISKS RELATING TO US  
A downturn in global economic conditions may materi ally adversely affect our business.  

Our business and results of operations are affected by international, national and regional economic conditions. Financial 
markets in the United States, Europe and Asia experienced extreme disruption in the second half of 2008 and much of 2009, 
including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, ratings 
downgrades of certain investments and declining values of others. The global economy was in a recession. Slowing, or declining, 
economic growth in the United States and elsewhere caused our customers to delay or reduce purchases which, in turn, resulted in 
reductions in sales of our products, longer sales cycles and increased price competition, materially and adversely affecting our 
financial position and results of operations.  

We believe that in the graphite electrode markets in which we compete, the capacity utilization rate was over 95% in the 
first nine months of 2008, but, as a result of the financial crisis and the global economic slowdown, fell dramatically in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 and we estimate they were less than 50% at the end of the year. We believe capacity utilization rates averaged 
60% for the full year 2009. These lower capacity utilization rates adversely affected our financial position and results of operation in 
2009.  

In 2010, the global economy began a gradual recovery from the significant downturn in the second half of 2008 and all of 
2009. The International Monetary Fund reported GDP growth figures for 2010 at approximately 3.9%. Based on this recovery, we 
believe that in the graphite electrode markets in which we compete, the capacity utilization rate was approximately 80%. While 
improved, these lower than pre-crisis capacity utilization rates continued to adversely affect our financial position and results of 
operation for 2010.  

While stabilization appears to have begun, the global economy remains fragile and market demand remains below pre-
crisis levels. The recovery that began in 2010 is expected to continue at a gradual pace in 2011. Economists remain cautiously 
optimistic regarding 2011, with the recovery remaining sluggish in advanced countries (Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, 
Japan, South Korea, Spain, Taiwan, United Kingdom, and United States) and stronger in emerging countries (Brazil, China, India, 
Mexico, Poland, Russia, South Africa, Turkey, and Ukraine). The twenty countries listed above represent approximately 80% of 
global GDP. In addition, they represent approximately 85% of global steel demand and 90% of steel production. A key to sustaining 
world recovery will be the global rebalancing of trade between the advanced and emerging countries. Downside risks remain for 
2011, including high unemployment, reduced consumer spending, high deficit spending from governments, turbulent financial 
markets (in Euro area) and inflation.  

We are dependent on the global steel industry and a lso sell products used in the transportation, semic onductor, solar, 
petrochemical, electronics, and other industries wh ich are susceptible to global and regional economic  downturns.  

We sell our industrial materials products, which accounted for about 83% of our total net sales in 2010, primarily to the 
EAF steel production industry. Many of our other products are sold primarily to the transportation, solar, oil and gas exploration 
industries. These are global basic industries, and they are experiencing various degrees of contraction, growth and consolidation. 
Customers in these industries are located in every major geographic region. As a result, our customers are affected by changes in 
global and regional economic conditions. This, in turn, affects overall demand and prices for our products sold to these industries. 
As a result of changes in economic conditions, demand and pricing for our products sold to these industries has fluctuated and in 
some cases declined significantly.  

Demand for our products sold to these industries may be adversely affected by improvements in  
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our products as well as in the manufacturing operations of customers, which reduce the rate of consumption or use of our products. 
Our customers, including major steel producers, are experiencing and may continue to experience downturns or financial distress 
that could adversely impact our ability to collect our accounts receivable or to collect them on a timely basis.  

Sales volumes and prices of our products sold to these industries are impacted by the supply/demand balance as well as 
overall changes in demand, and growth of and consolidation within, the end markets for our products. In addition to the factors 
mentioned above, the supply/demand balance is affected by factors such as business cycles, rationalization, and increases in 
capacity and productivity initiatives within our industry and the end markets for our products, some of which factors are affected by 
decisions by us.  

The steel industry, in particular, has historically been highly cyclical and is affected significantly by general economic 
conditions. Significant customers for the steel industry include companies in the automotive, construction, appliance, machinery, 
equipment and transportation industries, all of which continue to be affected by the general economic downturn and the 
deterioration in financial markets, including severely restricted liquidity and credit availability.  

In addition, a continuation of the current difficult economic conditions may lead current or potential customers of our 
Engineered Solutions business to delay or reduce technology purchases or slow their adoption of new technologies. This may 
result in a continued reduction, or slower rate of recovery, of sales of our Engineered Solutions products and increased price 
competition, which could materially and adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.  

We are subject to restrictive covenants under the R evolving Facility and expect to be subject to restr ictive covenants 
under any renewal or refinancing thereof. These cov enants could significantly affect the way in which we conduct our 
business. Our failure to comply with these covenant s could lead to an acceleration of our debt.  

The Revolving Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to: sell assets; incur, 
repay or refinance indebtedness; create liens; make investments or acquisitions; engage in mergers or acquisitions; pay dividends; 
repurchase stock; or make capital expenditures.  

The Revolving Facility also requires us to comply with specified financial covenants, including minimum interest coverage 
and maximum senior secured leverage ratios. We cannot borrow under the Revolving Facility if the additional borrowings would 
cause us to breach the financial covenants.  

Our ability to continue to comply with applicable covenants may be affected by events beyond our control. The breach of 
any of the covenants contained in the Revolving Facility, unless waived, would be a default under the Revolving Facility. This would 
permit the lenders to terminate their commitments to extend credit under, and accelerate the maturity of, the Revolving Facility. The 
acceleration of our debt could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and liquidity. If we were unable to repay our 
debt to the lenders and holders or otherwise obtain a waiver from the lenders and holders, we could be forced to reduce or delay 
capital expenditures; sell assets or businesses; limit or discontinue, temporarily or permanently, business plans regarding 
operations; obtain additional debt or equity financing; seek protection under applicable debtor protection statutes, or restructure or 
refinance debt.  

We expect that any renewal or refinancing of the Revolving Facility will contain covenants that may be as restrictive, or 
more restrictive, than the covenants contained in the Revolving Facility and would extend to the lenders thereunder remedies, in 
the event of any default, similar to those provided to the lenders under the Revolving Facility described above.  

Disruptions in the capital and credit markets, whic h may continue indefinitely or intensify, could adv ersely affect our 
results of operations, cash flows and financial con dition, or those of our customers and suppliers.  

Disruptions in the capital and credit markets may adversely impact our results of operations, cash flows and financial 
condition, or those of our customers and suppliers. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets as a result of uncertainty, changing 
or increased regulation,  
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reduced alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to liquidity needed to conduct or 
expand our businesses or conduct acquisitions or make other discretionary investments, as well as our ability to effectively hedge 
our currency or interest rate risks and exposures. Such disruptions may also adversely impact the capital needs of our customers 
and suppliers, which, in turn, could adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  

We are subject to risks associated with operations in multiple countries.  
A substantial majority of our net sales are derived from sales outside the U.S., and a substantial majority of our operations 

and our total property, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets are located outside the U.S. As a result, we are subject to 
risks associated with operating in multiple countries, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We cannot assure you that such risks will not have a material adverse effect on us or that we would be able to mitigate 
such material adverse effects in the future.  

In addition to the factors noted above, our results of operations and financial condition are affected by inflation, deflation 
and stagflation in each country in which we have a manufacturing facility. We cannot assure you that future increases in our costs 
will not exceed the rate of inflation or the amounts, if any, by which we may be able to increase prices for our products.  

Our ability to grow and compete effectively depends  on protecting our intellectual property. Failure t o protect our 
intellectual property could adversely affect us.  

We believe that our intellectual property, consisting primarily of patents and proprietary know-how and information, is 
important to our growth. Failure to protect our intellectual property may result in the loss of the exclusive right to use our 
technologies. We rely on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and confidentiality and restricted use agreements to 
protect our intellectual property. Some of our intellectual property is not covered by any patent or patent application or any such 
agreement.  

Patents are subject to complex factual and legal considerations. Accordingly, there can be uncertainty as to the validity, 
scope and enforceability of any particular patent. Therefore, we cannot assure you that:  
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�   currency devaluations and fluctuations in currency exchange rates, including impacts of transactions in various 
currencies, impact on translation of various currencies into dollars for U.S. reporting and financial covenant 
compliance purposes, and impacts on results of operations due to the fact that costs of our foreign subsidiaries are 
primarily incurred in local currencies while their products are primarily sold in dollars and Euros;  

  �   imposition of or increase in customs duties and other tariffs;  

  
�   imposition of or increase in currency exchange controls, including imposition of or increases in limitations on 

conversion of various currencies into dollars, Euros, or other currencies, making of intercompany loans by subsidiaries 
or remittance of dividends, interest or principal payments or other payments by subsidiaries;  

  
�   imposition of or increase in revenue, income or earnings taxes and withholding and other taxes on remittances and 

other payments by subsidiaries;  

  
�   imposition of or increases in investment or trade restrictions by the U.S. or by non-U.S. governments or trade 

sanctions adopted by the U.S.;  

  
�   inability to definitively determine or satisfy legal requirements, inability to effectively enforce contract or legal rights and 

inability to obtain complete financial or other information under local legal, judicial, regulatory, disclosure and other 
systems; and  

  
�   nationalization or expropriation of assets, and other risks which could result from a change in government or 

government policy, or from other political, social or economic instability.  

  
�   any of the U.S. or foreign patents now or hereafter owned by us, or that third parties have licensed to us or may in the 

future license to us, will not be circumvented, challenged or invalidated;  
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Moreover, patents, even if valid, only provide protection for a specified limited duration.  

We cannot assure you that agreements designed to protect our proprietary know-how and information will not be 
breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any such breach, or that our strategic alliance suppliers and customers, 
consultants, employees or others will not assert rights to intellectual property arising out of our relationships with them.  

In addition, effective patent, trademark and trade secret protection may be limited, unavailable or not applied for in the 
U.S. or in any of the foreign countries in which we operate.  

Further, we cannot assure you that the use of our patented technology or proprietary know-how or information does not 
infringe the intellectual property rights of others.  

Intellectual property protection does not protect against technological obsolescence due to developments by others or 
changes in customer needs.  

The protection of our intellectual property rights may be achieved, in part, by prosecuting claims against others whom we 
believe have misappropriated our technology or have infringed upon our intellectual property rights, as well as by defending against 
misappropriation or infringement claims brought by others against us. Our involvement in litigation to protect or defend our rights in 
these areas could result in a significant expense to us, adversely affect the development of sales of the related products, and divert 
the efforts of our technical and management personnel, regardless of the outcome of such litigation.  

If necessary, we may seek licenses to intellectual property of others. However, we can give no assurance to you that we 
will be able to obtain such licenses or that the terms of any such licenses will be acceptable to us. Our failure to obtain a license 
from a third party for its intellectual property that is necessary for us to make or sell any of our products could cause us to incur 
substantial liabilities and to suspend the manufacture or shipment of products or use of processes requiring the use of such 
intellectual property.  

Our current and former manufacturing operations are  subject to increasingly stringent health, safety a nd environmental 
requirements.  

We use and generate hazardous substances in our manufacturing operations. In addition, both the properties on which we 
currently operate and those on which we have ceased operations are and have been used for industrial purposes. Further, our 
manufacturing operations involve risks of personal injury or death. We are subject to increasingly stringent environmental, health 
and safety laws and regulations relating to our current and former properties, neighboring properties, and our current raw materials, 
products, and operations. These laws and regulations provide for substantial fines and criminal sanctions for violations and 
sometimes require evaluation and registration of the installation of costly pollution control or safety equipment or costly changes in 
operations to limit pollution or decrease the likelihood of injuries. It is also possible that the impact of such regulations on our 
suppliers could affect the availability and cost of our raw materials. In addition, we may become subject to potential material 
liabilities for the investigation and cleanup of contaminated properties, for claims alleging personal injury or property damage 
resulting from exposure to or releases of hazardous substances, or for personal injury as a result of an unsafe workplace. Further, 
alleged noncompliance with or stricter enforcement of, or changes in interpretations of, existing laws and regulations, adoption of 
more stringent new laws and regulations, discovery of previously unknown contamination or imposition of new or increased 
requirements could require us to incur costs or become the basis of new or increased liabilities that could be material.  

We may face risks related to greenhouse gas emissio n limitations and climate change.  
There is growing scientific, political and public concern that emissions of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) are  
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�   any of the U.S. or foreign patents that third parties have non-exclusively licensed to us, or may non-exclusively license 

to us in the future, will not be licensed to others; or  

  
�   any of the patents for which we have applied or may in the future apply will be issued at all or with the breadth of claim 

coverage sought by us.  
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altering the atmosphere in ways that are affecting, and are expected to continue to affect, the global climate. Legislators, regulators 
and others, as well as many companies, are considering ways to reduce GHG emissions. GHG emissions are regulated in the 
European Union via an Emissions Trading Scheme (“ETS”), aka a “Cap and Trade” program. In the United States, environmental 
regulations issued in 2009 and 2010 will require reporting of GHG emissions by defined industries, activities and suppliers, and will 
regulate GHG as a pollutant covered under the New Source Review, Prevention of Significant Deterioration (“PSD”) and Title V 
Operating Permit programs of the Clean Air Act Amendments. It is possible that some form of regulation of GHG emissions will also 
be forthcoming in other countries in which we operate or market our products. Regulation of GHG emissions could impose 
additional costs, both direct and indirect, on our business, and on the businesses of our customers and suppliers, such as 
increased energy and insurance rates, higher taxes, new environmental compliance program expenses, including capital 
improvements, environmental monitoring, and the purchase of emission credits, and other administrative costs necessary to comply 
with current requirements and potential future requirements or limitations that may be imposed, as well as other unforeseen or 
unknown costs. To the extent that similar requirements and limitations are not imposed globally, such regulation may impact our 
ability to compete with companies located in countries that do not have such requirements or do not impose such limitations. The 
company may also realize a change in competitive position relative to industry peers, changes in prices received for products sold, 
and changes to profit or loss arising from increased or decreased demand for products produced by the company. The impact of 
any future GHG regulatory requirements on our global business will be dependent upon the design of the regulatory schemes that 
are ultimately adopted and, as a result, we are unable to predict their significance to our operations at this point in time.  

The potential physical impacts of climate change on the company’s operations are uncertain and will likely be particular to 
the geographic circumstances. These physical impacts may include changes in rainfall and storm patterns, shortages of water or 
other natural resources, changing sea levels, and changing global average temperatures. For instance, the company’s Seadrift 
facility and those facilities supplying it, and the company’s Calais facility, are located in geographic areas less than 50 feet above 
sea level. As a result, any future rising sea levels could have an adverse impact on their operations and on their suppliers. Due to 
these uncertainties, any future physical effects of climate change may or may not adversely affect the operations at each of our 
production facilities, the availability of raw materials, the transportation of our products, the overall costs of conducting our 
business, and the company’s financial performance.  

We face certain litigation and legal proceedings ri sks that could harm our business.  
We are involved in various product liability, occupational, environmental, and other legal claims, demands, lawsuits and 

other proceedings arising out of or incidental to the conduct of our business. The results of these proceedings are difficult to predict. 
Moreover, many of these proceedings do not specify the relief or amount of damages sought. Therefore, as to a number of the 
proceedings, we are unable to estimate the possible range of liability that might be incurred should these proceedings be resolved 
against us. Certain of these matters involve types of claims that, if resolved against us, could give rise to substantial liability, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, liquidity and results of operations.  

We are dependent on supplies of raw materials and e nergy. Our results of operations could deteriorate if that supply is 
substantially disrupted for an extended period.  

We purchase raw materials and energy from a variety of sources. In many cases, we purchase them under short term 
contracts or on the spot market, in each case at fluctuating prices. The availability and price of raw materials and energy may be 
subject to curtailment or change due to:  
   

   

   
25  

  �   limitations which may be imposed under new legislation or regulation;  

  
�   supplier’s allocations to meet demand of other purchasers during periods of shortage (or, in the case of energy 

suppliers, extended cold weather);  
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Petroleum and coal products, including decant oil, petroleum coke and pitch, our principal raw materials, and energy, 
particularly natural gas, have been subject to significant price fluctuations.  

We have in the past entered into, and may continue in the future to enter into, derivative contracts and short duration fixed 
rate purchase contracts to effectively fix a portion of our exposure to certain products.  

A substantial increase in raw material or energy prices which cannot be mitigated or passed on to customers or a 
continued interruption in supply, particularly in the supply of decant oil, petroleum coke or energy, would have a material adverse 
effect on us.  

Seadrift could be impacted by the availability of l ow sulfur decant oil and the pricing of needle coke  feedstocks.  
Seadrift uses low sulfur decant oil in the manufacture of needle coke. There is no assurance that Seadrift will always be 

able to obtain an adequate quantity of suitable feedstocks or that capital would be available to install equipment to allow for 
utilization of higher sulfur decant oil, which is more readily available in the United States, in the event that suppliers of lower sulfur 
decant oil were to become more limited in the future. Seadrift purchases approximately two million barrels of low sulfur decant oil 
annually. The prices paid by Seadrift for such feedstocks are governed by the market for heavy fuel oils, which prices can fluctuate 
widely for various reasons including, among other things, worldwide oil shortages and cold winter weather. The substantial majority 
of Seadrift’s needle coke is used in the manufacture of graphite electrodes, the price of which is subject to rigorous industry 
competition thus restricting Seadrift’s ability to pass through raw material price increases.  

There may be significant risks associated with acqu isition activities that we may elect to pursue.  
We may seek to acquire other companies or product lines which are complementary to our existing businesses and 

product lines or to add new businesses and product lines. Any such future acquisitions that we may elect to pursue will be 
accompanied by the risks commonly encountered in such transactions. Such risks include, among others:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

Further, to the extent that any such transaction may involve businesses located outside the United States, the transaction 
would involve the additional risks associated with international operations described above. We cannot assure you that we will be 
successful in overcoming these risks or any other problems encountered with any acquisitions we may pursue. Any failure to 
overcome these risks and successfully integrate acquired businesses could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, 
liquidity and results of operations. See “We are subject to risks associated with operations in multiple countries.”  

We may face significant challenges in integrating S eadrift’s and C/G’s respective business operations with our own.  
We may face significant challenges in integrating Seadrift’s and C/G’s respective business operations with our own in a 

timely and efficient manner. This may prove difficult because our businesses and products are highly complex, have been 
developed independently and were designed without regard to such integration. These challenges will include the following:  
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  �   interruptions or cessations in production by suppliers, and  
  �   market and other events and conditions.  

  �   the difficulty of identifying appropriate acquisition candidates;  
  �   the difficulty of assimilating the operations and personnel of the acquired entities;  
  �   the potential disruption of our ongoing business;  

  
�   the potential incurrence of new debt or the issuance of new equity that could increase our leverage or dilute our 

stockholders’ equity interests;  
  �   our inability to capitalize on the opportunities presented by acquisitions; and  

  
�   our failure to implement and maintain uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies at any acquired 

businesses.  

  �   Although petroleum coke is the primary raw material in our manufacturing process, in the  
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If we cannot successfully meet these challenges, integrate our businesses and continue to provide customers with 
products and new product features in the future on a timely basis, we may lose customers and our business and operations may be 
harmed. Difficulties associated with integrating Seadrift and C/G and a failure to achieve anticipated financial and operational 
benefits could have a material adverse effect on the combined companies and the market price of our common stock.  

Our results of operations could deteriorate if our manufacturing operations were substantially disrupt ed for an extended 
period.  

Our manufacturing operations are subject to disruption due to extreme weather conditions, floods, hurricanes and tropical 
storms and similar events, major industrial accidents, strikes and lockouts, adoption of new laws or regulations, changes in 
interpretations of existing laws or regulations or changes in governmental enforcement policies, civil disruption, riots, terrorist 
attacks, war, and other events. We cannot assure you that no such events will occur. If such an event occurs, it could have a 
material adverse effect on us.  

We have significant non-dollar- denominated intercompany loans and have had in the past, and may in the future have, 
foreign currency financial instruments and interest  rate swaps and caps. The related gains and losses have in the past 
been, and may in the future be, significant.  

As part of our cash management, we have non-dollar denominated intercompany loans between our subsidiaries. These 
loans are deemed to be temporary and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans are recorded as currency 
gains / losses in other income (expense), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Additionally, we have in the past entered into, and may in the future enter into, interest rate swaps and caps to attempt to 
manage interest rate expense. We have also in the past entered into, and may in the future enter into, foreign currency financial 
instruments to attempt to hedge global currency exposures. We may purchase or sell these financial instruments, and open and 
close hedges or other positions, at any time. Changes in currency exchange rates or interest rates have in the past resulted, and 
may in the future result, in significant gains or losses with respect thereto. These instruments are marked-to-market monthly and 
gains and losses thereon are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

There may be volatility in our results of operation s between quarters.  
Sales of our products fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to such factors as changes in economic  
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past we have purchased our requirements of petroleum coke from third parties and have no prior experience in its 
production. This will represent a new business for us and the effort to vertically integrate our supply chain may involve 
presently unforeseen costs and delays.  

  
�   We expect to incur significant capital costs integrating Seadrift’s and C/G’s operations and products. These costs may 

include costs for (i) maintenance capital, (ii) capital necessary for quality improvements, and (iii) capital and other 
costs and expenditures related to facility stability necessary to achieve production plans.  

  
�   Successful integration of Seadrift and C/G with our operations, products and personnel may place a significant burden 

on our management and our other internal resources. The diversion of management’s attention and any difficulties 
encountered in the integration process may adversely affect our other businesses and results of operations.  

  
�   Although we expect the acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G to result in financial and operational benefits, including 

increased cost savings and other benefits, there can be no assurance regarding when, or to what extent, the 
combined companies will be able to realize these financial and operational benefits.  

  
�   We may need to integrate, or in some cases replace, numerous systems, including those involving management 

information, purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, billing, employee benefits, payroll and regulatory compliance, 
many of which are dissimilar.  
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conditions, changes in competitive conditions, scheduled plant shutdowns by customers, national vacation practices, changes in 
customer production schedules in response to seasonal changes in energy costs, weather conditions, strikes and work stoppages 
at customer plants and changes in customer order patterns including those in response to the announcement of price increases or 
price adjustments. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, volatility with respect to demand for and prices of 
our industrial material products, specifically graphite electrodes, both globally and regionally. We have also experienced volatility 
with respect to prices of raw materials and energy, and we expect to experience volatility in such prices in the future. Accordingly, 
results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year.  

The graphite and carbon industry is highly competit ive. Our market share, net sales or net income coul d decline due to 
vigorous price and other competition.  

Competition in the graphite and carbon products industry (other than, generally, with respect to new products) is based 
primarily on price, product differentiation and quality, delivery reliability, and customer service. Electrodes, in particular, are subject 
to rigorous price competition. In such a competitive market, changes in market conditions, including customer demand and 
technological development, could adversely affect our competitiveness, sales and/or profitability.  

Competition with respect to new products is, and is expected to be, generally based primarily on product innovation, price, 
performance and cost effectiveness as well as customer service.  

Competition could prevent implementation of price increases, require price reductions or require increased spending on 
research and development, marketing and sales that could adversely affect us.  

We have significant deferred income tax assets in m ultiple jurisdictions, and we may not be able to re alize any benefits 
from those assets.  

At December 31, 2010 we had $155.7 million of gross deferred income tax assets, of which $80.8 million required a 
valuation allowance. In addition, we had $142.7 million of gross deferred income tax liabilities. Our valuation allowance means that 
we do not believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. Until we determine that it is more likely than not that we 
will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred income tax assets, income tax benefits in each current period will be 
fully reserved.  

Our valuation allowance, which is predominantly in the U.S. tax jurisdiction, does not affect our ability and intent to utilize 
the deferred income tax assets as we generate sufficient future profitability. We are executing current strategies and developing 
future strategies, to improve sales, reduce costs and improve our capital structure in order to improve U.S. taxable income of the 
appropriate character to a level sufficient to fully realize these benefits in future years.  

RISKS RELATING TO OUR SECURITIES  
To the extent that outstanding options to purchase shares of our common stock are exercised or other e quity awards are 
granted under our incentive plans, the ownership in terests of our other stockholders will be diluted.  

Our stock price may be volatile due to the nature of our business as well as the nature of the securities markets, which 
could affect the value of an investment in our common stock. Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their 
stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation which involves substantial costs and a diversion of those companies’
management’s attention and resources. Many factors may cause the market price for our common stock to decline or fluctuate, 
perhaps substantially, including:  
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�   failure of net sales, results of operations or cash flows from operations to meet the expectations of securities analysts 

or investors;  
  �   recording of additional restructuring, impairment or other charges or costs;  
  �   downward revisions in revenue, earnings or cash flow estimates of securities analysts;  

  
�   downward revisions or announcements that indicate possible downward revisions in the ratings on debt instruments 

that we may have outstanding from time to time, if any;  
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FORWARD LOOK ING STATEMENTS  
This Report contains forward looking statements. In addition, we or our representatives have made or may make forward 

looking statements on telephone or conference calls, by webcasts or emails, in person, in presentations or written materials, or 
otherwise. These include statements about such matters as: expected future or targeted operational and financial performance; 
growth rates and future production and sales of products that incorporate or that are produced using our products; changes in 
production capacity in our operations and our competitors’ or customers’ operations and the utilization rates of that capacity; growth 
rates for, future prices and sales of, and demand for our products and our customers products; costs of materials and production, 
including anticipated increases or decreases therein, our ability to pass on any such increases in our product prices or surcharges 
thereon, or customer or market demand to reduce our prices due to such decreases; changes in customer order patterns due to 
changes in economic conditions; productivity, business process and operational initiatives, and their impact on us; our position in 
markets we serve; financing and refinancing activities; investments and acquisitions that we have made or may make in the future 
and the performance of the businesses underlying such acquisitions and investments; employment and contributions of key 
personnel; employee relations and collective bargaining agreements covering many of our operations; tax rates; capital 
expenditures and their impact on us; nature and timing of restructuring charges and payments; strategic plans and business 
projects; regional and global economic and industry market conditions, the timing and magnitude of changes in such conditions and 
the impact thereof; interest rate management activities; currency rate management activities; deleveraging activities; rationalization, 
restructuring, realignment, strategic alliance, raw material and supply chain, technology development and collaboration, investment, 
acquisition, venture, operational, tax, financial and capital projects; legal proceedings, contingencies, and environmental 
compliance including any regulatory initiatives with respect to greenhouse gas emissions which may be proposed; consulting 
projects; potential offerings, sales and other actions regarding debt or equity securities of us or our subsidiaries; and costs, working 
capital, revenues, business opportunities, debt levels, cash flows, cost savings and reductions, margins, earnings and growth. The 
words “ will ,” “ may ,” “ plan ,” “ estimate ,” “ project ,” “ believe ,” “ anticipate ,” “ expect ,” “ intend ,” “ should ,” “ would ,” “ 
could ,” “ target ,” “ goal, ” “ continue to ,” “ positioned to ” and similar expressions, or the negatives thereof, identify some of 
these statements.  

Our expectations and targets are not predictors of actual performance and historically our performance has deviated, often 
significantly, from our expectations and targets. Actual future events and circumstances (including future results and trends) could 
differ materially, positively or negatively, from those set forth in these statements due to various factors. These factors include:  
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  �   speculation in the press or investor perception concerning our industry or our prospects; and  
  �   changes in general capital market conditions.  

  
�   the possibility that additions to capacity for producing EAF steel, increases in overall EAF steel production capacity, 

and increases or other changes in steel production may not occur or may not occur at the rates that we anticipate or 
may not be as geographically disbursed as we anticipate;  

  

�   the possibility that increases or decreases in graphite electrode manufacturing capacity (including growth by producers 
in developing countries), competitive pressures (including changes in and the mix, distribution, and pricing of their 
products), reduction in specific consumption rates, increases or decreases in customer inventory levels, or other 
changes in the graphite electrode markets may occur, which may impact demand for, prices or unit and dollar volume 
sales of graphite electrodes and growth or profitability of our graphite electrodes business;  

  
�   the possible failure of changes in EAF steel production or graphite electrode production to result in stable or 

increased, or offset decreases in, graphite electrode demand, prices, or sales volume;  
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�   the possibility that a determination by the U.S. government that we have failed to comply with one or more export 
controls or trade sanctions to which we are subject with respect to products exported from the United States or 
otherwise subject to U.S. jurisdictions could result in civil or criminal penalties, including imposition of significant fines, 
denial or export privileges and loss of revenues from certain customers;  

  
�   the possibility that, for all of our product lines, capital improvement and expansion in our customers’ operations and 

increases in demand for their products may not occur or may not occur at the rates that we anticipate or the demand 
for their products may decline, which may affect their demand for the products we sell or supply to them;  

  
�   the possibility that continued global consolidation of the world’s largest steel producers could impact our business or 

industry;  

  
�   the possibility that average graphite electrode revenue per metric ton in the future may be different than current spot or 

market prices due to changes in product mix, changes in currency exchange rates, changes in competitive market 
conditions or other factors;  

  �   the possibility that price increases, adjustments or surcharges may not be realized or that price decreases may occur;  

  
�   the possibility that current challenging economic conditions and economic demand reduction may continue to impact 

our revenues and costs;  

  
�   the possibility that decreases in prices for energy and raw materials may lead to downward pressure on prices for our 

products and delays in customer orders for our products as customers anticipate possible future lower prices;  

  
�   the possibility that increases in prices for our raw materials and the magnitude of such increases, global events that 

influence energy pricing and availability, increases in our energy needs, or other developments may adversely impact 
or offset our productivity and cost containment initiatives;  

  
�   the possibility that current economic disruptions may result in idling or permanent closing of blast furnace capacity or 

delay of blast furnace capacity additions or replacements which may affect demand and prices for our refractory 
products;  

  
�   the possibility that economic, political and other risks with operating globally, including national and international 

conflicts, terrorist acts, political and economic instability, civil unrest, and natural calamities might interfere with our 
supply chains, customers or activities in a particular location;  

  

�   the possibility that reductions in customers’ production, increases in competitors’ capacity, competitive pressures, or 
other changes in other markets we serve may occur, which may impact demand for, prices of or unit and dollar volume 
sales of, our other products, or growth or profitability of our other product lines, or change our position in such 
markets;  

  

�   the possibility that we will not be able to hire and retain key personnel or to renew or extend our collective bargaining 
or similar agreements on reasonable terms as they expire or to do so without a work stoppage or strike, including at 
our Clarksburg, West Virginia facility where its primary collective bargaining agreement with the United Steelworkers 
(“USW”) has expired by its terms in June 2010. Our Clarksburg facility manufactures specialty graphite products. Our 
bargaining unit team members have continued to work without a contract. We continue to meet and negotiate in good 
faith with the USW. To date there has been no disruption to our operations or ability to meet delivery targets as a 
result of the negotiations. While we have positive expectations that there will not be a work stoppage, there is the 
possibility of a work stoppage or other disruption in our Clarksburg operations. We  
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have developed plans to address potential contingencies. However, there is the possibility that any work stoppage or 
disruption could adversely impact our specialties graphite business;  

  

�   the potential unpredictability of litigation pending in Brazil involving disputes arising out of the interpretation of certain 
collectively bargained wage increase provisions applicable in 1989 and 1990 to employers (including our subsidiary in 
Brazil) in the Bahia region of Brazil. While the most recent ruling by the Supreme Court of Brazil has held that such 
provisions are not enforceable, and thus employers are not liable for the wage increases claimed on behalf of 
employees, further proceedings are pending seeking to reverse that ruling. While we cannot predict the outcome of 
the pending proceedings, if the wage increase provisions are declared enforceable, claims could be filed against our 
Brazilian subsidiary which could become substantial;  

  
�   the possibility of delays in or failure to achieve successful development and commercialization of new or improved 

engineered solutions or that such solutions could be subsequently displaced by other products or technologies;  
  �   the possibility that we will fail to develop new customers or applications for our engineered solutions products;  

  
�   the possibility that our manufacturing capabilities may not be sufficient or that we may experience delays in expanding 

or fail to expand our manufacturing capacity to meet demand for existing, new or improved products;  

  
�   the possibility that the investments and acquisitions that we make or may make in the future may not be successfully 

integrated into our business or provide the performance or returns expected;  

  
�   the possibility that challenging conditions or changes in the capital markets will limit our ability to obtain financing for 

growth and other initiatives, on acceptable terms or at all;  

  
�   the possibility that conditions or changes in the global equity markets may have a material impact on our future 

pension funding obligations and liabilities on our balance sheet;  

  
�   the possibility that the amount or timing of our anticipated capital expenditures may be limited by our financial 

resources or financing arrangements or that our ability to complete capital projects may not occur timely enough to 
adapt to changes in market conditions or changes in regulatory requirements;  

  
�   the possibility that the actual outcome of uncertainties associated with assumptions and estimates using judgment 

when applying critical accounting policies and preparing financial statements may have a material impact on our 
results of operations or financial position;  

  
�   the possibility that we may be unable to protect our intellectual property or may infringe the intellectual property rights 

of others, resulting in damages, limitations on our ability to produce or sell products or limitations on our ability to 
prevent others from using that intellectual property to produce or sell products;  

  
�   the occurrence of unanticipated events or circumstances or changing interpretations and enforcement agendas 

relating to legal proceedings or compliance programs;  

  
�   the occurrence of unanticipated events or circumstances or changing interpretations and enforcement agendas 

relating to health, safety or environmental compliance or remediation obligations or liabilities to third parties or relating 
to labor relations;  

  
�   the possibility that new or expanded regulatory initiatives with respect to greenhouse gas emissions, if implemented, 

could have an impact on our facilities, increase the capital intensive nature of our business, and add to our costs of 
production of our products;  
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Occurrence of any of the events or circumstances described above could also have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or the market price of our common stock.  

No assurance can be given that any future transaction about which forward looking statements may be made will be 
completed or as to the timing or terms of any such transaction.  

All subsequent written and oral forward looking statements by or attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by these factors. Except as otherwise required to be disclosed in periodic reports required to be 
filed by public companies with the SEC pursuant to the SEC’s rules, we have no duty to update these statements.  
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�   the possibility that our provision for income taxes and effective income tax rate or cash tax rate may fluctuate 
significantly due to changes in applicable tax rates or laws, changes in the sources of our income, changes in tax 
planning, new or changing interpretations of applicable regulations, or changes in profitability, estimates of future 
ability to use foreign tax credits, and other factors;  

  �   the possibility of changes in interest or currency exchange rates, in competitive conditions, or in inflation or deflation;  

  

�   the possibility that our outlook could be significantly impacted by, among other things, changes in United States or 
other monetary or fiscal policies or regulations in response to the capital markets crisis and its impact on global 
economic conditions, developments in the Middle East, North Korea, and other areas of concern, the occurrence of 
further terrorist acts and developments (including increases in security, insurance, data back-up, energy and 
transportation and other costs, transportation delays and continuing or increased economic uncertainty and weakness) 
resulting from terrorist acts and the war on terrorism;  

  
�   the possibility that our outlook could be significantly impacted by changes in demand as a result of the effect on 

customers of the volatility in global credit and equity markets;  

  
�   the possibility that interruption in our major raw material, energy or utility supplies due to, among other things, natural 

disasters, process interruptions, actions by producers and capacity limitations, may adversely affect our ability to 
manufacture and supply our products or result in higher costs;  

  
�   the possibility of interruptions in production at our facilities due to, among other things, critical equipment failure, which 

may adversely affect our ability to manufacture and supply our products or result in higher costs;  

  
�   the possibility that we may not achieve the earnings or other financial or operational metrics that we provide as 

guidance from time to time;  

  

�   the possibility that the anticipated benefits from organizational and work process redesign, changes in our information 
systems, or other system changes, including operating efficiencies, production cost savings and improved operational 
performance, including leveraging infrastructure for greater productivity and contributions to our continued growth, 
may be delayed or may not occur or may result in unanticipated disruption;  

  
�   the possibility that our disclosure or internal controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or 

personnel, that the degree of compliance with our policies and procedures related to those controls may deteriorate or 
that those controls may not operate effectively and may not prevent or detect misstatements or errors;  

  
�   the possibility that delays may occur in the financial statement closing process due to a change in our internal control 

environment or personnel;  

  
�   the possibility of changes in performance that may affect financial covenant compliance or funds available for 

borrowing; and  

  
�   other risks and uncertainties, including those described elsewhere in this Report or our other SEC filings, as well as 

future decisions by us.  

Item 1B.   Unresolve d Staff Comments 
  �   Not applicable.  
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We currently operate the following facilities, which are owned or leased as indicated.  
   

We believe that our facilities, which are of varying ages and types of construction, are in good condition, are suitable for 
our operations and generally provide sufficient capacity to meet our requirements for the foreseeable future.  
   

The information required by Item 3 is set forth in Note 14, “ Contingencies ” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and is incorporated herein by reference.  
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Item 2.   Properties 

Location of Facility   Primary Use   

Owned  
or  

Leased   

U.S.      

Parma, Ohio  
  

Corporate Headquarters, Technology Center, Testing Facility, Pilot Plant, Advanced 
Flexible Graphite Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office    

  Owned    

Lakewood, Ohio    Flexible Graphite Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office      Owned    

Columbia, Tennessee  
  

Advanced Graphite Materials and Refractory Products Manufacturing, Warehousing 
Facility and Sales Office    

  Owned    

Lawrenceburg, Tennessee    Refractory Products Manufacturing Facility      Owned    

Clarksburg, West Virginia    Advanced Graphite Materials Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office      Owned    

St. Marys, Pennsylvania    Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility      Owned    

Port Lavaca, Texas    Needle Coke Manufacturing Facility      Owned    

Europe      

Calais, France    Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility      Owned    

Notre Dame, France    Advanced Graphite Materials Machine Shop and Sales Office      Owned    

Malonno, Italy    Advanced Graphite Materials Manufacturing and Machine Shop and Sales Office      Owned    

Moscow, Russia    Sales Office      Leased    

Vyazma, Russia    Graphite Electrode Materials Machine Shop      Leased    

Pamplona, Spain    Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office      Owned    

Bussigny, Switzerland    Sales Office      Leased    

Other International      

Salvador Bahia, Brazil    Graphite Electrode and Advanced Graphite Materials Manufacturing Facility      Owned    

Sao Paulo, Brazil    Sales Office      Leased    

Beijing, China    Sales Office      Leased    

Hong Kong, China    Sales Office      Leased    

Shanghai, China    Sales Office      Leased    

Monterrey, Mexico    Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office      Owned    

Meyerton, South Africa  
  

Graphite Electrode and Advanced Graphite Materials Manufacturing Facility and Sales 
Office    

  Owned    

Item 3.   Leg al Proceedings 

Item 4.   [Removed and Reserved] 
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PART II  
   

M ARKET INFORMATION  
Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the trading symbol “GTI.” Our common stock is included in the Russell 

2000 Index. The closing sale price of our common stock was $19.84 on December 31, 2010, the last trading day of our most recent 
fiscal year. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sales price per share for our common 
stock as reported by the NYSE.  
   

At January 31, 2011, there were 133 stockholders of record and, we estimate, 33,114 beneficial owners.  

DIVIDEND POLICIES AND RESTRICTIONS  
It is the current policy of our Board of Directors to retain earnings to finance strategic and other plans and programs, 

conduct business operations, fund acquisitions, meet obligations and repay debt. Any declaration and payment of cash dividends or 
repurchases of common stock will be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon our financial 
condition, results of operations, cash requirements and future prospects, the limitations contained in the Revolving Facility and 
other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. We did not pay any cash dividends in 2009 or 2010. We periodically 
review our dividend policy. At the present time, there are no plans for paying cash dividends in the near future.  

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the purchase of up to 
3 million shares of our common stock. Share repurchases may take place from time to time in the open market, or through privately 
negotiated transactions, as market conditions warrant. We have in the past funded and intend in the future to fund, any such share 
repurchases from available cash and cash flows. These share repurchases may be suspended or discontinued at any time. During 
2008, we purchased 948,095 shares under this program. During 2009 and 2010 we did not purchase any shares under this 
program. The maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the program was 2,051,905 at December 31, 2010.  

In addition to the above repurchase program, we occasionally purchase or withhold shares from employee equity awards 
to cover withholding taxes.  

GTI is a holding company that derives substantially all of its cash flow from issuances of its securities and cash flows of its 
subsidiaries. Accordingly, GTI’s ability to pay dividends or repurchase common stock from cash flow from sources other than 
issuance of its securities is dependent upon the cash flows of its subsidiaries and the advance or distribution of those cash flows to 
GTI.  

Under the Revolving Facility, in general, GTI is permitted to pay dividends and repurchase common stock in an aggregate 
amount (cumulative from April 2010) equal up to $75 million (or $300 million, if certain leverage ratio requirements are satisfied), 
plus, each year, an aggregate amount equal to 50% of the consolidated net income in the prior year.  
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Item 5.   Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer 
Purchase of Equity Securities. 

    High     Low   

2009      

First Quarter    $ 9.83      $ 5.00    
Second Quarter      12.79        6.46    
Third Quarter      15.87        10.12    
Fourth Quarter      16.58        12.67    

2010      

First Quarter    $ 16.34      $ 11.88    
Second Quarter      17.26        13.43    
Third Quarter      17.10        14.06    
Fourth Quarter      20.75        15.50    
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Performance Graph  
The following graph compares the 5-year total return provided to shareholders of our common stock to the cumulative total 

return of the Dow Jones Industrial Average and the Russell 2000 Index. An investment of $100 is assumed to have been made in 
our common stock and in each of the indexes on December 31, 2005 and its relative performance is tracked through December 31, 
2010.  
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The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Part I. Preliminary Notes-Presentation of Financial, Market 
and Legal Data,” “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.  
   

   

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006:  
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Item 6.   Selected Financial Data 

    Year Ended December 31,   

    2006     2007     2008     2009      2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Statement of Operations Data:             

Net sales    $ 855,433      $ 1,004,818      $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044       $ 1,006,993    
Income from continuing operations (a)      35,437        148,673        200,515        12,550         175,068    
Basic earnings per common share:             

Income from continuing operations    $ 0.36      $ 1.48      $ 1.80      $ 0.10       $ 1.43    
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (b)      0.50        (0.02 )      —          —           —      

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

Net income    $ 0.86      $ 1.46      $ 1.80      $ 0.10       $ 1.43    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding ( in 
thousands )      97,965        100,468        111,447        119,707         122,621    

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

Diluted earnings per common share:             

Income from continuing operations    $ 0.36      $ 1.39      $ 1.74      $ 0.10       $ 1.42    
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (b)      0.50        (0.02 )      —          —           —      

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

Net income    $ 0.86      $ 1.37      $ 1.74      $ 0.10       $ 1.42    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding ( in 
thousands )      98,582        116,343        119,039        120,733         123,453    

Balance sheet data (at period end):             

Total assets    $ 918,040      $ 875,878      $ 943,129      $ 892,608       $ 1,913,183    
Other long-term obligations (c)      103,408        94,010        118,272        108,267         114,728    
Total long-term debt      631,108        399,586        50,557        1,467         275,799    

Other financial data:             

Net cash provided by operating activities    $ 64,181      $ 130,772      $ 248,636      $ 170,329       $ 144,922    
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities      118,538        (26,525 )      (209,858 )      (60,110 )       (321,552 )  
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities      (39,568 )      (199,726 )      (80,215 )      (72,875 )       138,240    

(a) Income from continuing operations by period includes  

  
�   a $10.0 million restructuring expense associated with the rationalization of our graphite electrode facilities, including 

those in France and the United States,  
  �   a $1.8 million expense associated with the closure of our graphite electrodes manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy, 

  
�   a $1.4 million expense associated with the relocation of our corporate headquarters from Wilmington, Delaware to 

Parma, Ohio,  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2007:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

For the Year Ended December 31, 2008:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   
37  

  
�   a $2.7 million expense for severance and other costs related to the shutdown of our carbon electrode production 

operations in Columbia, Tennessee,  

  
�   a $6.6 million impairment for the abandonment of capitalized costs related to our enterprise resource planning system, 

caused by indefinite delays in the implementation of remaining facilities,  

  
�   a $1.4 million impairment for the write-down of long-lived assets in our former Etoy, Switzerland facility, as the 

estimated fair value less selling costs exceeded book value,  

  
�   a $0.8 million loss for the abandonment of certain long-lived assets associated with the accelerated closing of our 

carbon electrode facility in Columbia, Tennessee,  
  �   a $1.7 million loss for the abandonment of certain fixed assets related to our graphite electrode operations,  

  
�   a $2.5 million expense for the settlement of three foreign customer lawsuits associated with anti-trust lawsuits and 

related items,  
  �   a $23.3 million expense for our incentive compensation program.  

  

�   a $1.4 million expense for restructuring, pertaining primarily to a $0.7 million expense associated with the phase out of 
our graphite electrode machining and warehousing operations in Clarksville, Tennessee and a $0.5 million expense 
associated with changes in estimates of the timing and amounts of severance and related payments to certain 
employees in Caserta, Italy,  

  �   a $23.5 million expense for our incentive compensation program,  
  �   a $23.7 million gain from the sale of our Caserta, Italy facility,  
  �   a $1.3 million gain from the sale of our Vyazma, Russia facility,  
  �   a $13.0 million loss on extinguishment on the repurchase of Senior Notes,  

  
�   a $2.3 million ($0.7 million, net of tax) discontinued operations gain for purchase price adjustments related to our 

cathodes sale that occurred in December 2006,  

  
�   a $1.5 million overstatement of income tax expense from continuing operations related to the correction of our invalid 

“check the box” tax election made for our Swiss entity in 2004,  
  �   a $4.4 million expense for the settlement of our pension obligations in South Africa.  

  �   a $6.8 million loss on extinguishment on the repurchase of Senior Notes,  
  �   a $4.1 million gain on derecognition of the Debentures,  
  �   a $9.0 million expense for the Make-Whole provision in connection with the derecognition of the Debentures,  
  �   a $22.1 million expense for our incentive compensation program,  
  �   a $2.8 million benefit to our income tax provision for tax holidays, exemptions, and credits in various jurisdictions,  
  �   a $34.5 million write down of our investment in a non-consolidated affiliate and our $1.7 million share of its losses.  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2009:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010 (Seadrift and C/G are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning as of December 1, 2010):  
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  �   a $52.8 million write down of our investment in a non-consolidated affiliate and our $2.7 million share of its losses  
  �   a $4.3 million gain for the derecognition of our liability for Brazil excise tax,  
  �   a $1.0 million gain from the sale of our Caserta, Italy facility,  
  �   a $0.4 million loss on extinguishment on the repurchase of the remaining Senior Notes outstanding,  
  �   a $5.1 million benefit to our income tax provision for tax holidays, exemptions, and credits in various jurisdictions,  
  �   a $22.8 million valuation allowance expense for deferred tax assets that might not be realized.  

  �   a $15.2 million expense for Seadrift and C/G acquisition-related costs,  
  �   a $4.9 million benefit from the equity in earnings of our then non-consolidated affiliate,  

  
�   a $9.6 million gain from the acquisition of the remaining 81.1% equity interest in our previously non-consolidated 

affiliate,  
  �   a $16.8 million expense for our incentive compensation program,  
  �   a $4.8 million benefit to our income tax provision for tax holidays, exemptions, and credits in various jurisdictions,  
  �   a $30.3 million deferred tax asset valuation allowance release as a result of the 2010 acquisitions.  
(b) Income (loss) from discontinued operations is comprised of the cathode business which we sold in December 2006.  
(c) Represents liabilities in connection with completed antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims (2006), pension and 

post-retirement benefits and related costs and miscellaneous other long-term obligations.  
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Quarterly Data:  

The following quarterly selected consolidated financial data have been derived from the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for the periods indicated which have not been audited. The selected quarterly consolidated financial data set forth 
below should be read in conjunction with “Part I. Preliminary Notes–Presentation of Financial, Market and Legal Data,” “Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Notes thereto.  
   

   

   

A loss of $0.8 million from the equity in losses of our then non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift, in the first quarter,  

Income of $3.7 million for currency gains due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans in the first quarter,  

A $6.6 million expense for Seadrift and C/G acquisition-related costs in the second quarter,  

Income of $1.7 million from the equity in earnings of our then non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift, in the second quarter,  

Income of $9.0 million for currency gains due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans and the effect of transaction gains 
and losses on intercompany activities in the second quarter,  

A $5.7 million expense for Seadrift and C/G acquisition-related costs in the third quarter,  

Income of $1.4 million from the equity in earnings of our then non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift, in the third quarter,  

A loss of $9.7 million for currency gains due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans and the effect of transaction gains 
and losses on intercompany activities in the third quarter,  

A $2.9 million expense for Seadrift and C/G acquisition-related costs in the fourth quarter,  

Income of $3.2 million for currency gains due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans and the effect of transaction gains 
and losses on intercompany activities in the fourth quarter, and  

A $30.3 million benefit related to deferred tax asset valuation allowance release as a result of the acquisitions in the fourth 
quarter.  
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First  

Quarter     
Second  
Quarter     

Third  
Quarter      

Fourth  
Quarter   

    (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)   

2010           

Net sales    $ 215,664      $ 254,854      $ 255,236       $ 281,239    
Gross profit      68,103        74,727        75,032         71,494    
Net income (a)      33,528        39,322        24,612         77,606    
Basic earnings per common share    $ 0.28      $ 0.33      $ 0.20       $ 0.60    
Diluted earnings per common share    $ 0.28      $ 0.32      $ 0.20       $ 0.60    

    
First  

Quarter     
Second  
Quarter     

Third  
Quarter      

Fourth  
Quarter   

    (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)   

2009           

Net sales    $ 134,026      $ 157,774      $ 164,879       $ 202,365    
Gross profit      32,126        45,688        46,533         66,758    
Net income (loss) (b)      8,469        (37,091 )      6,864         34,308    
Basic earnings (loss) per common share    $ 0.07      $ (0.31 )    $ 0.06       $ 0.29    
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share    $ 0.07      $ (0.31 )    $ 0.06       $ 0.28    

(a) Net income by quarter for 2010 includes the following:  
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Income of $2.6 million from the equity in earnings of investment of our then non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift, in the fourth 
quarter  

Income of $9.6 million relating to the gain recorded after the acquisition of the remaining 81.1% equity interest in our previously 
non-consolidated affiliate  

(b) Net income (loss) by quarter for 2009 includes the following:  

A $52.8 million write down of our investment in a non-consolidated affiliate in the second quarter,  

A credit of $0.8 million for the reduction of our liability for Brazilian excise taxes in the third quarter,  

A gain of $3.5 million for the derecognition of our liability for Brazilian excise taxes in the fourth quarter,  

An expense of $0.6 million related to the early termination of our information technology outsourcing services agreement in the 
fourth quarter,  

A U.S. income tax expense of $4.1 million resulting from the currency gain realized on the repayment of intercompany loans in 
the fourth quarter.  
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GENERAL  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is designed to provide 

information that is supplemental to, and should be read together with, our Consolidated Financial Statements and the 
accompanying notes. Information in this Item is intended to assist the reader in obtaining an understanding of our Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the changes in certain key items in those financial statements from year-to-year, the primary factors that 
accounted for those changes, any known trends or uncertainties that we are aware of that may have a material effect on our future 
performance, as well as how certain accounting principles affect our Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, this Item 
provides information about our business segments and how the results of those segments impact our financial condition and results 
of operation as a whole.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
On November 30, 2010, we announced the acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G. As a result of these acquisitions, our results 

of operations and MD&A analysis for 2010 include one month of activity of Seadrift and C/G.  

We have five major product categories: graphite electrodes, refractory products, needle coke products, advanced graphite 
materials, and natural graphite products.  

Reportable Segments. Our businesses are reported in the following categories:  
   

   

Reference is made to the information under “Part I” for background information on our businesses, industry and related 
matters.  

GLOBAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK  
We are impacted in varying degrees, both positively and negatively, as global, regional or country conditions fluctuate. Our 

discussions about market data and global economic conditions below are based on or derived from published industry accounts 
and statistics.  

2011 Outlook . Based on current International Monetary Fund (IMF) projections and other global economic forecasts, 
world output is projected to expand an average of 4.5 percent in 2011. However, degrees of growth will vary in both advanced and 
emerging economies. IMF notes that advanced economies are expected to continue to grow at a subdued pace, while emerging 
economies are anticipated to advance at a more rapid pace given robust internal demand and strong capital inflows. However, 
downside risks remain to the stability of the global recovery.  

According to the World Steel Association’s published reports, global steel operating rates were roughly flat in the fourth 
quarter of 2010 at 75 percent capacity utilization, as compared to the third quarter of 2010. For the full year 2010, global steel 
operating rates were 77 percent given stronger first half production levels relative to the second half of 2010. Total steel production 
levels are expected to improve in 2011; however, operating rates in the primary markets we serve are anticipated to remain below 
pre-crisis levels.  

We expect 2011 results to benefit from improved volumes in our graphite electrode business; however, this impact will be 
partially offset due to pressure on average graphite electrode selling prices.  

For the full year 2011, we are targeting cash flow from operations to be in the range of $185 million to $215 million, an 
improvement of approximately 40 percent. On the capital front, we are targeting expenditures of approximately $135 million to $150 
million in 2011, as we fund internal Engineered Solutions growth initiatives, support Seadrift’s and St. Marys’ quality improvement 
plans and improve operational efficiency across our global platform. We are targeting 2011 overhead expense to be in the range of 
$145 million to $155 million. The year-over-year increase largely relates to $17 million amortization of acquisition related intangibles 
and $10  
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million higher administrative expense due to the inclusion of the Seadrift and St. Marys teams.  

We are targeting interest expense in the range of $18 million to $20 million, depreciation and amortization expense of 
approximately $85 million, an effective tax rate in the range of 22 percent to 24 percent and a fully dilute share count of 
approximate 146 million shares.  

Our outlook could be significantly impacted by, among other things, factors described under “Item 1A – Risk Factors” and 
“Item 1A – Forward Looking Statements” in this Report.  

FINANCING TRANS ACTIONS  
On April 28, 2010, we successfully completed the refinancing of our principal revolving credit facility (“Revolving Facility”) 

that was due to expire on July 15, 2010. Borrowers under the Revolving Facility are GrafTech Finance Inc. (“GrafTech Finance”) 
and GrafTech Switzerland S.A. (“Swissco”), both wholly-owned subsidiaries.  

As amended and restated, the credit agreement provides for, among other things, an extension until April 29, 2013 of the 
maturity of our Revolving Facility in the initial amount of $260 million, additional flexibility for investments and acquisitions and, 
subject to certain conditions, an “accordion feature” that permits GrafTech Finance and Swissco to establish additional credit 
facilities thereunder in an aggregate amount, together with our Revolving Facility, of up to $390 million.  

We can have outstanding letters of credit of up to $35 million under the Revolving Facility. At December 31, 2010, we had 
outstanding borrowings of $130.0 million and outstanding letters of credit of $3.4 million under this Revolving Facility.  

On November 30, 2010, in connection with the Acquisitions, we issued two Senior Subordinated Notes for an aggregate 
total face amount of $200 million. These Senior Subordinated Notes are non-interest bearing and mature in 2015, see Note 2 
“Acquisitions”. Because the promissory notes are non-interest bearing, we were required to record them at their present value 
(determined using an interest rate of 7%). The difference between the face amount of the promissory notes and their present value 
is recorded as debt discount. The debt discount will be amortized to income using the interest method, over the life of the 
promissory notes. The loan balance, net of unamortized discount, was $143.4 million at December 31, 2010.  

On September 30, 2009, we redeemed all of the remaining outstanding Senior Notes, $19.9 million, at 101.708% plus 
accrued interest. Total cash paid to redeem the balance of the Senior Notes approximated $20.2 million.  

During 2008, we entered into a supply chain financing arrangement, as discussed in more detail under “Liquidity and 
Capital Resources,” below. Our purchases of inventory under this arrangement were $37.1 million in 2009 and $186.7 million in 
2010.  

On occasion we sell accounts receivable without recourse to a third party. During 2009 we sold $32.1 million of 
receivables. We did not sell any receivables during 2010. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for further discussion.  

PROCEEDI NGS AGAINST US  
We are involved in various investigations, lawsuits, claims, demands, environmental compliance programs, labor disputes 

and other legal proceedings arising out of or incidental to the conduct of our business. While it is not possible to determine the 
ultimate disposition of each of these matters and proceedings, we do not believe that their ultimate disposition will have a material 
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

There is litigation pending in Brazil involving disputes arising out of the interpretation of certain collectively bargained wage 
increase provisions applicable in 1989 and 1990 to employers (including our subsidiary in Brazil) in the Bahia region of Brazil. We 
are not currently party to any of the litigation involving the interpretation of the wage increase provisions at issue; however, litigation 
is pending against other employers in the region and we have learned that several companies in Brazil have recently settled claims 
arising out of these provisions. While the most recent ruling on the subject by the Supreme Court of Brazil has held that such 
provisions are not enforceable, and thus employers are not liable for the wage increases claimed on behalf of employees, further 
proceedings are pending seeking to reverse that ruling and there have been changes in the composition of the Supreme Court in 
the interim. While we cannot predict the outcome of the pending proceedings, if the Supreme Court reverses its prior decision  
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and declares the wage increase provisions enforceable, claims could be filed against our Brazilian subsidiary which could become 
substantial.  

REALIZABILI TY OF NET DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND VALUA TION ALLOWANCES  
At December 31, 2010 we had $155.7 million of gross deferred income tax assets, of which $74.9 million required a 

valuation allowance. In addition, we had $142.7 million of gross deferred income tax liabilities. Our valuation allowance means that 
we do not believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. Until we determine that it is more likely than not that we 
will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred income tax assets, income tax benefits in each current period will be 
fully reserved.  

Our valuation allowance, which is predominately in the U.S. tax jurisdiction, does not affect our ability and intent to utilize 
the deferred income tax assets as we generate sufficient future profitability. We are executing current strategies and developing 
future strategies, to improve sales, reduce costs and improve our capital structure in order to improve U.S. taxable income of the 
appropriate character to a level sufficient to fully realize these benefits in future years.  

CU STOMER BASE  
We are a global company and sell our products in every major geographic market. Sales of these products to buyers 

outside the U.S. accounted for about 83% of net sales in 2008, 82% in 2009, and 80% in 2010. In 2010, four of our ten largest 
customers were based in Europe, two in the United States, two in South America, one in India and one in China.  

In 2010, nine of our ten largest customers were purchasers of our Industrial Materials products. No single customer or 
group of affiliated customers accounted for more than 10% of our net sales in 2010.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND SEGMEN T REVIEW  
2010. For most of 2010, companies across the world demonstrated, to varying degrees, a gradual recovery from the 

reduced production levels experienced during the 2009 global economic downturn. In 2010 we achieved our second highest net 
sales in our Engineered Solutions segment in our Company’s history as demand for our products increased. The graphite electrode 
restocking initiative, which began in the second half of 2009 continued throughout much of the year in our Industrial Materials 
segment. Further, EAF capacity utilization rates increased in 2010.  

On November 30, 2010, we consummated the acquisitions of Seadrift, a needle coke supplier, and C/G, a producer of 
graphite electrodes and related products, pursuant to the April 28, 2010 agreements and plans of merger, as described further in 
Note 2, “Acquisitions” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The consideration paid to the former owners of 
Seadrift and C/G aggregated $936.7 million and consisted of cash, shares of our common stock and two Senior Subordinated 
Notes. These businesses are now incorporated into our existing Industrial Materials segment. With the acquisition of Seadrift we 
have added another major product category, needle coke products, to the Industrial Materials segment. The analysis below 
includes the results of operations for Seadrift and C/G for the month of December 2010.  

Pursuant to the Seadrift Merger, we acquired from the equity holders of Seadrift the 81.1% of the equity interests in 
Seadrift that we did not already own. Seadrift is one of the world’s largest manufacturers of petroleum-based needle coke and owns 
the world’s only known stand-alone petroleum-based needle coke plant, located in Port Lavaca, Texas. In addition to calcined 
needle coke, the plant produces naphtha, gas oil and electricity as by-products.  

For further discussion on the acquisitions see Note 2, “Acquisitions” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

2009 . For most of 2009 companies across the world experienced the deepest global downturn in recent history. We 
weathered the 2009 economic recession despite declines in shipments in both our Industrial Materials and Engineered Solutions 
segments. We remained profitable by adjusting our production to meet customer orders and aggressively controlling costs. We 
used existing supplies of raw materials which allowed us to conserve cash and reduce our debt.  

In September 2009 signs of a slow recovery in the steel industry began to emerge. Government stimulus programs around 
the world resulted in modest growth in  
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several economies resulting in our customers replenishing inventories in order to meet slightly higher utilization rates for steel 
production. In the second half of 2009 customers restocked their depleted inventories of graphite electrodes in order to meet 
increasing demand.  

The World Steel Association estimates that worldwide steel production was about 1.2 billion metric tons in 2009, an 8.1% 
decrease compared to 2008. China, which accounted for 47% of the total, increased 21.5% compared to 2008. Non Chinese steel 
production rose from an average of about 45 million tons per month in the first few months of 2009 to about 60 million tons per 
month by the end of 2009. While production levels rose in the last half of 2009 compared to the first half, they did not reach the 
levels of the first half of 2008.  

We believe that the worldwide total graphite electrode manufacturing capacity for 2009 was 1.57 million metric tons and 
that the graphite electrode industry manufacturing capacity utilization rate worldwide was approximately 50% for 2009.  

Demand for our engineered solutions products decreased in 2009 as a result of the global recession. We experienced 
lower sales volume across multiple product lines. We expect our Engineered Solutions segment to begin to recover in the second 
half of 2010.  

2008 . Global and regional economic conditions remained relatively stable in the first half of 2008. In September 2008 it 
became apparent that the global economy was entering into difficult times due to the financial industry crisis. Credit markets 
became frozen, liquidity diminished, business activity slowed at an extreme pace leading the global economy into its worst crisis in 
60 years.  

Due to the negative global economic situation and falling steel demand from key steel end markets (automotive, 
construction, and appliances), a significant number of global steel producers reduced their operating rates in the fourth quarter. We 
believe that in the graphite electrode markets in which we compete, the capacity utilization rate was over 95% for the first nine 
months of 2008. Due to the financial crisis and the global economic slowdown, however, operating rates fell dramatically in the 
fourth quarter of 2008 to an average of 70% and were estimated to be approximately 45% at year end 2008.  

The World Steel Association estimated that worldwide steel production was about 1.3 billion metric tons in 2008, about a 
1.6% decrease as compared to 2007. China’s steel production grew at a much lower rate than in recent years due to a slowdown in 
economic growth and falling steel demand. In 2008, China’s steel production grew by about 1.5%, a significant decline compared to 
China’s recent double-digit annual growth rates. Steel production in the rest of the world declined by 3.5% in 2008.  

The percent of EAF to total steel production remained at approximately 31% in 2008. EAF steel production was estimated 
to have been 405 million metric tons in 2008, about a 2% decrease compared to 2007. For the first nine months of the year, EAF 
production grew by over 3%, but EAF experienced a decline of 18% in the fourth quarter. China’s EAF steel production increased 
2% compared to the prior year. The rest of the world’s EAF production declined by 3%, as a result of lower operating rates in the 
fourth quarter.  

Demand for our engineered solutions segment increased in 2008 as compared to 2007. The increases were mainly in the 
energy related markets, including solar, oil and gas exploration, transportation industries, and ETM markets.  

The tables presented in our year-over-year comparisons summarize our consolidated statements of income and illustrate 
key financial indicators used to assess the consolidated financial results. Financial information is presented for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2009, and 2010. Throughout our MD&A, percentage changes that are both less than 5% and less than $1.0 
million, are deemed to be not meaningful and are designated as “NM”.  
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Results of Operations for 2010 as Compared to 2009  

(in thousands, except per share data and % change)  

Net sales. Net sales by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 were:  

(in thousands, except per share data and % change)  

   

We experienced higher sales for both of our operating segments as a result of the improved global economic conditions in 
2010. Our Industrial Materials operating segment benefitted from the restocking efforts of many of our customers, which began in 
the second half of 2009 and continued through 2010, as well as the inclusion of Seadrift and C/G for the month of December 2010. 
Our Engineered Solutions segment also saw benefits as a result of the recovering economy, as customers started the reordering 
process in response to increasing orders and production.  
   

Our analysis of the percentage change in net sales for Industrial Materials and Engineered Solutions is set forth in the 
following table:  
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     2009     2010     

Increase  
(Decrease)     

%  
Change   

Net sales     $ 659,044      $ 1,006,993      $ 347,949        53    
Cost of sales       467,939        717,637        249,698        53    

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Gross profit       191,105        289,356        98,251        51    
Research and development       10,168        12,330        2,162        21    
Selling and administrative expenses       82,325        117,844        35,519        43    

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Operating income       98,612        159,182        60,570        61    
Equity in losses (earnings) of, write-down of investment in and gain 

recorded on acquisition of non-consolidated affiliate       55,488        (14,500 )      (69,988 )      (126 )  
Other expense (income), net       1,868        (4,768 )      (6,636 )      (355 )  
Interest expense       5,609        5,076        (533 )      NM    
Interest income       (1,047 )      (1,333 )      286        NM    

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Income before provision for income taxes       36,694        174,707        138,013        376    
Provision (benefit) for income taxes       24,144        (361 )      (24,505 )      (101 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Net income     $ 12,550      $ 175,068      $ 162,518        1,295    
       

  

      

  

      

  

  

Basic income per common share     $ 0.10      $ 1.43      $ 1.33      
Diluted income per common share     $ 0.10      $ 1.42      $ 1.32      

    2009     2010     

Increase  
(Decrease)     

%  
Change   

Industrial materials    $ 538,126      $ 833,892      $ 295,766        55    
Engineered solutions      120,918        173,101        52,183        43    

      
  

      
  

      
  

  

Total net sales    $ 659,044      $ 1,006,993      $ 347,949        53    
      

  

      

  

      

  

  

     Volume      Price/Mix     Currency            

Net  
Change   

Industrial Materials       65 %       (6 %)      (4 %)           55 %  
Engineered Solutions       48 %       (3 %)      (2 %)           43 %  



Table of Contents  

Net sales. Sales for the Industrial Materials segment increased significantly in 2010 when compared to 2009 due to higher 
graphite electrode sales volume. Partially offsetting this increased demand, we saw the weighted average selling price of our melter 
and non-melter graphite electrodes decrease by approximately 7%, exclusive of currency impacts, in 2010 when compared to 
2009. Higher period over period electrode sales volumes are expected to continue to mitigate, in part, the lower electrode pricing. 
Our Engineered Solutions segment also saw a significant increase in volumes in 2010, offset slightly by an unfavorable price/mix, 
and currency impacts.  

Cost of sales. The primary drivers of the increase in cost of sales were increases in shipments of our products of $198.8 
million, production costs of $28.9 million and unfavorable foreign currency impact of $7.6 million, across both of our segments 
during 2010 when compared to 2009. The 2010 cost of sales also included the amortization expense related to the technology 
intangible asset acquired in the acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G of $0.5 million. The global recession led to a dramatic decline in 
the demand for, and corresponding production of, graphite electrodes during the first nine months of 2009. Our production volume 
began increasing in the second half of 2009 and continued to increase in the first half of 2010 before leveling off in the second half 
of the year as our customers ramped up production from the low levels experienced during the first half of 2009.  

Needle coke is the primary raw material in the manufacture of graphite electrodes. We have traditionally purchased 70% 
to 80% of our needle coke requirements from one supplier under contracts with one-year firm price per metric ton schedules. Our 
production in 2010 began to use higher cost needle coke purchased in the fourth quarter of 2009, at prices which were 
approximately 45% higher than the cost of needle coke used in production during the first nine months of 2009. The inventory flow 
through of the higher cost raw material has increased our cost of goods for 2010 when compared to 2009. Higher volumes 
increased our fixed costs absorption in 2010, partially offsetting the higher needle coke cost.  

In recent years, we historically purchased a majority of our requirements for petroleum coke, our principal raw material, 
from two plants of ConocoPhillips under supply agreements containing customary terms and conditions, including price 
renegotiation, dispute resolution and termination provisions. The termination provisions permitted either party to terminate the 
agreements at the end of a calendar year by giving the other party notice of termination by September 30 of that calendar year. 
During the course of our annual discussions with ConocoPhilips regarding our future needle coke requirements, including potential 
changes in such needs as a result of our then pending acquisition of Seadrift, as well as other provisions of the agreements which 
had become inapplicable due to changes in circumstances over the decade since the agreements were first established, the 
consensus of the parties was that the agreements should be terminated and that the parties enter into negotiations concerning 
future supply of needle coke. Accordingly, the agreements were terminated effective as of December 31, 2010 and we have 
entered into three-year supply agreements for the supply of needle coke. We believe the estimated quantities under the 
replacement agreements will be sufficient for our forecast raw material requirements.  

Selling and administrative expenses . Acquisition costs (i.e., advisory, legal, valuation, other professional fees, etc.) 
associated with our acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G represented $15.2 million in 2010. We also experienced higher overhead 
expense due to increases in sales and marketing coverage to support internal growth initiatives during 2010 when compared to 
2009. Other increases year over year related to our stock-based compensation expense which increased $3.7 million, commission 
expense related to increased sales of $1.6 million and the amortization expense incurred related to the customer list and trade 
names intangible assets acquired in the acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G of $1.4 million.  

Equity in losses (earnings) of, write-down of investment in and gain recorded on acquisition of non-consolidated affiliate. 
We acquired an 18.9% interest in Seadrift on June 30, 2008, and subsequently acquired the remaining 81.1% of the equity 
interests in Seadrift on November 30, 2010. As a result of the acquisition of the remaining 81.1% of the equity interests in Seadrift, 
accounting guidance requires us to re-measure the book value of our previously held 18.9% equity interest at the  
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acquisition date to fair value and recognize the resulting gain in our 2010 earnings. We recorded a $9.6 million non-cash gain in our 
2010 earnings.  

Our equity in earnings for 2010 was $4.9 million as compared to equity in losses of $2.7 million in 2009. Additionally, in 
June 2009, we performed an assessment of our investment for impairment and determined that the fair value of the investment was 
less than our carrying value and that the loss in value was other than temporary. We recorded a $52.8 million non-cash impairment 
to recognize this other than temporary loss in value.  

Other (income) expense. Other (income) expense was income of $4.8 million in 2010, compared to an expense in 2009 of 
$1.9 million, due in large part to favorable currency gains of $6.2 million in 2010 compared to losses of $0.5 million in 2009.  

Interest expense . Interest expense decreased in 2010 as a result of the low long term debt levels carried through 2010 
when compared to the debt levels maintained throughout 2009. We expect our interest expense to increase in 2011 due to higher 
draws on our Revolving Facility and the amortization of the discount recorded with the issuance of the Senior Subordinated Notes.  

Segment operating income . Corporate expenses are allocated to segments based on each segment’s percentage of 
consolidated sales. The following table represents our operating income by segment for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2010:  
   

The percentage relationship of operating expenses to sales for Industrial Materials and Engineered Solutions is set forth in 
the following table:  
   

Segment operating costs and expenses as a percentage of sales for Industrial Materials remained consistent year over 
year. However, total operating costs and expenses increased $243.6 million year over year. The increase was primarily a result of 
volume increases (including the effect of the additional volume from the acquisitions) of $175.2 million, higher production costs of 
$27.8 million, unfavorable currency exchange of $9.3 million and acquisition costs incurred of $15.2 million.  

Segment operating costs and expenses as a percentage of sales for Engineered Solutions decreased three percentage 
points to 89% in 2010 when compared to 2009. Total operating costs and expenses, however, increased $43.8 million year over 
year. The increase was primarily a result of increases in volume of $39.3 million which were offset by favorable currency of $1.7 
million.  

Provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes was a benefit of $0.4 million on pre-tax income of $174.7 
million in 2010, compared to a tax expense of $24.1 million on pre-tax income of $36.7 million in 2009. The effective tax rates were 
(0.2%) and 65.8% respectively. The 2009 tax rate was negatively impacted primarily by an increase in the valuation allowance of 
$22.8 million as a result of the impairment of our investment in Seadrift and the establishment of accruals for uncertain tax positions 
of $6.1 million. As a result of our 2010 acquisitions, we are now in an overall net deferred tax liability position, and therefore, we 
reversed the provision for valuation allowance on certain deferred tax assets in the amount of $30.3 million.  
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For the Year ended  
December  31,   

    2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Industrial Materials    $ 88,818      $ 140,997    
Engineered Solutions      9,794        18,185    

      
  

      
  

Total segment operating income    $ 98,612      $ 159,182    
      

  

      

  

    Operating Expenses   

      2009         2010         Change     
    (Percentage of sales)   

Industrial Materials      83 %      83 %      0 %  
Engineered Solutions      92 %      89 %      (3 %)  
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Results of Operations for 2009 as Compared to 2008  

(in thousands, except per share data and % change)  

Net sales. Net sales by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 were:  

(in thousands, except per share data and % change)  

   

The global recession resulted in significantly reduced sales for both operating segments. We experienced reduced 
demand across all of our products lines as our customers, especially those in the Industrial Materials segment, used existing 
inventory in response to their decreased orders and production. In the second half of 2009 demand and shipments began to 
increase as customers began restocking their inventories in response to increasing orders and production.  
   

Our analysis of the percentage change in net sales for Industrial Materials and Engineered Solutions is set forth in the 
following table:  
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     2008     2009     

Increase  
(Decrease)     

%  
Change   

Net sales     $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044      $ (531,194 )      (45 )  
Cost of sales       756,802        467,939        (288,863 )      (38 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Gross profit       433,436        191,105        (242,331 )      (56 )  
Research and development       8,986        10,168        1,182        13    
Selling and administrative expenses       95,757        82,325        (13,432 )      (14 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Operating income       328,693        98,612        (230,081 )      (70 )  
Equity in losses of and write-down of investment in non-consolidated 

affiliate       36,256        55,488        19,232        53    
Other (income) expense       11,578        1,868        (9,710 )      (84 )  
Interest expense       19,350        5,609        (13,741 )      (71 )  
Interest income       (1,137 )      (1,047 )      (90 )      NM    

       
  

      
  

      
  

  

Income from continuing operations before income provision for income 
taxes       262,646        36,694        (225,952 )      (86 )  

Provision for income taxes       62,131        24,144        (37,987 )      (61 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  
  

Net income     $ 200,515      $ 12,550      $ (187,965 )      (94 )  
       

  

      

  

      

  

  

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations     $ 1.80      $ 0.10      $ (1.70 )    
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations     $ 1.74      $ 0.10      $ (1.64 )    

    2008     2009     

Increase  
(Decrease)     

%  
Change   

Industrial materials    $ 1,008,778      $ 538,126      $ (470,652 )      (47 )  
Engineered solutions      181,460        120,918        (60,542 )      (33 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

  

Total net sales    $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044      $ (531,194 )      (45 )  
      

  

      

  

      

  

  

     Volume      Price/Mix     Currency            

Net  
Change   

Industrial Materials       (55 )%       8 %      —               (47 )%  
Engineered Solutions       (36 )%       4 %      (1 )%           (33 )%  
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The sales decline was partially offset by year-over-year price realization.  

Cost of sales. The primary driver of the reduction in cost of sales was reduced shipments of our products. The global 
recession led to a dramatic decline in the demand for, and corresponding production of, graphite electrodes. Our customers 
aggressively managed their working capital by “destocking” their graphite electrode inventory supply which exacerbated the 
reduced demand for electrodes. Cost of sales was also negatively impacted due to the unfavorable fixed cost absorption 
associated with lower sales volume.  

Needle coke is the primary raw material in the manufacture of graphite electrodes. We historically have purchased 70% to 
80% of our needle coke requirements from one supplier under contracts with one-year firm price per metric ton schedules. Our 
purchases of needle coke in 2009 were limited and abnormally low due to the lower production level of graphite electrodes. Due to 
the historically low 2009 production volumes, and proactive inventory management, essentially all of our 2009 production was 
produced with needle cost that was in inventory at December 31, 2008, and carried the 2008 purchase price per metric ton.  

During the fourth quarter of 2009 we began to replenish our needle coke raw material inventory at the 2009 purchase 
price per metric ton, which was approximately 50% higher than the 2008 purchase price per metric ton. As of December 31, 2009 
essentially all of this higher cost material was still in inventory and, therefore, our 2009 cost of goods sold does not reflect the 
impact of the increased needle coke per metric ton cost.  

Selling and administrative expenses . Lower sales commissions as a result of decreased sales and aggressive cost 
control contributed to the decrease in selling and administrative expenses. The derecognition of our liability for Brazilian excise 
taxes on manufactured goods resulted in a benefit of $4.3 million and our stock-based compensation expense decreased $1.5 
million.  

Equity in losses and write-down of investment in non-consolidated affiliate. We acquired our initial 18.9% investment in the 
non-consolidated affiliate on June 30, 2008. Our equity in losses for the year were $(2.7) million compared to $(1.7) in 2008. The 
increased losses were due in part to our recognizing our share of the investee losses for a full year as well as the effect of the 
recession on its operations. In June 2009, we performed an assessment of our investment for impairment and determined that the 
fair value of the investment was less than our carrying value and that the loss in value was other than temporary. We recorded a 
$52.8 million non-cash impairment to recognize this other than temporary loss in value. In December 2008, we had recorded a 
$34.5 million non-cash impairment to recognize the other than temporary loss in value determined at that time.  

Given the current economic environment and the uncertainties surrounding the impact on steel producers and their 
suppliers, including our investee, there can be no assurances that our estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of the 
investment will prove to be accurate. If the assumptions regarding forecasted revenue, growth rates, and expected profitability are 
not achieved, we may be required to record additional impairment charges in future periods.  

Other (income) expense. Other expense decreased in 2009 due in large part to the expenses that were recognized in 
2008 for the derecognition of the Debentures and the loss on extinguishment of debt. In 2009 we had other expense related to 
currency compared to income related to currency in 2008.  

Interest expense . Interest expense decreased in 2009 as a result of the derecognition of the Debentures in 2008 and the 
redemption of all of the remaining outstanding Senior Notes in the third quarter of 2008.  

Segment operating income . Corporate expenses are allocated to segments based on each segment’s percentage of 
consolidated sales. The following table represents our operating income by segment for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2009:  
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For the Year Ended  
December 31,   

        2008             2009       

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Industrial Materials    $ 287,466      $ 88,818    
Engineered Solutions      41,227        9,794    

      
  

      
  

Total segment operating income    $ 328,693      $ 98,612    
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The percentage relationship of operating expenses, including restructuring and impairment charges, to sales for Industrial 
Materials and Engineered Solutions is set forth in the following table:  
   

Provision for income taxes . The provision for income taxes in 2009 was negatively impacted by an increase in the 
valuation allowance of $22.8 and the establishment of accruals for uncertain tax positions of $6.1 million. This increase was offset 
in part by a $14.1 million worthless stock deduction and by $5.1 million for tax exemptions, holidays and credits in various non-U.S. 
jurisdictions.  

EFF ECTS OF INFLATION  
We incur costs in the U.S. and each of the six non-U.S. countries in which we have a manufacturing facility. In general, 

our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition are affected by the effects of inflation on our costs incurred in each of 
these countries.  

CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS  
We translate the assets and liabilities of our non-U.S. subsidiaries into U.S. dollars for consolidation and reporting 

purposes in accordance with FASB ASC 830, Foreign Currency Matters . Foreign currency translation adjustments are generally 
recorded as part of stockholders’ equity and identified as part of accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets until such time as their operations are sold or substantially or completely liquidated.  

We account for our Russian and Mexican subsidiaries using the dollar as the functional currency, as sales and purchases 
are predominantly dollar-denominated. Our remaining subsidiaries use their local currency as their functional currency.  

We also record foreign currency transaction gains and losses from non-permanent intercompany balances as part of other 
(income) expense, net.  

Significant changes in currency exchange rates impacting us are described under “Effects of Changes in Currency 
Exchange Rates” and “Results of Operations.”  

EF FECTS OF CHANGES IN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATES  
When the currencies of non-U.S. countries in which we have a manufacturing facility decline (or increase) in value relative 

to the U.S. dollar, this has the effect of reducing (or increasing) the U.S. dollar equivalent cost of sales and other expenses with 
respect to those facilities. In certain countries where we have manufacturing facilities, and in certain instances where we price our 
products for sale in export markets, we sell in currencies other than the dollar. Accordingly, when these currencies increase (or 
decline) in value relative to the dollar, this has the effect of increasing (or reducing) net sales. The result of these effects is to 
increase (or decrease) operating profit and net income.  

Many of the non-U.S. countries in which we have a manufacturing facility have been subject to significant economic and 
political changes, which have significantly impacted currency exchange rates. We cannot predict changes in currency exchange 
rates in the future or whether those changes will have net positive or negative impacts on our net sales, cost of sales or net income. 

During 2010, the average exchange rates for the Brazilian real and the South African rand increased significantly, about 
12% and 14%, respectively, when compared to 2009 rates. Also during 2010, the Mexican peso and the Japanese yen increased 
roughly 7%, while the euro decreased about 5%, as compared to 2009 rates. During 2009, the average exchange rate of the South 
African rand did not fluctuate materially, while the Mexican Peso, the Brazilian Real, and the Euro average rates decreased about 
18%, 9%, and 5% respectively as compared to 2008 rates.  

For net sales of industrial materials, the impact of these events was an increase of $22.6 million in 2008, a decrease of 
$1.4 million in 2009, and a decrease of $20.4 million in 2010. For the cost of industrial materials, the impact of these events was an 
increase of $9.7 million in 2008, an increase of $3.1 million in 2009, and an increase of $9.3 million in 2010.  

We have had intercompany term loans between GrafTech Finance and some of our foreign subsidiaries. We had no such 
term loans at December 31, 2009 or  
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    Operating Expenses   

      2008         2009         Change     
    (Percentage of sales)   

Industrial Materials      72 %      83 %      11 %  
Engineered Solutions      77 %      92 %      15 %  
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2010. At December 31, 2008, the aggregate principal amount of these term loans was $558.4 million. These loans were subject to 
remeasurement gains and losses due to changes in currency exchange rates. Certain of these loans had been deemed to be 
essentially permanent prior to settlement and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans were recorded as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the stockholders’ equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The 
remaining balance of these loans was deemed to be temporary and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans 
were recorded as currency gains / losses in other income (expense), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

As part of our cash management, we also have intercompany loans between our subsidiaries. These loans are deemed to 
be temporary and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans are recorded as currency gains / losses in other 
income (expense), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

We had net total of currency gains of $2.2 million in 2008, a net total currency loss of $0.5 million in 2009, and a net total 
currency gain of $6.2 million in 2010, mainly due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans and the effect of transaction gains 
and losses on intercompany activities.  

We have in the past and may in the future use various financial instruments to manage certain exposures to specific 
financial market risks caused by changes in currency exchange rates, as described under “Item 7A–Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures about Market Risks.”  

LIQU IDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
We believe that we have adequate liquidity to meet all of our present needs. Future disruptions in the U.S. and 

international financial markets, however, could adversely affect the cost and availability of financing to us in the future.  

At December 31, 2010, we had cash and cash equivalents of $13.1 million, long-term debt of $275.8 million and 
stockholders’ equity of $1,229.7 million. We also had $126.6 million available through our Revolving Facility. As part of our cash 
management activities, we manage accounts receivable credit risk, collections, and accounts payable vendor terms to maximize 
our free cash at any given time and minimize accounts receivable losses.  

We expend capital to support our operating and strategic plans. Such expenditures include investments to meet regulatory 
and environmental requirements, maintain capital assets, develop new products or improve existing products, acquisitions, and to 
enhance capacity or productivity. Many of the associated projects have long lead-times and require commitments in advance of 
actual spending. We are targeting capital expenditures to be in the $135 million to $150 million range for 2011.  

Our sources of funds have consisted principally of cash flow from operations and debt, including our Revolving Facility. 
Our uses of those funds (other than for operations) have consisted principally of capital expenditures, cash paid for acquisitions and 
expenses thereof, our equity investment in a non-consolidated affiliate, and debt reduction payments and other obligations. As of 
December 31, 2010, we have several future obligations accrued that will utilize a significant amount of such funds. These 
obligations include our employee incentive compensation payout of approximately $16.8 million, which will be paid during the 
second quarter of 2011.  

We have an accounts receivable factoring arrangement in place that provides additional working capital liquidity of up to 
$25 million. During 2009, certain subsidiaries sold receivables totaling $32.1 million. Proceeds of the sale of receivables were used 
to reduce debt and fund operations. If we had not sold such receivables, our accounts receivable would have been about $1.1 
million higher at December 31, 2009. All such receivables sold during 2009 were sold without recourse, and no amount of accounts 
receivable sold are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We did not sell any receivables under this arrangement during 
2010.  

Lower sales volumes for our products and reduced credit quality of our customers may limit the amount of receivables that 
we sell in the future. Our current receivable sales facility provides for the sale of certain customer accounts receivable and has a 
limit of $25 million. The facility automatically renewed for a one  
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year period on June 30, 2010, and it automatically renews each year thereafter for one year periods unless a termination notice is 
sent by either party 30 days prior to the applicable June 30 .  

During 2008, we entered into a supply chain financing arrangement with a financing party that provides additional working 
capital liquidity of up to $50 million. Under this arrangement, we essentially assigned our rights to purchase needle coke from a 
third-party supplier to the financing party. The financing party purchases the product from our supplier under the standard payment 
terms and then immediately resells it to us under longer payment terms. The financing party pays the supplier the purchase price 
for the product and then we pay the financing party. Our payment for this needle coke will include a mark up (the “Mark-Up”). The 
Mark-Up is subject to quarterly reviews. In effect, we have a longer period of time to pay the financing party than by purchasing 
directly from the supplier which helps us maintain a balanced cash conversion cycle between inventory payments and the collection 
of receivables. We purchased approximately $37.1 million and $186.7 million of inventory under this arrangement in 2009 and 
2010, respectively. In connection with these purchases, we incurred a Mark-Up of approximately $0.5 million and $1.5 million in 
2009 and 2010, respectively. This agreement is subject to termination 90 days after notice is sent by either party. The underlying 
supply agreements have been terminated and we have executed replacement supply agreements which we expect to add to the 
supply chain financing arrangement.  

In the event that operating cash flow, the sales of receivables and the financing of needle coke purchases fail to provide 
sufficient liquidity to meet our business needs, including capital expenditures, any such shortfall would be made up by increased 
borrowings under our Revolving Facility.  

We use cash flow from operations, funds from receivable and payable factoring arrangements and funds available under 
the Revolving Facility (subject to continued compliance with the financial covenants and representations under the Revolving 
Facility) as well as cash on hand as our primary sources of liquidity. The Revolving Facility is secured, and provides for maximum 
borrowings of up to $260 million including a letters of credit sub-facility of up to $35 million and, subject to certain conditions 
(including a maximum senior secured leverage ratio test), an accordion feature that permits GrafTech Finance to establish 
additional credit facilities thereunder in an aggregate amount, together with the Revolving Facility, of up to $390 million. The 
Revolving Facility matures in April 2013.  

On January 14, 2010, S&P upgraded our corporate rating by two notches to BB+ and our senior secured debt rating to 
BBB. On April 14, 2010, Moody’s Investors Services moved our rating outlook to positive from stable, assigned a Ba1 rating to our 
new senior secured Revolving Credit Facility, and affirmed our Ba2 corporate rating. These ratings reflect the current views of these 
rating agencies, and no assurance can be given that these ratings will continue for any given period of time. However, we monitor 
our financial condition as well as market conditions that could ultimately affect our credit ratings.  

At December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with all financial and other covenants contained in the Revolving Facility, 
as applicable. These covenants include maintaining an interest coverage ratio of at least 1.75 to 1.00 and a maximum net senior 
secured leverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.00, subject to adjustment based on a rolling average of the prior four quarters. Based on 
expected operating results and expected cash flows, we expect to be in compliance with these covenants through maturity of our 
Revolving Facility. If we were to believe that we would not continue to comply with these covenants, we would seek an appropriate 
waiver or amendment from the lenders thereunder. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain such waiver or 
amendment on acceptable terms or at all.  

Eight banks are participants in our credit facility. All of these eight banks currently have Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) ratings 
of BBB+ or better and Moody’s ratings of Baa1 or better. Based on these ratings and the remaining term of the Revolving Facility, 
we do not anticipate that our availability under this facility would be reduced prior to its maturity.  

At December 31, 2010, approximately 53% of our debt consists of fixed rate or zero interest rate obligations compared to 
83% at December 31, 2009.  
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Long-Term Contractual, Commercial and Other Obligations and Commitments. The following tables summarize our 
long-term contractual obligations and other commercial commitments at December 31, 2010.  
   

   

   

   

Our foreign subsidiaries have local lines of credit for working capital purposes. The total amount available under these 
lines of credit approximated $15.7 million at December 31, 2010.  
   

Cash Flow and Plans to Manage Liquidity. Our business strategies include efforts to enhance our capital structure by further 
reducing our gross obligations to enable us to pursue strategic growth opportunities that may arise. Our efforts include leveraging 
our global manufacturing network by driving higher utilization rates and more productivity from our existing assets, accelerating 
commercialization initiatives across all of our businesses and realizing other global efficiencies.  

Typically, our cash flow from operations fluctuates significantly between quarters due to various factors. These factors 
include customer order patterns, fluctuations in working capital requirements, and other factors.  

We had positive cash flow from operations during 2008, 2009, and 2010. Although the global economic environment has 
experienced significant swings in these three years, our aggressive working capital management and cost-control initiatives have 
allowed us to remain cash flow positive in both times of declining and improving operating results.  

Certain of our obligations could have a material impact on our liquidity. Cash flow from operations services payment of our 
obligations, including our incentive compensation program payout in the second quarter of 2011, thereby reducing funds available 
to us for other purposes. Although we currently have $126.6 million of additional borrowing capacity under the Revolving Facility, 
continued improvement, or another downturn, in the global economy may require increased borrowings under our Revolving 
Facility, particularly if our accounts receivable and supply chain financing arrangements are terminated. An improving economy, 
while resulting in improved results of operations and cash flows, could require significant cash requirements to purchase inventories 
and pay other obligations as  
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    Payments Due by Year Ending December 31,   

    Total     2011     

2012-  
2013      

2014-  
2015      2016+   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Contractual and Other Obligations              

Long-term debt    $ 275,954      $ 213      $ 130,437       $ 143,883       $ 1,421    
Operating leases      6,722        2,544        3,694         484         0    
Purchase obligations (a)      477,541        190,344        287,197         0         0    

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

Total contractual obligations      760,217        193,101        421,328         144,367         1,421    
Postretirement, pension and related benefits (b)      87,145        6,833        7,713         7,394         65,205    
Other long-term obligations      23,129        2,379        8,038         1,316         11,396    
Uncertain income tax provisions      13,719        2,207        366         12         11,134    

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

Total contractual and other obligations (a)(b)    $ 884,210      $ 204,520      $ 437,445       $ 153,089       $ 89,156    
      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

       

  

Other Commercial Commitments              

Letters of credit (c)    $ 8,461      $ 8,461      $ 0       $ 0       $ 0    
Guarantees      1,000        971        0         0         29    

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

Total other commercial commitments    $ 9,461      $ 9,432      $ 0       $ 0       $ 29    
      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

       

  

(a) Based on the estimated timing of deliveries under supply contracts.  
(b) Represents estimated postretirement, pension and related benefits obligations based on actuarial calculations.  
(c) Letters of credit of $3.4 million are issued under the Revolving Facility.  
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accounts receivable increase. A downturn could significantly negatively impact our results of operations and cash flows, which, 
coupled with increased borrowings, could negatively impact our credit ratings, our ability to comply with debt covenants, our ability 
to secure additional financing and the cost of such financing, if available.  

Based on expected operating results and expected cash flows, we expect to be in compliance with our existing financial 
covenants in 2011.  

In order to seek to minimize our credit risks, we reduce our sales of, or refuse to sell (except for cash on delivery or under 
letters of credit), our products to some customers and potential customers. In the current economic environment, our customers 
may experience liquidity shortages or difficulties in obtaining credit, including letters of credit. Our unrecovered trade receivables 
worldwide have not been material during the last 3 years individually or in the aggregate. We cannot assure you that we will not be 
materially adversely affected by accounts receivable losses in the future. In addition, we have historically factored a portion of our 
accounts receivable and used the proceeds to reduce debt. Our ability to factor accounts receivable in the future may be limited by 
reduced credit ratings of customers or by a reduction in the amount permitted to be financed under the arrangement.  

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the purchase of up to 
3 million shares of our common stock. Share repurchases may take place from time to time in the open market, or through privately 
negotiated transactions, as market conditions warrant. We intend to fund any such share repurchases from available cash and cash 
flows. These share repurchases may be suspended or discontinued at any time.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Commitments . We have not undertaken or been a party to any material off-balance-
sheet financing arrangements or other commitments (including non-exchange traded contracts), other than:  
   

   

   

We are not affiliated with or related to any special purpose entity other than GrafTech Finance, our wholly-owned and 
consolidated finance subsidiary.  

Cash Flows.  
The following is a discussion of our cash flow activities:  

   

Operating Activities  
Cash flow from operating activities represents cash receipts and cash disbursements related to all our activities other than 

to investing and financing activities. Operating cash flow is derived by adjusting net income for:  
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  �   Foreign exchange and commodity contracts.  

  
�   Commitments under non-cancelable operating leases that, at December 31, 2009, totaled no more than $2.4 million in 

each year and about $7.1 million in the aggregate, and at December 31, 2010, totaled no more than $2.5 million in 
each year and about $ 6.7 million in the aggregate.  

  �   Letters of credit outstanding under our Revolving Facility of $3.4 million.  

    

Years Ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in millions)   

Cash flow provided by (used in):        

Operating activities    $ 248.6      $ 170.3      $ 144.9    
Investing activities      (209.9 )      (60.1 )      (321.6 )  
Financing activities      (80.2 )      (72.9 )      138.2    

  
�   Non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization; write-down of our investment in our non-consolidated affiliate; 

stock-based compensation charges; equity in losses of our non-consolidated affiliate  

  
�   Gains and losses attributed to investing and financing activities such as gains and losses on the sale of assets and 

currency (gains) and losses  

  
�   Changes in operating assets and liabilities which reflect timing differences between the receipt and payment of cash 

associated with transactions and when they are recognized in results of operations  
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While our operating cash flow increased significantly in 2008, it decreased by over $70 million in 2009 mainly due to the 
decrease in net income which was a direct impact of the severe economic recession and other reasons noted throughout this 
MD&A. During 2010, although the global economy began to recover, our improved operating results were negatively impacted by 
increased inventory purchases and the build of accounts receivable as business ramped to near pre-recessionary levels. This 
resulted in a $25.4 million decrease in operating cash flow, despite the improved economic operating environment.  

The net impact of the changes in working capital (operating assets and liabilities), which are discussed in more detail 
below, include the impact of changes in: receivables, inventories, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, interest 
payable, and payments of other current liabilities. We continue to maximize our operating cash flows by continuing to improve those 
working capital items that are most directly affected by changes in sales volume, such as accounts receivable, inventories and 
accounts payable.  

In 2010, changes in working capital resulted in a net use of funds of $41.8 million which was impacted by:  
   

   

   

Other items that affected our operating cash flow included cash outflows of $3.2 million for contributions to pension and 
post retirement plans, and $15.2 million of customary acquisition related expenses.  

In 2009, changes in working capital resulted in a net source of funds of $67.6 million which was impacted by:  
   

   

   

Other items that affected our operating cash flow included:  
   

   

   

   

   

Our reduction of debt levels resulted in a cash interest savings of $13.3 million.  

In 2008, changes in working capital resulted in a net use of funds of $19.9 million which was impacted by:  
   

   

Other items that affected our operating cash flow included cash interest savings of $22.6 million resulting from reduced 
debt levels which was offset in part by cash outflows of $9.0 million for the make-whole payment related to the redemption 
of our Debentures and cash outflows of $10.7 million for our contributions to pension and post-retirement plans.  
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�   use of funds of $40.9 million from the increase in accounts receivable, including the effect of factoring for $1.1 million, 

which was due primarily to increased sales for the period;  
  �   use of funds for inventories of $13.6 million primarily due to the increased sales volume; and  

  
�   source of funds of $15.0 million from an increase in accounts payable and accruals through normal operations and 

inventory purchases.  

  
�   cash inflows from a $33.9 million decrease in accounts receivable, net of factoring of $(24.3) million, which was 

primarily attributable to decreased sales, credit risk policies, and cash collection efforts;  

  
�   cash inflows of $69.6 million from the reduction of inventories which was primarily due to decreased purchases of raw 

materials as a result of decreased sales; and  

  
�   cash outflows of $21.2 million for accounts payable due to the decrease in inventory purchases and the timing of 

payments.  

  �   cash inflows from Federal income tax refunds of $3.7 million;  
  �   cash outflows of $3.9 million to settle our liability for Brazil excise tax;  
  �   cash outflows of $6.1 million for our contributions to pension and post-retirement plans;  
  �   cash outflows of $1.7 million to restore wage reductions instituted in 2009; and  
  �   cash outflows of $1.4 million to terminate an information technology outsourcing services contract.  

  
�   cash outflows of $1.2 million from the increase in accounts receivable, net of the cash inflows of factoring of $24.3 

million, which was due primarily to increased sales;  
  �   cash outflows for inventories of $29.3 million primarily due to the inventory build for increased sales volume;  
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Investing Activities.  
Net cash used in investing activities was $321.6 million in 2010 and included:  

   

   

   

Net cash used in investing activities was $60.1 million in 2009 and included:  
   

   

   

   

Net cash used in investing activities was $209.9 million in 2008 and included:  
   

   

   

Financing Activities.  
Net cash flow provided by financing activities was $138.2 million in 2010 and included:  

   

   

   

   

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $72.9 million in 2009 and included:  
   

   

   

   

Net cash flow used in financing activities was $80.2 million in 2008 and included:  
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  �   cash outflow of $241.2 million, paid to shareholders of Seadrift and C/G net of cash acquired of $8.2 million.  
  �   capital expenditures of $86.0 million;  
  �   proceeds of $6.0 million received as a result of the repayment of our loan to Seadrift;  

  �   capital expenditures of $56.2 million;  
  �   loan of $6.0 million to our non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift;  
  �   proceeds of $1.0 million from derivative contracts settlements; and  
  �   proceeds from the release of escrowed funds of $1.0 million related to the sale of our Caserta, Italy facility.  

  �   capital expenditures of $72.0 million;  
  �   payment of $136.5 million to purchase our initial equity investment in our non-consolidated affiliate, Seadrift; and  
  �   payment of $1.7 million to settle certain natural gas derivative contracts.  

  �   net borrowings under our Revolving Facility of $130.0 million to finance acquisitions of Seadrift and C/G;  
  �   net borrowings under our supply chain financing arrangement of $10.6 million;  
  �   proceeds from exercised stock options of $3.9 million;  
  �   payments of $4.6 million related to bank fees and charges to amend and restate our credit agreement;  

  �   repayment of our Senior Notes ($20.0 million);  

  
�   net repayments of borrowings under our Revolving Facility ($30.0 million), our supply chain financing arrangement 

($15.7 million), and other short-term debt arrangements ($8.1 million);  
  �   proceeds from the a Spanish government incentive loan ($1.8 million); and  

  
�   payments on the financing arrangement related to the sale-leaseback of a portion of our Vyazma, Russia facility ($1.0 

million).  

  
�   net borrowings of $69.8 million under our Revolving Facility ($30 million), our supply chain financing arrangement 

($30.1 million), and other short-term debt arrangements ($9.7 million);  
  �   redemption of Senior Notes ($180.0 million);  

  
�   proceeds from the exercise of stock options ($37.2 million) and income tax benefits from stock-based compensation 

programs ($14.3 million); and  
  �   shares purchased under our share repurchase program ($21.2 million).  
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COSTS REL ATING TO PROTECTION OF THE ENVIRONMENT  
We have been and are subject to increasingly stringent environmental protection laws and regulations. In addition, we 

have an on-going commitment to rigorous internal environmental protection standards. Environmental considerations are part of all 
significant capital expenditure decisions. The following table sets forth certain information regarding environmental expenses and 
capital expenditures.  
   

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Critical accounting policies are those that require difficult, subjective or complex judgments by management, often as a 

result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent 
periods. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 “ Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ” of 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The following accounting policies are deemed to be critical.  

Business Combinations and Goodwill. The application of the purchase method of accounting for business combinations requires 
the use of significant estimates and assumptions in the determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 
order to properly allocate purchase price consideration between assets that are depreciated and amortized from goodwill. Our 
estimates of the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are based on assumptions believed to be reasonable, and when 
appropriate, include assistance from independent third-party appraisal firms.  

As a result of our acquisitions of Seadrift Coke L.P. and C/G Electrodes LLC, we have a significant amount of goodwill. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if an event or circumstances indicates that an impairment loss may 
have been incurred. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, 
assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units and determination of the fair value of 
each reporting unit. We estimate the fair value of each reporting unit using a discounted cash flow methodology. This requires us to 
use significant judgment including estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-
term growth for our business, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, determination of our weighted average cost of capital 
for purposes of establishing discount rate and relevant market data.  

Our annual impairment test of goodwill was performed in the fourth quarter. The estimated fair values of our reporting 
units were based on discounted cash flow models derived from internal earnings forecasts and assumptions. The assumptions and 
estimates used in these valuations incorporated the current economic environment in performing our 2010 impairment test. Our 
model was based on our internally developed forecast for 2011-2013, then adding a 2% growth to each subsequent year in the 
model. We believe these estimated assumptions are appropriate for our circumstances, including our historical results, consistent 
with our forecasted long-term business model and give consideration to the current economic environment.  

Based on these valuations, we determined that the fair values of our reporting units exceeded their carrying values and no 
goodwill impairment charge was required during the fourth quarter 2010.  

Refer to Note 1 “Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further information regarding our goodwill impairment testing.  

Reliance on Estimates. In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, we use and rely on estimates in determining 
the economic useful lives of our assets, obligations under our employee benefit plans, provisions for doubtful accounts, provisions 
for restructuring charges and contingencies, tax valuation allowances, evaluation of goodwill, our investment in a  
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Years Ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Expenses relating to environmental protection    $ 17,333      $ 9,196      $ 12,475    
Capital expenditures related to environmental protection      22,865        10,901        6,535    



Table of Contents  

non-consolidated affiliate and other intangible assets, pension and postretirement benefit obligations and various other recorded or 
disclosed amounts, including inventory valuations. Estimates require us to use our judgment. While we believe that our estimates 
for these matters are reasonable, if the actual amount is significantly different than the estimated amount, our assets, liabilities or 
results of operations may be overstated or understated.  

Employee Benefit Plans. We sponsor various retirement and pension plans, including defined benefit and defined 
contribution plans and postretirement benefit plans that cover most employees worldwide. Excluding the defined contribution plans, 
accounting for these plans requires assumptions as to the discount rate, expected return on plan assets, expected salary increases 
and health care cost trend rate . See Note 12 “ Retirement Plans and Postretirement Benefits ” of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further details.  

Contingencies. We account for contingencies by recording an estimated loss when information available prior to 
issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has 
been incurred at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 
Accounting for contingencies such as those relating to environmental, legal and income tax matters requires us to use our 
judgment. While we believe that our accruals for these matters are adequate, if the actual loss is significantly different from the 
estimated loss, our results of operations may be overstated or understated. Legal costs expected to be incurred in connection with 
a loss contingency are expensed as incurred.  

Investments in Non-Consolidated Affiliates. We use the equity method to account for investments in entities that we do 
not control, but where we have the ability to exercise significant influence.  

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets. We record impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events 
and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the future undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by 
those assets are less than the carrying amount of those assets. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a 
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated future undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by the asset. If the 
asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value less estimated costs to sell. Estimates of the future cash flows are subject to significant uncertainties and assumptions. If 
the actual value is significantly less than the estimated fair value, our assets may be overstated. Future events and circumstances, 
some of which are described below, may result in an impairment charge:  
   

   

   

   

Accounting for Income Taxes. When we prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements, we are required to estimate 
our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process requires us to make the following assessments:  
   

   

   

If our estimates are incorrect, our deferred tax assets or liabilities may be overstated or understated.  

Revenue Recognition Revenue from sales of our products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an  
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  �   new technological developments that provide significantly enhanced benefits over our current technology;  
  �   significant negative economic or industry trends;  
  �   changes in our business strategy that alter the expected usage of the related assets; and  
  �   future economic results that are below our expectations used in the current assessments.  

  �   estimate our actual current tax liability in each jurisdiction;  

  
�   estimate our temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes (which 

result in deferred tax assets and liabilities that we include within the Consolidated Balance Sheets); and  

  
�   assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, if we believe that 

recovery is not more likely than not, a valuation allowance is established.  
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arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, title has passed, the amount is determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Sales 
are recognized when both title and the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer or services have been 
rendered and fees have been earned in accordance with the contract. Volume discounts and rebates are recorded as a reduction of 
revenue in conjunction with the sale of the related products. Changes to estimates are recorded when they become probable. 
Shipping and handling revenues relating to products sold are included as an increase to revenue. Shipping and handling costs 
related to products sold are included as an increase to cost of sales.  

Stock-Based Compensation Plans. Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date, based on the 
fair market value of the award and recognized over the requisite service period. The fair value of restricted stock is based on the 
trading price of our common stock on the date of grant, less required adjustments to reflect dividends paid and expected forfeitures 
or cancellations of awards throughout the vesting period, which ranges between one and three years. Our stock option 
compensation expense calculated under the fair value method, using a Black Scholes model, is recognized over the vesting period, 
which ranges between one and three years.  

RE CENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  
We discuss recently adopted and issued accounting standards in Note 1 “Business and Summary of Significant 

Accounting Policies ” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

DESC RIPTION OF OUR FINANCING STRUCTURE  
We discuss our financing structure in more detail in Note 6 “ Long-Term Debt and Liquidity ” of the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  
   

We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates, energy commodity 
prices and commercial energy rates. We, from time to time, routinely enter into various transactions that have been authorized 
according to documented policies and procedures to manage these well-defined risks. These transactions relate primarily to 
financial instruments described below. Since the counterparties, if any, to these financial instruments are large commercial banks 
and similar financial institutions, we do not believe that we are exposed to material counterparty credit risk. We do not use financial 
instruments for trading purposes.  

Our exposure to changes in interest rates results primarily from floating rate long-term debt tied to LIBOR or Euro LIBOR. 
Our exposure to changes in currency exchange rates results primarily from:  
   

   

   

Our exposure to changes in energy costs results primarily from the purchase or sale of refined oil products, and the 
purchase of natural gas and electricity for use in our manufacturing operations.  

Interest Rate Risk Management. We periodically implement interest rate management initiatives to seek to minimize our 
interest expense and the risk in our portfolio of fixed and variable interest rate obligations.  

We periodically enter into agreements with financial institutions that are intended to limit, or cap, our exposure to 
incurrence of additional interest expense due to increases in variable interest rates. These instruments effectively cap our interest 
rate exposure.  
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Item 7A.   Q uantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

  �   sales made by our subsidiaries in currencies other than local currencies;  
  �   raw material purchases made by our foreign subsidiaries in currencies other than local currencies; and  

  
�   investments in and intercompany loans to our foreign subsidiaries and our share of the earnings of those subsidiaries, 

to the extent denominated in currencies other than the dollar.  
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Currency Rate Management. We enter into foreign currency derivatives from time to time to attempt to manage exposure 
to changes in currency exchange rates. These foreign currency derivatives, which include, but are not limited to, forward exchange 
contracts and purchased currency options, attempt to hedge global currency exposures, net, relating to non-dollar denominated 
debt and identifiable foreign currency receivables, payables and commitments held by our foreign and domestic subsidiaries. 
Forward exchange contracts are agreements to exchange different currencies at a specified future date and at a specified rate. 
Purchased foreign currency options are instruments which give the holder the right, but not the obligation, to exchange different 
currencies at a specified rate at a specified date or over a range of specified dates. Forward exchange contracts and purchased 
currency options are carried at market value.  

The outstanding foreign currency derivatives at December 31, 2009 and 2010 represented a net unrealized loss of $0.1 
million and a net unrealized gain of $0.8 million, respectively.  

Energy Commodity Management . We periodically enter into commodity derivative contracts and short duration fixed 
rate purchase contracts to effectively fix some or all of our natural gas, and refined oil product exposure. The outstanding contracts 
at December 31, 2009 and 2010 represented net unrealized gains of $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively.  

Sensitivity Analysis. We used a sensitivity analysis to assess the potential effect of changes in currency exchange rates 
on gross margin and changes in interest rates on interest expense. Based on this analysis, a hypothetical 10% weakening or 
strengthening in the dollar across all other currencies would have changed our reported gross margin for 2010 by approximately 
$1.1 million. Based on this analysis, a hypothetical increase in interest rates of 1,000 basis points (10%) would have increased our 
interest expense by $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.  
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(Unless otherwise noted, all dollars are presented in thousands)  
   

See the Table of Contents located at the beginning of this Report for more detailed page references to information 
contained in this Item.  
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal 
control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process, designed by, or 
under the supervision of, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer and effected by the board of directors, management 
and other personnel of a company, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes 
those policies and procedures that:  
   

   

   

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations which may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions or because the level of compliance with related policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

Management has conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2010 using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework . Based on that assessment, management concluded that our internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010. Management’s assessment of our internal control over financial 
reporting excluded from its scope an assessment of internal control over financial reporting with respect to the operations and 
related assets of Seadrift and C/G, both of which were acquired during fiscal year 2010. Registrants are permitted to exclude an 
acquired business’ internal controls over financial reporting from its management’s assessment during the first year of the 
acquisition. Seadrift and C/G are wholly owned subsidiaries whose total assets and total net sales represent 50% and 2%, 
respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010. The 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, our 
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Date: February 24, 2011  
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�   pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of 
assets of the company;  

�   provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and the board of directors; and  

�   provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets 
of the company that could have a material effect on its financial statements.  

/ S /     C RAIG S. S HULAR          
Craig S. Shular, 

Chief Executive Officer, President and  
Chairman of the Board 

/ S /     M ARK R. W IDMAR          
Mark R. Widmar, 

Chief Financial Officer and Vice President 
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REPORT OF IN DEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of GrafTech International Ltd.:  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, 
shareholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of GrafTech International Ltd. and 
its subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial 
statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of 
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, 
management has excluded Seadrift Coke, L.P. (“Seadrift”) and C/G Electrodes LLC (“C/G”) from its assessment of internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010 because they were acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination 
during 2010. We have also excluded Seadrift and C/G from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Seadrift and C/G 
are wholly owned subsidiaries whose total assets and total net sales represent 50% and 2%, respectively, of the related 
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010.  

/s/    P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP          

P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP  
Cleveland, Ohio  
February 24, 2011  
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)  
   

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
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At  
December 31, 

 
2009     

At  
December 31, 

 
2010   

ASSETS     

Current Assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 50,181      $ 13,096    
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,545 

at December 31, 2009 and $3,892 at December 31, 2010      117,495        179,755    
Inventories      245,511        340,418    
Loan to non-consolidated affiliate      6,000        0    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      9,711        12,615    

      
  

      
  

Total current assets      428,898        545,884    
      

  
      

  

Property, plant and equipment      982,173        1,328,004    
Less: accumulated depreciation      610,182        635,530    

      
  

      
  

Net property, plant and equipment      371,991        692,474    
Deferred income taxes      11,437        6,746    
Goodwill      9,037        499,238    
Other assets      7,298        168,700    
Investment in non-consolidated affiliate      63,315        0    
Restricted cash      632        141    

      
  

      
  

Total assets    $ 892,608      $ 1,913,183    
      

  

      

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY     

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable    $ 33,928      $ 69,930    
Short-term debt      1,113        155    
Accrued income and other taxes      38,977        30,019    
Supply chain financing liability      14,404        24,959    
Other accrued liabilities      91,907        95,580    

      
  

      
  

Total current liabilities      180,329        220,643    
      

  
      

  

Long-term debt      1,467        275,799    
Other long-term obligations      108,267        114,728    
Deferred income taxes      25,486        72,287    
Contingencies – Note 14      

Stockholders’ equity:      

Preferred stock, par value $.01, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued      0        0    
Common stock, par value $.01, 225,000,000 shares authorized, 124,027,399 

shares issued at December 31, 2009 and 149,063,197 shares issued at 
December 31, 2010      1,240        1,491    

Additional paid-in capital      1,300,051        1,782,859    
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (305,644 )      (309,565 )  
Accumulated deficit      (305,202 )      (130,134 )  
Less: cost of common stock held in treasury, 3,974,345 shares at December 31, 

2009 and 4,081,134 at December 31, 2010      (112,511 )      (113,942 )  
Less: common stock held in employee benefit and compensation trusts, 71,493 

shares at December 31, 2009 and 76,259 shares at December 31, 2010      (875 )      (983 )  
      

  
      

  

Total stockholders’ equity      577,059        1,229,726    
      

  
      

  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $ 892,608      $ 1,913,183    
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)  

   

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
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    For the year ended December 31,   

        2008             2009             2010       
Net sales    $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044      $ 1,006,993    
Cost of sales      756,802        467,939        717,637    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Gross profit      433,436        191,105        289,356    
Research and development      8,986        10,168        12,330    
Selling and administrative expenses      95,757        82,325        117,844    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Operating income      328,693        98,612        159,182    

Equity in losses (earnings) of, write-down of investment in and gain recorded on 
acquisition of non-consolidated affiliate      36,256        55,488        (14,500 )  

Other expense (income), net      11,578        1,868        (4,768 )  
Interest expense      19,350        5,609        5,076    
Interest income      (1,137 )      (1,047 )      (1,333 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Income before provision (benefit) for income taxes      262,646        36,694        174,707    
Provision (benefit) for income taxes      62,131        24,144        (361 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net income    $ 200,515      $ 12,550      $ 175,068    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Basic income per common share:        

Net income per share    $ 1.80      $ 0.10      $ 1.43    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding      111,447        119,707        122,621    

Diluted income per common share:        

Net income per share    $ 1.74      $ 0.10      $ 1.42    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding      119,039        120,733        123,453    
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(Dollars in thousands)  
   

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
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    For the year ended December 31,   

        2008             2009             2010       
Cash flow from operating activities:        

Net income    $ 200,515      $ 12,550      $ 175,068    
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operations:        

Depreciation and amortization      35,427        32,737        42,664    
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)      3,049        (8,846 )      (28,260 )  
Equity in losses (earnings) of, write-down of investment in and gain 

recorded on acquisition of non-consolidated affiliate      36,256        55,488        (14,500 )  
Post-retirement and pension plan changes      7,034        6,395        9,912    
Gain on redemption of Debentures      (4,060 )      0        0    
Currency (gains) losses      (7,681 )      629        (7,153 )  
Stock-based compensation, including incentive compensation paid in 

company stock      4,903        6,845        7,355    
Interest expense      7,776        1,366        2,620    
Other charges, net      (883 )      6,464        4,299    

Dividends from non-consolidated affiliate      553        122        0    
(Increase) decrease in working capital*      (19,919 )      67,608        (41,790 )  
(Increase) in long-term assets and liabilities      (14,334 )      (11,029 )      (5,293 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash provided by operating activities      248,636        170,329        144,922    
Cash flow from investing activities:        

Capital expenditures      (71,954 )      (56,220 )      (86,049 )  
(Investment in and loan to) repayment from non-consolidated affiliate      (136,467 )      (6,000 )      6,000    
(Payments) proceeds from derivative instruments      (1,731 )      984        (1,109 )  
Net change in restricted cash      96        819        491    
Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired of $8,240      0        0        (241,204 )  
Other      198        307        319    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash used in investing activities      (209,858 )      (60,110 )      (321,552 )  
Cash flow from financing activities:        

Short-term debt borrowings (reductions), net      9,699        (8,128 )      (850 )  
Revolving Facility borrowings      180,000        124,715        165,000    
Revolving Facility reductions      (150,000 )      (155,231 )      (35,000 )  
Proceeds from long-term debt      0        1,837        0    
Principal payments on long-term debt      (179,674 )      (20,041 )      (56 )  
Supply chain financing      30,115        (15,711 )      10,555    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options      37,162        651        3,901    
Purchase of treasury shares      (21,216 )      0        (1,431 )  
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation      14,327        124        1,864    
Long-term financing obligations      (628 )      (1,091 )      (1,148 )  
Revolver facility refinancing cost      0        0        (4,595 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities      (80,215 )      (72,875 )      138,240    
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents      (41,437 )      37,344        (38,390 )  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents      (1,640 )      1,173        1,305    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      54,741        11,664        50,181    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 11,664 $        50,181      $ 13,096    
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)  

(Dollars in thousands)  
   

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
   

67  

    For the year ended December 31,   

        2008             2009             2010       
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:        

Net cash paid during the periods for:        

Interest    $ 18,693      $ 5,413      $ 2,294    
Income taxes      39,880        32,707        31,385    

Non-cash operating, investing and financing activities:        

Common stock issued to savings and pension plan trusts      2,680        2,393        2,572    
* Net change in working capital due to the following components:        

(Increase) decrease in current assets:        

Accounts and notes receivable, net    $ (25,530 )    $ 58,210      $ (39,780 )  
Effect of factoring of accounts receivable      24,299        (24,268 )      (1,115 )  
Inventories      (29,278 )      69,630        (13,641 )  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      252        904        (1,719 )  

Restructuring payments      (922 )      (35 )      (809 )  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payables and accruals      19,940        (35,908 )      15,029    
(Decrease) increase in interest payable      (8,680 )      (925 )      245    

      
  

      
  

      
  

(Increase) decrease in working capital    $ (19,919 )    $ 67,608      $ (41,790 )  
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)  
   

    

Issued  
Shares of  
Common  

Stock     

Common 
 

Stock     

Additional 
 

Paid-in  
Capital     

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

Loss     

Accumulated 
 

Deficit     
Treasury 

Stock     

Common  
Stock Held in  

Employee  
Benefit &  

Compensation 
 

Trust     

Total  
Stockholders’

 
Equity     

Total  
Comprehensive 

 
Income (Loss)   

Balance at January 1, 
2008    

  105,169,507    
  

$ 1,052    
  

$ 1,025,965    
  

$ (278,316 )  
  

$ (518,267 )  
  

$ (85,197 )  
  

$ (6,835 )  
  

$ 138,402    
  

Comprehensive income 
(loss):                    

Net income      0        0        0        0        200,515        0        0        200,515      $ 200,515    
Other 

comprehensive 
income:                    

Pension and 
post-
retirement 
adjustments, 
net of 
tax of 
$929      0        0        0        (20,216 )      0        0        0        (20,216 )      (20,216 )  

Unrealized 
losses 
on 
securities     0        0        0        (1,908 )      0        0        0        (1,908 )      (1,908 )  

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
adjustments     0        0        0        (55,520 )      0        0        0        (55,520 )      (55,520 )  

Total 
comprehensive 
income                    $ 122,871    

Treasury stock      0              0        (27,263 )        (27,263 )    
Derecognition of 

Debentures      13,559,604        136        205,851                205,987      
Stock-based 

compensation      522,623        5        4,903        0        0        (51 )      0        4,857      
Stock held in 

employee 
benefit and 
compensation 
trusts      0        0        0        0        0        0        6,041        6,041      

Common stock 
issued to 
savings and 
pension plan 
trusts      202,291        2        2,678        0        0        0        0        2,680      

Sale of common 
stock under 
stock options      3,180,829        31        50,984        0        0        0        0        51,015      

Balance at December 31, 
2008    

  122,634,854    
  

$ 1,226    
  

$ 1,290,381    
  

$ (355,960 )  
  

$ (317,752 )  
  

$ (112,511 )  
  

$ (794 )  
  

$ 504,590    
  

Comprehensive income 
(loss):                    

Net income      0        0        0        0        12,550        0        0        12,550      $ 12,550    
Other 

comprehensive 
income:                    

Pension and 
post-
retirement 
adjustments, 
net of 
tax of 
$80      0        0        0        1,922        0        0        0        1,922        1,922    

Unrealized 
losses 
on 
securities, 
net of 
tax of 
$319      0        0        0        1,116        0        0        0        1,116        1,116    

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
adjustments     0        0        0        47,278        0        0        0        47,278        47,278    



See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
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Total 
comprehensive 
income                    $ 62,866    

Treasury stock      0        0        0        0        0        0        0        0      
Stock-based 

compensation      464,205        4        2,904        0        0        0        0        2,908      
Shares issued in 

lieu of cash for 
incentive 
compensation      592,536        6        3,644        0        0        0        0        3,650      

Common stock 
issued to 
savings and 
pension plan 
trusts      275,804        3        2,471        0        0        0        (81 )      2,393      

Sale of common 
stock under 
stock options      60,000        1        651        0        0        0        0        652      

Balance at December 31, 
2009    

  124,027,399    
  

$ 1,240    
  

$ 1,300,051    
  

$ (305,644 )  
  

$ (305,202 )  
  

$ (112,511 )  
  

$ (875 )  
  

$ 577,059    
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Con tinued)  

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)  
   

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
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Issued  
Shares of  
Common  

Stock     

Common 
 

Stock     

Additional 
 

Paid-in  
Capital     

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

Loss     

Accumulated 
 

Deficit     
Treasury 

Stock     

Common  
Stock Held in  

Employee  
Benefit &  

Compensation 
 

Trust     

Total  
Stockholders’

 
Equity     

Total  
Comprehensive 

 
Income (Loss)   

Comprehensive income 
(loss):                    

Net income      0        0        0        0        175,068        0        0        175,068      $ 175,068    
Other 

comprehensive 
income:                    

Pension and 
post-
retirement 
adjustments, 
net of 
tax of 
$325      0        0        0        880        0        0        0        880        880    

Unrealized 
losses 
on 
securities, 
net of 
tax of 
$292      0        0        0        1,065        0        0        0        1,065        1,065    

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
adjustments     0        0        0        (5,866 )      0        0        0        (5,866 )      (5,866 )  

Total 
comprehensive 
income                    $ 171,147    

Treasury stock      0        0        0        0        0        0        0        0      
Stock-based 

compensation      407,983        4        9,199        0        0        (1,431 )      0        7,772      
Shares issued in 

lieu of cash for 
incentive 
compensation      0        0        0        0        0        0        0        0      

Common stock 
issued to 
savings and 
pension plan 
trusts      180,767        2        2,678        0        0        0        (108 )      2,572      

Sale of common 
stock under 
stock options      447,080        5        3,892        0        0        0        0        3,897      

Shares issued in 
connection to 
our acquisition 
of Seadrift and 
C/G      23,999,968        240        467,039        0        0        0        0        467,279      

Balance at December 31, 
2010    

  149,063,197    
  

$ 1,491    
  

$ 1,782,859    
  

$ (309,565 )  
  

$ (130,134 )  
  

$ (113,942 )  
  

$ (983 )  
  

$ 1,229,726    
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(Dollars in thousands, except as otherwise noted)  
   

(1) Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Discussion of Business and Structure  
GrafTech International Ltd. is one of the world’s largest manufacturers and providers of high quality synthetic and natural 

graphite and carbon based products. References herein to “GTI,” “we,” “our,” or “us” refer collectively to GrafTech International Ltd. 
and its subsidiaries. We have five major product categories: graphite electrodes, refractory products, needle coke products, 
advanced graphite materials and natural graphite, which are reported in the following segments:  
   

   

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of GrafTech International Ltd. and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Cash Equivalents  
We consider all highly liquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Cash equivalents consist of certificates of deposit, money market funds and commercial paper. Restricted cash includes the 
balance of the escrow account to be returned upon completion of certain environmental remediation activities related to the sale of 
our Caserta, Italy facility in 2007.  

Revenue Recognition  
Revenue from sales of our products is recognized when they meet four basic criteria (1) persuasive evidence of an 

arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the amount is determinable and (4) collection is reasonably assured. Sales are 
recognized when both title and the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer or services have been rendered 
and fees have been earned in accordance with the contract.  

Volume discounts and rebates are recorded as a reduction of revenue in conjunction with the sale of the related products. 
Changes to estimates are recorded when they become probable. Shipping and handling revenues billed to our customers are 
included in net sales and the related shipping and handling costs are included as an increase to cost of sales.  

Earnings per Share  
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of our common shares outstanding 

during the applicable period. We use the two-class method of computing earnings per share for our instruments granted in share-
based payment transactions that are determined to be participating securities prior to vesting.  

Diluted earnings per share recognizes the dilution that would occur if outstanding stock options, restricted stock awards, 
and until their redemption, convertible debentures were exercised or converted into common shares. We use the treasury stock 
method to compute the dilutive effect of our stock options and restricted stock awards (using the average market price for the 
period) and the if-converted method to calculate the dilutive effect of our previously outstanding convertible debt.  

Inventories  
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is principally determined using the “first-in first-out” (“FIFO”) and 

average cost, which approximates  
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�   Industrial Materials includes graphite electrodes, refractory products and related services and needle coke products, 

and primarily serves the steel industry.  

  
�   Engineered Solutions includes advanced graphite materials and natural graphite products, and provides primary and 

specialty products for transportation, solar, oil and gas exploration, and other markets.  
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FIFO, methods. Elements of cost in inventory include raw materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead.  

Property, Plant and Equipment  
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repairs of property and equipment 

are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for replacements and betterments are capitalized and the replaced assets are retired. 
Gains and losses from the sale of property are included in cost of goods sold or other (income) expense, net. We depreciate our 
assets using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The ranges of estimated useful lives are as 
follows:  
   

The carrying value of fixed assets is assessed when events and circumstances indicating impairment are present. 
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to future 
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to 
be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets 
to be disposed are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.  

Accounts and Notes Receivable  
Trade accounts receivable primarily arise from sales of goods to customers and distributors in the normal course of 

business.  

Sales of trade accounts receivable  
We sell certain trade accounts receivable to a bank under a factoring arrangement. The receivables are sold at a discount 

on a nonrecourse basis and we do not retain interests in the receivables sold. We also act as a servicer of the sold receivables for 
a fee. The servicing duties include collecting payments on receivables and remitting them to the bank. While servicing the 
receivables, we apply the same servicing policies and procedures that are applied to our owned accounts receivable.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  
Considerable judgment is required in assessing the realizability of receivables, including the current creditworthiness of 

each customer, related aging of the past due balances and the facts and circumstances surrounding any non-payment. We 
evaluate specific accounts when we become aware of a situation where a customer may not be able to meet its financial 
obligations. The reserve requirements are based on the best facts available to us and are reevaluated and adjusted as additional 
information is received. Receivables are charged off when amounts are determined to be uncollectible.  

Capitalized Bank Fees  
We capitalize bank fees upon the incurrence of debt. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010, capitalized bank 

fees amounted to $1.0 million and $3.6 million, respectively. We amortize such amounts over the life of the respective debt 
instrument using the effective interest method. The estimated life may be adjusted upon the occurrence of a triggering event. 
Amortization of capitalized bank fees amounted to $7.9 million in 2008, $1.6 million in 2009, and $1.8 million in 2010, respectively 
and is included in interest expense. Interest expense for 2008 and 2009, includes accelerated amortization of capitalized bank fees 
related to the Senior Notes redeemed in each of those years.  

Derivative Financial Instruments  
We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. They are used to manage well-defined commercial 

risks associated with energy contracts and currency exchange rate risks.  

Foreign Currency Derivatives  
We enter into foreign currency derivatives from time to time to manage exposure to changes in currency exchange rates. 

These instruments, which include, but are not limited to, forward exchange contracts and purchased currency options, attempt to 
hedge global currency exposures, relating to non-dollar denominated debt and identifiable foreign currency receivables, payables 
and commitments held by our foreign and  
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    Years   

Buildings      25-40    
Land improvements      20    
Machinery and equipment      5-20    
Furniture and fixtures      5-10    
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domestic subsidiaries. Forward exchange contracts are agreements to exchange different currencies at a specified future date and 
at a specified rate. Purchased foreign currency options are instruments which give the holder the right, but not the obligation, to 
exchange different currencies at a specified rate at a specified date or over a range of specified dates. The result is the creation of 
a range in which a best and worst price is defined, while minimizing option cost. Forward exchange contracts and purchased 
currency options are carried at fair value. These contracts are treated as hedges to the extent they are effective. Changes in fair 
values related to these contracts are recognized in other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until 
settlement. At the time of settlement, realized gains and losses are recognized as part of cost of goods sold on the Consolidated 
Statements of Income.  

Commodity Derivative Contracts  
We periodically enter into derivative contracts for natural gas and certain refined oil products. These contracts are entered 

into to protect against the risk that eventual cash flows related to these products will be adversely affected by future changes in 
prices. All commodity contracts are carried at fair value and are treated as hedges to the extent they are effective. Changes in their 
fair values are included in other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until settlement. At the time of 
settlement of these hedge contracts, realized gains and losses are recognized as part of cost of goods sold on the Consolidated 
Statements of Income.  

Investments in Non-Consolidated Affiliates  
We use the equity method to account for investments in entities that we do not control, but where we have the ability to 

exercise significant influence. Equity method investments are recorded at original cost and adjusted periodically to recognize 
(1) our proportionate share of the investees’ net income or losses after the date of investment, (2) additional contributions made 
and dividends or distributions received, and (3) impairment losses resulting from adjustments to net realizable value.  

We assess the potential impairment of our equity method investments when indicators such as a history of operating 
losses, a negative earnings and cash flow outlook, and the financial condition and prospects for the investee’s business segment 
might indicate a loss in value. We determine fair value based on valuation methodologies, as appropriate, including the present 
value of our estimated future cash flows. If the fair value is less than our carrying amount, the investment is determined to be 
impaired. If the decline in value is other than temporary, we record an appropriate write-down.  

Research and Development  
Expenditures relating to the development of new products and processes, including significant improvements to existing 

products, are expensed as incurred.  

Income Taxes  
We file a consolidated United States (“U.S.”) federal income tax return for GTI and its eligible domestic subsidiaries. Our 

non-U.S. subsidiaries file income tax returns in their respective local jurisdictions. We account for income taxes under the asset and 
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and 
tax benefit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of each period are determined using enacted tax rates. A 
valuation allowance is established or maintained, when, based on currently available information and other factors, it is more likely 
than not that all or a potion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.  

Under the guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we recognize the benefit from an uncertain tax position 
only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by taxing authorities, based on the technical 
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the 
largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The guidance on 
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties on income 
taxes, and accounting in interim periods.  
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Stock-Based Compensation Plans  
We have various plans that provide for the granting of stock-based compensation to employees and, in certain instances, 

to non-employee directors, which are described more fully in Note 13, “Management Compensation and Incentive Plans.” Shares 
are issued upon option exercise from authorized, unissued shares.  

We account for those plans under the applicable standards on accounting for share-based payment. For transactions in 
which we obtain employee services in exchange for an award of equity instruments, we measure the cost of the services based on 
the grant date fair value of the award. We recognize the cost over the period during which an employee is required to provide 
services in exchange for the award, known as the requisite service period (usually the vesting period). Costs related to plans with 
graded vesting are generally recognized using a straight-line method. Cash flows resulting from tax benefits for deductions in 
excess of compensation cost recognized are included in financing cash flows.  

Retirement Plans  
We use actuarial methods and assumptions to account for our defined benefit pension plan and our post retirement 

benefits. Pension and postretirement benefits expense includes actuarially computed cost of benefits earned during the current 
service period, the interest cost on accrued obligations, the expected return on plan assets based on fair market values, the 
straight-line amortization of net actuarial gains and losses, and adjustments due to plan settlements and curtailments. Contributions 
to the qualified U.S. retirement plan are made in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974.  

Postretirement Benefits  
Postretirement benefits and benefits under the non-qualified retirement plan have been accrued, but not funded. The 

estimated cost of future postretirement life insurance benefits is determined by the Company with assistance from independent 
actuarial firms using the “projected unit credit” actuarial cost method. Such costs are recognized as employees render the service 
necessary to earn the postretirement benefits. Benefits have been accrued, but not funded. We record our balance sheet position 
based on the funded status of the plan. Additional information with respect to benefits plans is set forth in Note 12, “Retirement 
Plans and Postretirement Benefits.”  

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters  
Our operations are governed by laws addressing protection of the environment and worker safety and health. These laws 

provide for civil and criminal penalties and fines, as well as injunctive and remedial relief, for noncompliance and require 
remediation at sites where hazardous substances have been released into the environment.  

We have been in the past, and may become in the future, the subject of formal or informal enforcement actions or 
proceedings regarding noncompliance with these laws or the remediation of company-related substances released into the 
environment. Historically, such matters have been resolved by negotiation with regulatory authorities resulting in commitments to 
compliance, abatement or remediation programs and in some cases payment of penalties. Historically, neither the commitments 
undertaken nor the penalties imposed on us have been material.  

Environmental considerations are part of all significant capital expenditure decisions. Environmental remediation, 
compliance and management expenses were approximately $17.3 million in 2008, $9.2 million in 2009, and $12.5 million in 2010. 
The accrued liability relating to environmental remediation was $9.1 million at December 31, 2009 and $10.8 million at 
December 31, 2010. A charge to income is recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the cost can be 
reasonably estimated. When payments are fixed or determinable, the liability is discounted using a rate at which the payments 
could be effectively settled.  

Our environmental liabilities do not take into consideration possible recoveries of insurance proceeds. Because of the 
uncertainties associated with environmental remediation activities at sites where we may be potentially liable, future expenses to 
remediate sites could be considerably higher than the accrued liability.  
   

73  



Table of Contents  

Foreign Currency Translation  
We translate the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, whose local currency is their functional currency, to U.S. 

dollars using period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and weighted average exchange rates for each period for 
revenues, expenses, gains and losses. Differences arising from exchange rate changes are included in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance Sheets until such time as the operations of such non-U.S. subsidiaries are sold 
or substantially or completely liquidated.  

For our Mexican and Russian subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar, we remeasure non-monetary 
balance sheet accounts and the related income statement accounts at historical exchange rates. Resulting gains and losses arising 
from the fluctuations in currency for monetary accounts are recognized in other (income) expense, net, in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in currency exchange rates on transactions denominated in 
currencies other than the functional currency are recognized in earnings as incurred.  

We have non-dollar denominated intercompany loans between GrafTech Finance and some of our foreign subsidiaries. 
These loans are subject to remeasurement gains and losses due to changes in currency exchange rates. Certain of these loans 
had been deemed to be essentially permanent prior to settlement and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans 
were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the stockholders’ equity section of the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The remaining loans are deemed to be temporary and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these 
loans are recorded as currency (gains/losses) in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

Software Development Costs  
In connection with our development and implementation of global enterprise resource planning systems with advanced 

manufacturing, planning and scheduling software, we capitalize certain computer software costs after technological feasibility is 
established. These capitalized costs are amortized utilizing the straight-line method over the economic lives of the related products. 
Total costs capitalized as of December 31, 2009 and 2010 amounted to $14.7 million and $15.6 million, respectively. Amortization 
expense was $1.6 million for 2008, 2009 and 2010.  

Restructuring  
We recognize an accrual for costs associated with exit or disposal activities when the liability is incurred.  

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of businesses over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. We 

do not recognize deferred income taxes for the difference between the assigned value and the tax basis related to nondeductible 
goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized; however, impairment testing is performed annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate 
that impairment may have occurred. We perform the goodwill impairment test annually at December 31. The impairment test for 
goodwill uses a two-step approach, which is performed at the reporting unit level. Step one compares the fair value of the reporting 
unit (using a discounted cash flow method) to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, there is potential 
impairment and step two must be performed. Step two compares the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to implied fair 
value (i.e., fair value of the reporting unit less the fair value of the unit’s assets and liabilities, including identifiable intangible 
assets). If the fair value of goodwill is less than the carrying amount of goodwill, an impairment is recognized.  

Other amortizable intangible assets, which consist primarily of patents, trademarks and trade names, customer-related 
intangibles, and technological know-how, are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight line or sum-of-the-years 
digits method. The estimated useful lives for each major category of amortizable intangible assets are:  
   

   
74  

    Years   

Patents      20    
Trade name      5-10    
Technology and know-how      5-9    
Customer – related intangible      11-14    
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Additional information about goodwill and other intangible is set forth in Note 5 “ Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets .”  

Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires 

us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
liabilities at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. Significant 
estimates and assumptions are used for, but are not limited to, pension and other post-retirement benefits, allowance for doubtful 
accounts, accruals and valuation allowances, asset impairment, and environmental-related accruals. Actual results could differ from 
our estimates.  

Subsequent Events  
We evaluate events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued to determine if a 

material event requires our amending the financial statements or disclosing the event.  

Reclassification  
Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

New Accounting Standards  

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards  

Consolidation  
In June 2009, the FASB issued new guidance regarding the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”). We are now 

required to qualitatively assess the determination of our being the primary beneficiary (“consolidator”) of a VIE on whether we 
(1) have the power to direct matters that most significantly impact the activities of the VIE, and (2) have the obligation to absorb 
losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. It also requires an ongoing 
reconsideration of the primary beneficiary and amends events that trigger a reassessment of whether an entity is a VIE. The 
guidance also enhances disclosures about an enterprise’s involvement with a VIE. The new model is applicable to all new and 
existing VIE’s. The adoption of this new guidance on January 1, 2010 had no impact on our consolidated financial position or 
results of operations.  

Transfers of Financial Assets  
In June 2009 the FASB issued new guidance on accounting for transfers of financial assets. The new guidance clarifies 

the determination of whether a transfer of a financial asset qualifies for sale accounting. It also provides four broad disclosure 
objectives designed to provide users of the financial statements with an understanding of:  
   

   

   

   

The adoption of this new guidance on January 1, 2010 had no impact on our consolidated financial position or results of 
operations.  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards  
Accounting guidance issued by various standard setting and governmental authorities that have not yet become effective 

with respect to our Consolidated Financial Statements are described below, together with our assessment of the potential impact 
they may have on our results of operation and financial position.  

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure  
In January 2010, the FASB issued new guidance regarding disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance 

requires new disclosures related to activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. This guidance requires purchases, sales, 
issuances, and settlements to be presented separately in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements (see Note 7 
“Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments”).  
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  1. The transferor’s continuing involvement with the transferred assets.  

  
2. The nature of any restrictions on the transferor’s assets that relate to a transferred financial asset, including the 

carrying amount of those assets.  
  3. How servicing assets and servicing liabilities are reported by the transferor.  
  4. How a transfer of financial assets affects the company’s balance sheet, earnings, and cash flows.  
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We are required to adopt this guidance for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within 
those fiscal years. We are currently assessing its impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Revenue Recognition  
In October 2009, the FASB issued new guidance regarding revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables. This new 

guidance requires companies to allocate revenue in arrangements involving multiple deliverables based on the estimated selling 
price of each deliverable, even though such deliverables are not sold separately by the company or by other vendors. This new 
guidance is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after 
June 15, 2010; however, early adoption is permitted. If a company elects early adoption and the period of adoption is not the 
beginning of its fiscal year, the requirements must be applied retrospectively to the beginning of the fiscal year. Retrospective 
application to prior years is permitted, but not required. We are evaluating the potential impact on our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

(2) Acquisitions  
On November 30, 2010, we acquired from the equity holders of Seadrift Coke L.P. (“Seadrift”) 81.1% of the equity 

interests of Seadrift that we did not already own and from the equity holders of C/G Electrodes LLC (“C/G”) 100% of the equity 
interests of C/G. Because Seadrift and C/G meet the SEC definition of common control, we have treated the transactions as the 
acquisition of one business and are referred to collectively as the “Acquisitions.” Seadrift and C/G are included in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements beginning as of December 1, 2010.  

Seadrift is one of the largest producers of petroleum-based needle coke in the world and owns the world’s only known 
stand-alone petroleum-based needle coke plant. Needle coke is the key raw material used to make graphite electrodes, including 
premium UHP graphite electrodes, which are critical consumables in electric arc furnace (“EAF”) steel production. The acquisition 
of Seadrift helps to assure us of a stable supply for a majority of the primary raw material in the production of graphite electrodes 
and should allow us to reduce the relative cost of a significant portion of our supply of needle coke.  

C/G is a U.S.-based producer of large diameter premium UHP graphite electrodes used in the EAF steel making process. 
C/G also sells various other graphite-related products, including specialty graphite blocks, granular graphite and partially processed 
electrodes. The acquisition of C/G provides us with a large diameter graphite electrode manufacturing facility in the U.S. which will 
allow us to respond to customer orders more quickly and reduce freight cost and transit time for North American shipments.  

Consideration transferred: The consideration paid to the equity holders of Seadrift consisted of $90.0 million in cash 
(including working capital adjustments), approximately 12 million shares of GTI common stock and $100 million in aggregate face 
amount Senior Subordinated Notes of GTI due 2015. The consideration paid to the equity holders of C/G consisted of $159.5 
million in cash (including working capital adjustments), approximately 12 million shares of GTI common stock and $100 million in 
aggregate face amount of Senior Subordinated Notes of GTI due in 2015.  

The computation of the fair value of the total consideration at the date of acquisition follows (in thousands, except share 
price):  
   

The volume weighted average price of a share of GTI common stock on November 30, 2010 was used to determine the 
fair value of the stock issued as consideration in connection with the Acquisitions. The fair  
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GTI common shares issued      24,000    
Price per share of GTI common stock    $ 19.47    

      
  

Fair value of consideration attributable to common stock    $ 467,280    
Fair value of Senior Subordinated Notes      142,597    
Cash      249,444    

      
  

Total consideration paid to equity holders      859,321    
Fair value of our previously held 18.9% equity interest in Seadrift      77,342    

      
  

Total consideration    $ 936,663    
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value of the non-interest bearing senior subordinated notes was determined using an interest rate of 7%.  

Recording of assets acquired and liabilities assumed: The Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of 
accounting in accordance with FASB ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). Under the acquisition method the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are assigned a new basis of accounting reflecting their estimated fair values. The 
information included herein has been prepared based on the preliminary allocation of purchase price using estimates of the fair 
values and useful lives of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on best available information determined with the 
assistance of independent valuations, quoted market prices and management estimates. The purchase price allocations are 
subject to further adjustment until all pertinent information regarding the property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, other 
long-term assets, goodwill, long-term debt, other long-term liabilities, and deferred income tax liabilities are fully evaluated by us 
and independent valuations are complete.  

The following table summarizes the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition 
date (in thousands):  
   

Intangible assets: The following table is a summary of the fair values of the identifiable intangible assets and their 
estimated useful lives (dollars in thousands):  
   

Goodwill: Goodwill of approximately $489.2 million was recognized for the Acquisitions and is calculated as the excess of 
the consideration transferred over the net assets acquired and represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets 
acquired that could not be individually identified and separately recognized. Specifically, the goodwill recorded as part of the 
Acquisitions includes:  
   

   

   

We have assigned the goodwill to our Industrial Materials segment. Approximately $168.2 million of the goodwill is 
deductible for federal income tax purposes.  

Debt: We repaid $80.6 million of debt and interest rate swaps and assumed an additional $1.2 million of debt. The 
recorded amount of the debt assumed approximated its fair value. The following is a summary of the third-party debt assumed and 
not repaid  
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Cash    $ 8,240    
Accounts receivable      23,079    
Inventories      82,665    
Property, plant and equipment      280,710    
Intangible assets      158,200    
Other assets      988    
Accounts payable      14,130    
Other accrued liabilities      6,830    
Debt obligations      1,197    
Other long-term liabilities      1,000    
Deferred tax liability      83,306    

      
  

Net identifiable assets acquired      447,419    
Goodwill      489,244    

      
  

Net assets acquired    $ 936,663    
      

  

    Fair Value     

Weighted Average  
Amortization Period   

Customer relationships    $ 107,500        13.4 years    
Technology and know-how      42,800        8.1 years    
Tradenames      7,900        7.7 years    

      
  

      
  

Total intangible assets    $ 158,200        11.6 years    
      

  

      

  

  
�   the expected synergies and other benefits that we believe will result from combining the operations of Seadrift and 

C/G with the operations of GrafTech;  
  �   any intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition such as the assembled workforce; and  

  
�   the value of the going-concern element of Seadrift’s and C/G’s existing businesses (the higher rate of return on the 

assembled collection of net assets versus acquiring all of the net assets separately).  
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in connection with the close of the Acquisitions (dollars in thousands):  
   

Acquisition-related costs : Acquisition-related costs (i.e., advisory, legal, valuation, other professional fees, etc.) are not 
included as a component of consideration transferred but are accounted for as expenses in the period in which the costs are 
incurred. Total acquisition-related costs incurred by us approximated $15.2 million and are recorded as selling and administrative 
expenses in our consolidated operations.  

Pro-forma impact of the Acquisitions: The unaudited pro-forma results presented below include the effects of the 
Acquisitions as if they had been consummated as of January 1, 2009. The pro forma results include the amortization associated 
with the acquired intangible assets and interest expense associated with debt used to fund the Acquisitions, as well as fair value 
adjustments for property, plant and equipment and the elimination of related party transactions. To better reflect the combined 
operating results, material non-recurring charges directly attributable to the Acquisitions have been excluded. In addition, the pro 
forma results do not include any anticipated synergies or other expected benefits of the Acquisitions. Accordingly, the unaudited pro 
forma financial information below is not necessarily indicative of either future results of operations or results that might have been 
achieved had the Acquisitions been consummated as of January 1, 2009 (dollars in thousands, except per share):  
   

Material non-recurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the Acquisitions include: reversal of LIFO impact, $1.9 
million expense in 2009 and $21.0 million benefit in 2010; reversal of equity in (income) losses of non-consolidated affiliate, $55.5 
million expense in 2009 and $14.5 million income in 2010; and $25.9 million of transaction expenses in 2010.  

Previously held 18.9% equity interest in Seadrift: On June 30, 2008, we acquired 100% of Falcon-Seadrift Holding Corp., 
now named GrafTech Seadrift Holding Corp. (“GTSD”), which held approximately 18.9% of the equity interests in Seadrift. The 
substance of the transaction was the acquisition of an asset, the limited partnership units, rather than a business combination. 
Because the amount we paid for the limited partnerships interests exceeded their tax basis accounting guidance required us to 
recognize a deferred tax liability for this difference and increase our purchase price. We also had a deferred tax asset valuation 
allowance at the time we acquired the limited partnership units. Accounting guidance required us to reduce the valuation allowance 
and decrease the purchase price because the deferred tax liability recorded for the purchase was expected to reverse during the 
same period that our deferred tax assets were expected to reverse.  

We accounted for our investment in Seadrift using the equity method of accounting because we had the ability to exercise 
significant influence, but not exercise control. In 2008 and 2009 we determined that the fair value of our investment was less than 
our carrying amount and that the losses in value were other than temporary. We recorded non-cash impairments in both 2008 and 
2009 to recognize these other than temporary losses in value.  
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Pennsylvania Industrial Development Authority mortgage note due 2018, interest rate of 3%    $ 1,020    
Secured promissory note due 2014, interest rate of 6.25%      177    

      
  

Total debt assumed    $ 1,197    
      

  

    

Year Ended  
December 31,   

    2009     2010   

Revenue    $ 802,770      $ 1,228,935    
Net income      58,158        141,909    
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The following table summarizes the carrying amount (book value) of our investment in Seadrift from the date we acquired 
our 18.9% equity interest to November 30, 2010, the date we acquired the remaining 81.1% equity interests (dollars in thousands):  
   

ASC 805 required us remeasure the book value of our previously held 18.9% equity interest in Seadrift at November 30, 
2010 to its fair value and recognize the resulting gain in our 2010 earnings.  

Loan to Seadrift: In late June 2009 and July 2009, Seadrift entered into agreements to borrow up to $17.0 million from 
certain of its shareholders, which included up to $8.5 million from us. In early July the shareholder group loaned Seadrift $12.0 
million which included $6.0 million from us. Each loan was evidenced by a demand note with an interest rate of 10%.  

We recorded our $6.0 million loan at its face amount, which reasonably approximated its present value. Seadrift repaid the 
total borrowing of $12.0 million on March 31, 2010.  

(3) Segment Reporting  
We operate in two reportable segments: Industrial Materials and Engineered Solutions.  

Industrial Materials. Our industrial materials segment manufactures and delivers high quality graphite electrodes, 
refractory products and needle coke products. Electrodes are key components of the conductive power systems used to produce 
steel and other non-ferrous metals. Refractory products are used in blast furnaces and submerged arc furnaces due to their high 
thermal conductivity and the ease with which they can be machined to large or complex shapes. Needle coke, a crystalline form of 
carbon derived from decant oil, is the key ingredient in, and is used primarily in, the production of graphite electrodes.  

Engineered Solutions. Engineered solutions include advanced graphite materials products for the transportation, solar, 
and oil and gas exploration industries, as well as natural graphite products enabling thermal management solutions for the 
electronics industry and fuel cell solutions for the transportation and power generation industries.  

We continue to evaluate the performance of our segments based on segment operating income. Intersegment sales and 
transfers are not material and the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those for our Consolidated 
Financial Statements as a whole. Corporate expenses are allocated to segments based on each segment’s percentage of 
consolidated sales.  
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    As of and for the Period Ended   

    December 31,     November 30,  
2010       2008     2009     

Balance at beginning of period      $ 118,925      $ 63,315    
Initial investment, including tax effect    $ 155,734        

Equity in earnings (losses)      (1,714 )      (2,658 )      4,941    
Write-down of investment to its fair value, 

including tax effect      (34,542 )      (52,830 )    
Distributions      (553 )      (122 )      (473 )  
Gain from remeasuring book value to 

acquisition date fair value          9,559    
      

  
      

  
      

  

Balance at end of period    $ 118,925      $ 63,315      $ 77,342    
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The following tables summarize financial information concerning our reportable segments:  
   

Assets are managed based on geographic location because certain reportable segments share certain facilities. Assets by 
reportable segment are estimated based on the value of long-lived assets at each location and the sales mix to third party 
customers at that location.  
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For the year Ended  
December 31,   

  2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Net sales to external customers:        

Industrial Materials    $ 1,008,778      $ 538,126      $ 833,892    
Engineered Solutions      181,460        120,918        173,101    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total net sales    $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044      $ 1,006,993    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Segment operating income:        

Industrial Materials    $ 287,466      $ 88,818      $ 140,997    
Engineered Solutions      41,227        9,794        18,185    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total segment operating income      328,693        98,612        159,182    
      

  
      

  
      

  

Reconciliation of segment operating income to income from continuing operations 
before provision for income taxes        

Equity in losses (earnings) of, write-down of investment in and gain recorded on 
acquisition of non-consolidated affiliate      36,256        55,488        (14,500 )  

Other expense (income), net      11,578        1,868        (4,768 )  
Interest expense      19,350        5,609        5,076    
Interest income      (1,137 )      (1,047 )      (1,333 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Income before provision for income taxes    $ 262,646      $ 36,694      $ 174,707    
      

  

      

  

      

  

    At December 31,   

          2009                 2010         
    (Dollars in thousands)   

Long-lived assets (a):      

Industrial Materials.    $  305,408      $ 622,800    
Engineered Solutions      66,583        69,674    

      
  

      
  

Total long-lived assets    $  371,991      $ 692,474    
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The following tables summarize information as to our operations in different geographic areas.  
   

   

   

(4) Supply Chain Financing  
During the third quarter of 2008, we entered into a supply chain financing arrangement with a financing party. Under this 

arrangement, we essentially assign our rights to purchase needle coke from our supplier to the financing party. The financing party 
purchases the product from our supplier under the standard payment terms and then immediately resells it to us under longer 
payment terms. The financing party pays the supplier the purchase price for the product and then we pay the financing party. Our 
payment to the financing party for this needle coke includes a mark up (the “Mark-Up”). The Mark Up is a premium expressed as a 
percentage of the purchase price. The Mark-Up is subject to quarterly reviews. This arrangement helps us to maintain a balanced 
cash conversion cycle between inventory payments and the collection of receivables. Based on the terms of the arrangement, the 
total amount that we owe to the financing party may not exceed $49.3 million at any point in time.  

We record the inventory once title and risk of loss transfers from the supplier to the financing party. We record our liability 
to the financing party as an accrued liability. Our purchases of inventory under this arrangement were $37.1 million in 2009 and 
$186.7 million in 2010. We recognized Mark-Up of $0.5 million in 2009 and $1.5 million in 2010 as interest expense.  

The underlying supply agreements have been terminated and we have executed replacement supply agreements when 
we expect to add to the supply chain financing arrangement.  

(5) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
The Company is required to review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually for impairment. Goodwill 

impairment is tested at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances 
change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.  

The Company completed its annual impairment review of goodwill as of December 31, 2010 and noted no impairment. 
The fair value used in the analysis was estimated using a market approach, which contains significant unobservable inputs, based 
on earnings before interest and taxes and cash flow multiples. The Company has been consistent with its method of estimating fair 
value when an indication of fair value from a buyer or similar specific transaction is not available.  
   

81  

  

  

For the year Ended  
December 31,   

  2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Net sales:        

U.S    $ 203,409      $ 118,883      $ 203,438    
Americas      205,744        113,380        177,396    
Asia Pacific      205,236        126,012        193,061    
Europe, Middle East, Africa      575,849        300,769        433,098    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total    $ 1,190,238      $ 659,044      $ 1,006,993    
      

  

      

  

      

  

    At December 31,   

    2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Long-lived assets (a):      

U.S and Canada    $ 85,949      $ 387,468    
Mexico      69,513        71,408    
Brazil      50,064        56,913    
France      55,595        52,675    
Spain      74,122        77,598    
South Africa      29,328        35,401    
Switzerland      526        4,509    
Other countries      6,894        6,502    

      
  

      
  

Total    $ 371,991      $ 692,474    
      

  

      

  

(a) Long-lived assets represent fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation.  
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The Seadrift and C/G acquisitions resulted in goodwill of $489.2 million. None of the goodwill associated with these 
transactions will be deductible for income tax purposes. See Note 2, “Acquisitions” for further discussion of these acquisitions. The 
changes in the Company’s carrying value of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 are as follows:  
   

The following table summarizes intangible assets with determinable useful lives by major category as of December 31, 
2009 and 2010:  
   

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $0.2 million in each of the twelve months periods ended December 31, 
2008 and 2009 and $2.1 million in the twelve month period ended 2010. Estimated annual amortization expense for the next five 
years will approximate $22.6 million in 2011, $21.3 million in 2012, $19.9 million in 2013, $18.6 million in 2014 and $17.0 million in 
2015.  
   
(6) Long-Term Debt and Liquidity  

The following table presents our long-term debt:  
   

Revolving Facility  
On April 28, 2010, we successfully completed the refinancing of our principal revolving credit facility (“Revolving Facility”) 

that was due to expire on July 15, 2010. Borrowers under the Revolving Facility are GrafTech Finance Inc. (“GrafTech Finance”) 
and GrafTech Switzerland S.A. (“Swissco”), both wholly-owned subsidiaries.  
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    Total   

    (Dollars in Thousands)   
Balance as of December 31, 2008    $ 7,166    
Translation effect      1,871    

      
  

Balance as of December 31, 2009      9,037    
      

  

Translation effect      957    
Business Acquisitions      489,244    

      
  

Balance as of December 31, 2010    $ 499,238    
      

  

  

  2009      2010   

  

Gross  
Carrying 

 
Amount     

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Net  
Carrying 

 
Amount      

Gross  
Carrying 

 
Amount      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization      

Net  
Carrying 

 
Amount   

  (Dollars in Thousands)      (Dollars in Thousands)   

Patents    $ 3,520      $ (944 )    $ 2,576       $ 3,520       $ (1,168 )     $ 2,352    
Trade name    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0         7,900         (124 )       7,776    
Technology and know-how    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0         42,800         (497 )       42,303    
Customer –related intangible    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0         107,500         (1,258 )       106,242    

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

       
  

Total finite-lived intangible 
assets    $ 3,520      $ (944 )    $ 2,576       $ 161,720       $ (3,047 )     $ 158,673    

      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

       

  

       

  

     At December 31,   

     2009      2010   

     (Dollars in thousands)   

Revolving Facility     $ 0       $ 130,000    
Senior Subordinated Notes       0         143,404    
Other debt       1,467         2,395    

       
  

       
  

Total     $ 1,467       $ 275,799    
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As amended and restated, the credit agreement provides for, among other things, an extension until April 29, 2013 of the 
maturity of our Revolving Facility in the initial amount of $260 million, additional flexibility for investments and acquisitions and, 
subject to certain conditions, an “accordion feature” that permits GrafTech Finance and Swissco to establish additional credit 
facilities thereunder in an aggregate amount, together with our Revolving Facility, of up to $390 million. At December 31, 2010, we 
had outstanding borrowings drawn from the facility of $130.0 million, and $126.6 million was available (after consideration of 
outstanding letters of credit of $3.4 million).  

The interest rate applicable to the Revolving Facility is, at GrafTech’s option, either LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 
2.50% to 3.50% (depending on our total net leverage ratio and/or senior unsecured rating) or, in the case of dollar denominated 
loans, the alternate base rate plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% (depending upon such ratio or rating). The alternate base 
rate is the highest of (i) the prime rate announced by JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., (ii) the federal fund effective rate plus 0.50% 
and (iii) the London interbank offering rate (as adjusted) for a one-month period plus 1.00%. GrafTech Finance and Swissco pay a 
per annum fee ranging from 0.375% to 0.750% (depending on such ratio or rating) on the undrawn portion of the commitments 
under the Revolving Facility.  

The Revolving Facility permits voluntary prepayments (without reducing availability for future revolving borrowings) and 
voluntary commitment reductions at any time, in each case without premium or penalty.  

Proceeds of revolving loans to be used by any foreign subsidiary will be borrowed by Swissco and the proceeds of 
borrowings by GrafTech Finance will only be used in the business of GrafTech and its domestic subsidiaries conducted in the 
United States.  

The obligations of GrafTech Finance under the Revolving Facility are secured (with certain exceptions) by first priority 
security interests in all of the assets of GrafTech Finance. The obligations of Swissco under the Revolving Facility are secured (with 
certain exceptions) by first priority security interests in certain assets of Swissco and a pledge of stock in most of GrafTech’s foreign 
subsidiaries.  

The obligations of GrafTech Finance and Swissco under the Revolving Facility are guaranteed by GrafTech and each of 
GrafTech’s other domestic subsidiaries. These guarantees are secured by first priority security interests in all of GrafTech’s assets 
and that of its domestic subsidiaries including all of the outstanding capital stock of GrafTech Global and GrafTech Finance, 65% of 
the capital stock of Swissco and 100% of the capital stock of Swissco’s foreign subsidiaries.  

Each guarantee of the Revolving Facility is full, unconditional and, joint and several. Payment under the guarantees could 
be required immediately upon the occurrence of an event of default in respect of the guaranteed obligations.  

The Revolving Facility contains a number of significant covenants that, among other things, significantly restrict 
GrafTech’s ability to sell assets, incur additional debt, repay or refinance other debt or amend other debt instruments, create liens 
on assets, enter into sale and lease back transactions, make investments or acquisitions, engage in mergers or consolidations, 
make capital expenditures, engage in transactions with affiliates, pay dividends to stockholders of GrafTech or make other 
restricted payments, and other corporate activities. The covenants include financial covenants relating to specified minimum 
interest coverage and maximum net senior secured debt leverage ratios (which is the ratio of GrafTech’s net senior secured debt to 
EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement).  

Under the Revolving Facility, GrafTech is permitted to pay dividends and repurchase common stock in an aggregate 
amount (cumulative from April 2010) equal up to $75 million (or $300 million, if certain leverage ratio requirements are satisfied), 
plus, each year, an aggregate amount equal to 50% of the consolidated net income in the prior year.  

In addition to the failure to pay principal, interest and fees when due, events of default under the Revolving Facility 
include: failure to comply with applicable covenants; failure to pay when due, or other defaults permitting acceleration of, other 
indebtedness exceeding $17.5 million or, to the extent effected with lenders under the Revolving Facility, cash management 
arrangements or interest rate, exchange rate or commodity price derivatives; failure to comply with guarantee and  
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collateral requirements; judgment defaults in excess of $17.5 million to the extent not covered by insurance; certain events of 
bankruptcy; and certain changes in control. At December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with all financial and other covenants 
contained in the Revolving Facility, as applicable.  

Senior Subordinated Notes  
On November 30, 2010, in connection with the Acquisitions, we issued two Senior Subordinated Notes for an aggregate 

total face amount of $200 million. These Senior Subordinated Notes are non-interest bearing and mature in 2015, see Note 2, 
“Acquisitions”. Because the promissory notes are non-interest bearing, we were required to record them at their present value 
(determined using an interest rate of 7%). The difference between the face amount of the promissory notes and their present value 
is recorded as debt discount. The debt discount will be amortized to income using the interest method, over the life of the 
promissory notes. The loan balance, net of unamortized discount, was $143.4 million at December 31, 2010.  

Other Debt  
On September 30, 2009, our Spanish subsidiary received a $1.8 million economic stimulus loan from the Ministry of 

Industry, Government of Spain. The loan is non-interest bearing and matures in October 2024. Repayment in 10 annual 
installments commences in October 2015. Because the loan is non-interest bearing, we were required to record the loan at its 
present value (determined using an interest rate of 4.33%). The difference between the proceeds received and the present value of 
debt is recorded as debt discount and deferred expense. The discount is amortized to income using the interest method; the 
deferred charge is amortized to income using the same basis and over the same period as the capital projects are depreciated. The 
loan balance, net of unamortized discount, was $1.1 million at December 31, 2010.  

Also included in other debt is a mortgage note due 2018, payable to the Pennsylvania Industrial Development Authority. 
The mortgage requires monthly payments of $12 thousand including interest at 3% and is collateralized by our St. Marys facility. 
The balance of this debt was $1.0 million December 31, 2010.  

Senior Notes  
On February 15, 2002, GrafTech Finance issued $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. Interest on 

the Senior Notes was payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2002, at the rate 
of 10.25% per annum.  

On May 6, 2002, GrafTech Finance issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of additional Senior Notes at a 
purchase price of 104.5% of principal amount, plus accrued interest from February 15, 2002, under the Senior Note Indenture. All 
of the Senior Notes constituted one class of debt securities under the Senior Note Indenture. The additional Senior Notes paid 
interest at the same rate and were scheduled to mature on the same date as the Senior Notes issued in February 2002. The $7.0 
million premium received upon issuance of the additional Senior Notes was added to the principal amount of the Senior Notes and 
amortized as a reduction of interest expense over the term of the additional Senior Notes. As a result of our receipt of such 
premium, the effective annual interest rate on the additional Senior Notes approximated 9.5%.  

During 2003 and 2004, we purchased $115.0 million of the outstanding principal of the Senior Notes through a series of 
exchanges for equity and cash repurchases.  

During 2007, we redeemed $235.0 million of the outstanding principal of the Senior Notes. In connection with the 
redemptions, we incurred a $13.0 million loss on the extinguishment of debt.  

During 2008, we redeemed $180.0 million of the outstanding principal of the Senior Notes. In connection with the 
redemptions, we incurred a $6.8 million loss on the extinguishment of debt.  

On September 28, 2009, we redeemed all of the remaining outstanding balance of the Senior Notes, $19.9 million, at 
101.708% plus accrued interest. Total cash to redeem the remaining outstanding balance of the Senior Notes approximated $20.2 
million. We incurred a $0.4 million loss on the extinguishment of the debt.  

Debentures  
On January 22, 2004, we issued $225.0 million aggregate principal amount of Debentures which were  
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scheduled to mature on January 15, 2024, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. Interest on the Debentures was 
payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year at the rate of 1.625% per annum.  

On May 30, 2008, we called for the redemption of the $225.0 million outstanding principal amount of the Debentures. On 
June 13, 2008, the redemption date, the Debenture holders who exercised their conversion rights received 60.3136 shares of our 
common stock for each $1,000 principal amount of Debentures on conversion, together with a make-whole payment totaling $9.0 
million, which represented the present value of all remaining scheduled payments of interest on the Debentures from the date of 
conversion and redemption through January 15, 2011.  

We also made payment of $0.2 million to the Debenture holders who did not exercise their conversion rights and opted to 
receive a redemption price in cash equal to 100% of the principal plus accrued but unpaid interest until the redemption date. These 
Debenture holders received the make-whole value in shares.  

Accounting guidance required that we allocate the fair value (determined using an interest rate of 7.5178%) of the 
consideration transferred (13.6 million shares of common stock with an aggregate value of $366.4 million) to the fair values of the 
debt component ($194.7 million) and the equity component ($171.7 million) immediately prior to the redemption. A $4.1 million gain 
was recognized for the difference between the amount allocated to the debt component and the sum of the carrying amount of the 
debt, unamortized debt discount, and issuance costs at conversion. At redemption, we recorded additional valuation allowance of 
$9.9 million as a result of the reduction of the deferred tax liability for the difference in debt discount and debt issuance costs 
expense recognized for financial and tax reporting.  

(7) Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instrume nts  

Fair Market Value Measurements  
On January 1, 2008, we adopted guidance on accounting for fair value measurements, for assets and liabilities measured 

at fair value on a recurring basis and on January 1, 2009, for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. 
The guidance:  
   

   

   

   

The guidance establishes a three-level hierarchy of measurements based upon the reliability of observable and 
unobservable inputs used to arrive at fair value. Observable inputs are independent market data, while unobservable inputs reflect 
our assumptions about valuation. Depending on the inputs, we classify each fair value measurement as follows:  
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�   defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, and establishes a framework for measuring 
fair value,  

  
�   establishes a hierarchy of fair value measurements based upon the observability of inputs used to value assets and 

liabilities.  
  �   requires consideration of nonperformance risk, and  
  �   expands disclosures about the methods used to measure fair value.  

  �   Level 1 – based upon quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets,  

  
�   Level 2 – based upon quoted prices for similar instruments, prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that 

are not active, or model-derived valuations of all of whose significant inputs are observable, and  
  �   Level 3 – based upon one or more significant unobservable inputs.  
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The following section describes key inputs and assumptions used in valuation methodologies of our assets and liabilities 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis:  

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term notes and accounts receivable, accounts payable and other current payables –
The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.  

Long-Term Debt – Fair value of long-term debt at December 31, 2009 and 2010, which was determined using Level 2 
inputs approximated the book value of $1.4 million and $275.8 million, respectively.  

Foreign currency derivatives – Foreign currency derivatives are carried at market value using Level 2 inputs. The 
outstanding contracts at December 31, 2009 and 2010 represented an unrealized loss of $0.1 million and an unrealized 
gain of $0.8 million, respectively.  

Commodity derivative contracts – Commodity derivative contracts are carried at fair value. We determine the fair value 
using observable, quoted natural gas and refined oil product prices that are determined by active markets and therefore 
classify the commodity derivative contracts as Level 2. The outstanding commodity derivative contracts at December 31, 
2009 and 2010 represented unrealized gains of $0.1 million and $0.6 million, respectively.  

Derivative Instruments  
We use derivative instruments as part of our overall foreign currency and commodity risk management strategies to 

manage the risk of exchange rate movements that would reduce the value of our foreign cash flows and to minimize commodity 
price volatility. Foreign currency exchange rate movements create a degree of risk by affecting the value of sales made and costs 
incurred in currencies other than the US Dollar.  

Certain of our derivative contracts contain provisions that require us to provide collateral. Since the counterparties to these 
financial instruments are large commercial banks and similar financial institutions, we do not believe that we are exposed to 
material counterparty credit risk, despite the current worldwide economic situation. We do not anticipate nonperformance by any of 
the counter-parties to our instruments.  

Foreign currency derivatives  
We enter into foreign currency derivatives from time to time to attempt to manage exposure to changes in currency 

exchange rates. These foreign currency instruments, which include, but are not limited to, forward exchange contracts and 
purchased currency options, attempt to hedge global currency exposures such as foreign currency denominated debt, 
sales, receivables, payables, and purchases. Forward exchange contracts are agreements to exchange different currencies at a 
specified future date and at a specified rate. There was no ineffectiveness on these contracts during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2010.  

In 2009 and 2010, we entered into foreign forward currency derivatives as hedges of anticipated cash flows denominated 
in the Mexican peso, Brazilian real, euro and Japanese yen. These derivatives were entered into to protect the risk that the 
eventual cash flows resulting from such transactions will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates between the US 
dollar and the Mexican peso, Brazilian real, euro and Japanese yen. As of December 31, 2010, we had outstanding Mexican peso, 
Brazilian real, euro, and Japanese yen currency contracts, with aggregate notional amounts of $92.1 million. The foreign currency 
derivatives outstanding as of December 31, 2010 have several maturity dates ranging from March 2011 to December 2011.  

Commodity derivative contracts  
We periodically enter into derivative contracts for natural gas and certain refined oil products. These contracts are entered 

into to protect against the risk that eventual cash flows related to these products will be adversely affected by future changes in 
prices. There was no ineffectiveness on these contracts during the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. As of December 31, 
2010, we had outstanding derivative swap contracts for refined oil products and natural gas with aggregate notional amounts of 
$54.3 million and $3.0 million respectively. These contracts have maturity dates ranging from January 2011 to December 2011.  
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The fair value of all derivatives is recorded as assets or liabilities on a gross basis in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. At 
December 31, 2009 and 2010, the fair values of our derivatives and their respective balance sheet locations are presented in the 
following table:  
   

The location and amount of realized (gains) losses on derivatives are recognized in the Statement of Operations when the 
hedged item impacts earnings and are as follows for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010:  
   

Our foreign currency and commodity derivatives are treated as hedges under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging and are 
required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. With respect to the inputs used to determine the fair value, we use 
observable, quoted rates that are determined by active markets and, therefore, classify the contracts as “Level 2” in accordance 
with the definition in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures .  

(8) Interest Expense  
The following table presents an analysis of interest expense:  
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  Asset Derivatives     Liability Derivatives   

  Location     Fair Value     Location      Fair Value   
  (Dollars in Thousands)   

As of December 31, 2009           

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:          

Foreign currency derivatives      Other receivables      $ 59        Other payables       $ 124    
Commodity derivative contracts      Other current assets        125         

        
  

         
  

Total fair value      $ 184         $ 124    
        

  

         

  

As of December 31, 2010           

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:          

Foreign currency derivatives      Other receivables      $ 1,226        Other payables       $ 390    
Commodity derivative contracts      Other current assets        803        Other current liabilities         225    

        
  

         
  

Total fair value      $ 2,029         $ 615    
        

  

         

  

  

      

Amount of (Gain)/Loss  
Recognized   

  Location of (Gain)/Loss Reclassified  
from Other Comprehensive Income  

  (Dollars in Thousands)   

    2009     2010   

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:      

Foreign currency derivatives  
  

Cost of goods sold/ Other (income) 
expense / Revenue    $ (3,480 )    $ 179    

Commodity derivative contracts    Cost of goods sold      2,460        721    

  

  

For the year Ended  
December 31,   

  2008     2009     2010   

  (Dollars in thousands)   

Interest incurred on debt    $ 12,502      $ 3,571      $ 930    
Amortization of discount on Senior Subordinated Notes      0        0        806    
Amortization of debt issuance costs      1,902        1,363        1,761    
Amortization of discount on Debentures      4,410        0        0    
Supply Chain Financing mark-up      446        487        1,524    
Interest incurred on other items      90        188        55    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total interest expense    $ 19,350      $ 5,609      $ 5,076    
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Interest rates  
At December 31, 2010, the Revolving Facility had an effective interest rate of 2.81% and the Senior Subordinated Notes 

had an implied rate of 7%.  

(9) Other (Income) Expense, Net  
The following table presents an analysis of other (income) expense, net:  

   

   

We have had intercompany term loans between GrafTech Finance and some of our foreign subsidiaries. We had no such 
term loans at December 31, 2009 or 2010. At December 31, 2008, the aggregate principal amount of these term loans was $558.4 
million. These loans were subject to remeasurement gains and losses due to changes in currency exchange rates. Certain of these 
loans had been deemed to be essentially permanent prior to settlement and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these 
loans were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the stockholders’ equity section of the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The remaining balance of these loans was deemed to be temporary and, as a result, 
remeasurement gains and losses on these loans were recorded as currency gains / losses in other income (expense), net, on the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.  

As part of our cash management, we also have intercompany loans between our subsidiaries. These loans are deemed to 
be temporary and, as a result, remeasurement gains and losses on these loans are recorded as currency gains / losses in other 
income (expense), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

We had net total currency gains of $2.2 million in 2008, a net currency loss of $0.5 million in 2009, and a net total currency 
gain of $6.2 million in 2010, mainly due to the remeasurement of intercompany loans and the effect of transaction gains and losses 
on intercompany activities.  

During the second quarter of 2007, we sold land and certain assets related to our former graphite electrode manufacturing 
facility in Caserta, Italy. Approximately $1.5 million of the purchase price was placed in escrow as security for the completion of 
certain activities related to remediation and landfill closure at this facility, which is included in restricted cash in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2009 and 2010. The sale agreement provides that, upon completion of certain milestones in 
the remediation and landfill closure activities, portions of the escrowed amounts shall be paid to us. We recognize returns of funds 
held in escrow as other income when received. In the fourth quarter 2009, approximately $1.0 million of the funds held in escrow 
were released to us and we recognized income and reduced restricted cash. The funds released in the fourth quarter of 2010 were 
approximately $0.3 million.  
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For the year ended,  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Loss on extinguishment of debt    $ 6,785      $ 390      $ 0    
Gain on derecognition of Debentures      (4,060 )      0        0    
Debenture make-whole payment      9,034        0        0    
Currency (gains)/losses      (2,240 )      466        (6,235 )  
Bank and other financing fees      1,918        1,949        2,085    
Discount on sale of accounts receivable      1,102        209        0    
Gain on sale of assets      (52 )      (1,159 )      (444 )  
Other      (909 )      13        (174 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total other (income) expense, net    $ 11,578      $ 1,868      $ (4,768 )  
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During 2008, we redeemed a total of $180 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes. In connection 
with these redemptions, we incurred a $6.8 million loss on the extinguishment of debt, which includes $6.2 million related to the call 
premium and $0.6 million of charges for the accelerated amortization of the debt issuance fees, terminated interest rate swaps and 
the premium related to the Senior Notes.  

During 2008, we also called for redemption the $225 million principal amount of our Debentures. All of the Debentures 
were either redeemed or converted into shares of our common stock. In connection with this derecognition of the Debentures, we 
recognized a $4.1 million gain and incurred a $9.0 million charge related to the make-whole provision. This payment represented 
the present value of all remaining scheduled interest payments from the date of derecognition through January 15, 2011.  
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(10) Supplementary Balance Sheet Detail  
The following tables present supplementary balance sheet details:  
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    At December 31,   

        2009             2010       

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Accounts and notes receivable, net:      

Trade    $ 105,130      $ 168,323    
Other      16,910        15,324    

      
  

      
  

    122,040        183,647    
Allowance for doubtful accounts      (4,545 )      (3,892 )  

      
  

      
  

  $ 117,495      $ 179,755    
      

  

      

  

Inventories:      

Raw materials and supplies    $ 89,855      $ 118,691    
Work in process      106,606        160,368    
Finished goods      51,568        64,075    

      
  

      
  

    248,029        343,134    
Reserves      (2,518 )      (2,716 )  

      
  

      
  

  $ 245,511      $ 340,418    
      

  

      

  

Property, plant and equipment:      

Land and improvements    $ 26,316      $ 33,484    
Buildings      137,399        167,949    
Machinery and equipment and other      785,191        1,053,197    
Construction in progress      33,267        73,374    

      
  

      
  

  $ 982,173      $ 1,328,004    
      

  

      

  

Other accrued liabilities:      

Accrued vendors payable    $ 31,628      $ 38,802    
Supply chain financing      14,404        24,959    
Payrolls (including incentive programs)      23,298        20,050    
Customer prepayments      14,766        12,347    
Employee compensation and benefits      10,907        11,211    
Other      11,308        13,170    

      
  

      
  

  $ 106,311      $ 120,539    
      

  

      

  

Other long term obligations:      

Postretirement benefits    $ 29,845      $ 29,567    
Pension and related benefits      51,678        60,158    
Other      26,744        25,003    

      
  

      
  

  $ 108,267      $ 114,728    
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The following table presents an analysis of the allowance for doubtful accounts:  
   

   
Inventories  

Accounting guidance requires that we allocate fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion based on normal 
capacity of the production facilities. It also requires that we recognize abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling 
costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) as current period charges. Costs in excess of normal absorption at December 31, 2009 and 
2010 were $5.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively. These unabsorbed costs were attributable to adjustments of fixed production 
overheads to the costs of conversion based on normal capacity versus actual levels, due to production levels being below normal 
capacity in 2010.  
   

The following table presents an analysis of our inventory reserves:  
   

   
Other long term obligations  

Brazil has a federal excise tax (Imposto sobre Productos Industrializados – “IPI”) that applies for manufactured goods. The 
Brazilian Constitution provides a general basis for recognizing tax credits on the purchase of raw material used in production (“IPI 
tax credit”). Based on legal precedent, in prior years we recognized IPI tax credits in the aggregate amount of $3.1 million. The 
Brazilian tax authority challenged the recording of IPI tax credits based on this legal precedent, litigated the issue, and the Federal 
Superior Court of Justice decided in their favor.  

In 2009, the Brazilian government announced special programs providing for reductions in the tax due, penalty, interest, 
and legal costs if we agreed to pay the reduced amount. In November 2009 we paid $3.9 million to settle the liability. Our 
Consolidated Statement of Operations includes a credit of $4.3 million for the derecognition of this liability. These reductions did not 
have an impact on our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.  

(11) Commitments  
Lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases extending for one year or more will require the following 

future payments:  
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    At December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Balance at beginning of year    $ 2,971      $ 4,110      $ 4,545    
Additions      2,748        4,436        1,004    
Deductions      (1,609 )      (4,001 )      (1,657 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at end of year    $ 4,110      $ 4,545      $ 3,892    
      

  

      

  

      

  

    At December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Balance at beginning of year    $ 1,468      $ 2,108      $ 2,518    
Additions      2,675        3,286        2,844    
Deductions      (2,035 )      (2,876 )      (2,646 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at end of year    $ 2,108      $ 2,518      $ 2,716    
      

  

      

  

      

  

    (Dollars in thousands)   
2011    $ 2,544    
2012      2,027    
2013      1,666    
2014      321    
2015      164    
After 2015      0    
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Total lease and rental expenses under non-cancelable operating leases extending one year or more approximated $2.1 
million in 2008, $2.5 million in 2009 and $2.6 million in 2010.  

We were parties to long-term contracts with ConocoPhillips for the supply of petroleum coke. These supply agreements 
contained customary terms and conditions including annual price negotiations, dispute resolution and termination provisions, 
including, upon a termination, a three year supply arrangement with reducing volume commitments. During 2010, these termination 
provisions were exercised, and the contract was formally terminated as of December 31, 2010. Based on the provisions, we have 
negotiated the required three year supply arrangements, with quantities of needle coke which we believe are sufficient for our raw 
material requirements as forecasted and with pricing based on market prices. Based on the provisions of this arrangement, as well 
as other customary agreements with other suppliers, we are required to purchase $186.0 million during 2011, $160.6 million during 
2012 and $124.3 million during 2013, based on current market prices.  

We have supply agreements that require us to purchase $6.7 million of electricity from January 2011 through December 
2012.  

In 2001 we outsourced the management of the data services, networks, desktops and laptops of our information 
technology function to CGI Group Inc. (“CGI”). CGI agreed to purchase our existing information technology fixed assets and fund 
the initial implementation of our global enterprise resource planning systems with advanced manufacturing, planning and 
scheduling software. These expenditures were included in the aggregate commitment for which we recorded a liability that was to 
be repaid over the 10-year term of the agreement, with an expiration date of April 30, 2011. On December 1, 2009, we informed 
CGI of our intention to terminate the agreement on June 30, 2010. The agreement required us to pay the remaining aggregate 
commitment and an early termination penalty.  

We paid CGI $1.4 million on December 29, 2009, which included: a $0.8 million payment for the aggregate commitment 
fee from the contract termination date through the contract expiration date; a $0.5 million early termination penalty; and $0.1 million 
for sales tax and cancelled projects net of an early payment discount. At December 31, 2009, the remaining aggregate commitment 
fee was $0.4 million and was included in other accrued liabilities current. It was fully repaid during 2010.  

At December 31, 2010, we had outstanding letters of credit of $3.4 million under the Revolving Facility.  

(12) Retirement Plans and Postretirement Benefits  

Retirement Plans  
On February 26, 1991, we formed our own retirement plan covering substantially all our U.S. employees. Under our plan, 

covered employees earned benefit payments based primarily on their service credits and wages subsequent to February 26, 1991.  

Prior to that date, substantially all our U.S. employees were participants in the U.S. retirement plan of Union Carbide 
Corporation (“Union Carbide”). While service credit was frozen, covered employees continued to earn benefits under the Union 
Carbide plan based on their final average wages through February 26, 1991, adjusted for salary increases (not to exceed six 
percent per annum) through January 26, 1995, the date Union Carbide ceased to own a minimum 50% of the equity of GTI. The 
Union Carbide plan is responsible for paying retirement and death benefits earned as of February 26, 1991.  

Effective January 1, 2002, we established a defined contribution plan for U.S employees. Certain employees had the 
option to remain in our defined benefit plan for an additional period of up to five years. Employees not covered by this option had 
their benefits under our defined benefit plan frozen as of December 31, 2001, and began participating in the defined contribution 
plan.  

Effective March 31, 2003, we curtailed our qualified benefit plan and the benefits were frozen as of that date for the U.S. 
employees who had the option to remain in our defined benefit plan. We also closed our non-qualified U.S. defined benefit plan for 
the participating salaried workforce. The employees began participating in the defined contribution plan as of April 1, 2003.  
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We make quarterly contributions equal to 1% of each employee’s total eligible pay. We recorded expense of $0.6 million, 
$0.5 million and $0.5 million for contributions to this plan in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. All such contributions were made 
using company stock.  

Pension coverage for employees of foreign subsidiaries is provided, to the extent deemed appropriate, through separate 
plans. Obligations under such plans are systematically provided for by depositing funds with trustees, under insurance policies or 
by book reserves.  

The components of our consolidated net pension costs are set forth in the following table.  
   

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income:  
   

We estimate that our 2011 pension cost will include amortization of $0.1 million of prior service cost and $7.2 million of net 
actuarial losses from stockholders’ equity.  
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     For the Year Ended December 31,   

     2008     2009     2010   

     U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   
     (Dollars in thousands)   

Service cost     $ 371      $ 255      $ 372      $ 230      $ 400      $ 257    
Interest cost       7,474        3,003        7,374        2,571        7,114        2,668    
Expected return on assets       (8,713 )      (2,924 )      (8,112 )      (2,381 )      (7,543 )      (2,166 )  
Amortizations       930        396        1,555        817        3,350        2,168    
Settlement (gain) loss       0        167        0        (10 )      0        48    
Curtailment (gain) loss       0        0        0        (49 )      0        0    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

   $ 62      $ 897      $ 1,189      $ 1,178      $ 3,321      $ 2,975    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

     For the Year Ended December 31,   

     2008     2009     2010   

     U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   
     (Dollars in thousands)   

Net (gain) loss     $ 39,273      $ 5,486      $ (3,813 )    $ 6,055      $ 6,464      $ 2,880    
Prior service cost       0        0        0        361        0        0    
Amortization of initial net asset       0        (6 )      0        0        0        0    
Amortization of prior service cost       0        (43 )      0        (40 )      0        (53 )  
Amortization of net loss       (930 )      (347 )      (1,554 )      (777 )      (3,350 )      (2,163 )  
Effect of exchange rates       0        1,152        0        1,097        0        (527 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss     $ 38,343      $ 6,242      $ (5,367 )    $ 6,696      $ 3,114      $ 137    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Total recognized in pension costs and other 
comprehensive loss     $ 38,405      $ 7,139      $ (4,178 )    $ 7,874      $ 6,435      $ 3,112    
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The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of our pension plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of assets, and 
funded status at December 31, 2009 and 2010 are:  
   

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $177.3 million and $188.6 million at 
December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively.  
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    At December 31,   

    2009     2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Changes in Benefit Obligation:          

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year    $ 123,285      $ 39,974      $ 127,310      $ 50,812    
Service cost      372        230        400        257    
Interest cost      7,374        2,571        7,114        2,668    
Participant contributions      0        92        0        105    
Plan amendments / curtailments      0        312        0        0    
Foreign currency exchange changes      0        4,712        0        (1,730 )  
Actuarial (gain) loss      5,818        6,200        9,128        5,579    
Settlement      0        (113 )      0        (189 )  
Benefits paid      (9,539 )      (3,166 )      (9,261 )      (2,627 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net benefit obligation at end of year    $ 127,310      $ 50,812      $ 134,691      $ 54,875    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Changes in Plan Assets:          

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year    $ 74,860      $ 40,994      $ 83,634      $ 47,835    
Actual return on plan assets      17,743        2,526        10,207        4,864    
Foreign currency exchange rate changes      0        4,927        0        (1,511 )  
Employer contributions      570        2,575        1,316        297    
Participant contributions      0        92        0        105    
Settlement      0        (113 )      0        (189 )  
Benefits paid      (9,539 )      (3,166 )      (9,261 )      (2,627 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year    $ 83,634      $ 47,835      $ 85,896      $ 48,774    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Funded status overfunded (underfunded):    $ (43,676 )    $ (2,977 )    $ (48,795 )    $ (6,101 )  
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensi ve loss:          

Initial net asset (obligation)    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0      $ 0    
Prior service credit      0        (402 )      0        (321 )  
Net loss      (53,114 )      (13,955 )      (56,227 )      (14,174 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss    $ (53,114 )    $ (14,357 )    $ (56,227 )    $ (14,495 )  
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial po sition:          

Non-current assets    $ 0      $ 309      $ 0      $ 49    
Current liabilities      (560 )      (33 )      (559 )      (8 )  
Non-current liabilities      (43,116 )      (3,253 )      (48,236 )      (6,142 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net amount recognized    $ (43,676 )    $ (2,977 )    $ (48,795 )    $ (6,101 )  
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  



Table of Contents  

At December 31, 2009 and 2010, U.S. plan assets were comprised of cash and shares of diversified funds held with 
registered investment companies (Level 1), the fair value of which we determine using quoted prices in active markets. The fair 
asset values as of these U.S. plan assets as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:  
   

We are in the process of purchasing a bulk annuity policy for our U.K. pension plan in order to align the plan assets with 
our obligations, with the ultimate goal of settling the U.K. liability as soon as possible. As of December 31, 2010, we have 
purchased over approximately 91% of the total annuity policy that will be required to fully annuitize this liability. Premiums paid 
towards the annuity contract as of December 31, 2010, are revocable until we obtain full annuitization.  

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value:  

Diversified funds : Valued at the net asset value of the shares held at year end.  

Debt securities issued by foreign governments : Valued at the net value of the debt instruments held at year end.  

Fixed insurance contracts : Valued as the present value of guaranteed payment streams.  

Investment contracts : Valued as the total cost of annuity contracts purchased, adjusted for timing differences between the 
date of purchase and December 31, 2010.  

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective 
of future fair values. Furthermore, although we believe the valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could 
result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.  

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the assets at fair value as of December 31, 2009 and 
2010 for international plans (dollars in thousands):  
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    At December 31, 2010   

Equity securities    $ 59,493    
Debt securities      25,684    
Cash and cash equivalents      719    

      
  

Total    $ 85,896    
      

  

Levels 1 and 2           

            At December 31,   

Asset Type:    Category      2009      2010   

Cash and cash equivalents       Level 1       $ 2,285       $ 772    
Debt securities issued by foreign governments       Level 2         1,077         1,165    

Level 3              

Asset Type:   

December 31, 
 

2009     Purchases     Gains      Distributions      

December 31, 
 

2010   

Investment contracts    $ 42,954      $ 2,099      $ 2,509       $ (2,468 )     $ 45,094    
Fixed insurance contracts      1,519        210        203         (189 )       1,743    

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

  $ 44,473      $ 2,309      $ 2,712       $ (2,657 )     $ 46,837    
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We annually re-evaluate assumptions and estimates used in projecting pension assets, liabilities and expenses. These 
assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of pension assets, liabilities and expenses in our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Assumptions used to determine net pension costs and projected benefit obligations are:  
   

   

We adjust our discount rate annually in relation to the rate at which the benefits could be effectively settled. Discount rates 
are set for each plan in reference to the yields available on AA-rated corporate bonds of appropriate currency and duration. The 
appropriate discount rate is derived by developing an AA-rated corporate bond yield curve in each currency. The discount rate for a 
given plan is the rate implied by the yield curve for the duration of that plan’s liabilities. In certain countries, where little public 
information is available on which to base discount rate assumptions, the discount rate is based on government bond yields or other 
indices and approximate adjustments to allow for the differences in weighted durations for the specific plans and/or allowance for 
assumed credit spreads between government and AA rated corporate bonds.  

The expected return on assets assumption represents our best estimate of the long-term return on plan assets and 
generally was estimated by computing a weighted average return of the underlying long-term expected returns on the different 
asset classes, based on the target asset allocations. The expected return on assets assumption is a long-term assumption that is 
expected to remain the same from one year to the next unless there is a significant change in the target asset allocation, the fees 
and expenses paid by the plan or market conditions. However, we have adjusted this estimate downward as a result of the recent 
decline in global market conditions.  

The rate of compensation increase assumption is generally based on salary increases.  

Plan Assets. The following table presents our retirement plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2010, 
by asset category :  
   

Investment Policy and Strategy. The investment policy and strategy of the U.S. plan is to invest approximately 70% (60% 
large cap, 25% small- and mid-cap, 15% international) in equities and approximately 30% in short duration fixed income securities. 
The plan can be invested up to 80% in equities, including shares of our common stock. Rebalancing is undertaken monthly. To the 
extent we maintain plans in other countries, target asset allocation is 100% fixed income investments. For each plan, the 
investment policy is set within both asset return and local statutory requirements.  
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Pension Benefit  
Obligations At  
December 31,   

      2009         2010     
Weighted average assumptions to determine benefit obligations:      

Discount rate      5.67 %      4.98 %  
Rate of compensation increase      3.62 %      3.02 %  

    

Pension Benefit  
Costs At  

December 31,   

      2009         2010     
Weighted average assumptions to determine net cost:      

Discount rate      6.23 %      5.67 %  
Expected return on plan assets      7.12 %      7.17 %  
Rate of compensation increase      2.74 %      3.62 %  

    

Percentage of Plan Assets at  
December 31, 2010   

    US     Foreign   

Equity securities      70 %      0 %  
Fixed Income      30 %      100 %  

      
  

      
  

Total      100 %      100 %  
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The following table presents our retirement plan weighted average target asset allocations at December 31, 2010, by 
asset category:  
   

Information for our pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31, 2009 
and 2010 follows:  
   

Information for our pension plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 
2010 follows:  
   

Following is our projected future pension plan cash flow by year:  
   

Postretirement Benefit Plans  
We provide life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees. These benefits are provided through various insurance 

companies and health care providers. We accrue the estimated net postretirement benefit costs during the employees’ credited 
service periods.  

In July 2002, we amended our U.S. postretirement medical coverage. In 2003 and 2004, we discontinued the Medicare 
Supplement Plan (for retirees 65 years or older or those eligible for Medicare benefits). This change applied to all U.S. active 
employees and retirees. In June 2003, we announced the termination of the existing early retiree medical plan for retirees under 
age 65, effective December 31, 2005. In addition, we limited the amount of retiree’s life insurance after December 31, 2004. These 
modifications are accounted for prospectively. The impact of these changes is being amortized over the average remaining period 
to full eligibility of the related postretirement benefits. These amortizations, along with other benefit costs, resulted in a $5.2 million 
net cost in 2008, a $4.9 million net cost in 2009 and a $3.7 million cost in 2010, reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 
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Percentage of Plan Assets at  
December 31, 2010   

    US     Foreign   

Equity securities      70 %      0 %  
Fixed Income      30 %      100 %  

      
  

      
  

Total      100 %      100 %  
      

  

      

  

    2009     2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Accumulated benefit obligation    $ 127,310      $ 2,621      $ 134,691      $ 51,213    
Fair value of plan assets      83,634        0        85,896        45,866    

    2009     2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Projected benefit obligation    $ 127,310      $ 3,286      $ 134,691      $ 53,181    
Fair value of plan assets      83,634        0        85,896        47,031    

    U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Expected contributions in 2011:        

Expected employer contributions    $ 3,940      $ 188    
Expected employee contributions      0        0    

Estimated future benefit payments reflecting expect ed future service 
for the years ending December 31:      

2011      9,419        2,639    
2012      9,495        3,062    
2013      9,535        3,092    
2014      9,401        3,947    
2015      9,304        3,229    
2016-2020      46,846        18,627    
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During 2009, we amended one of our US plans to eliminate the life insurance benefit for certain non-pooled participants. 
As a result, we recorded a $0.6 million curtailment gain in 2009.  

The components of our consolidated net postretirement costs are set forth in the following table.  
   

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are:  
   

We estimate that in 2011 our postretirement costs will include amortization of $0.2 million of prior service credit and $1.9 
million of actuarial losses from stockholders’ equity.  
   

98  

    For the Year Ended December 31,   

    2008     2009      2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign      U.S.      Foreign   
    (Dollars in thousands)   

Service cost    $ 26      $ 345      $ 10      $ 179       $ 0       $ 163    
Interest cost      1,080        1,134        1,033        981         685         1,074    
Amortization      2,581        14        3,474        (139 )       1,888         (158 )  

Curtailment gain      0        0        (644 )      0         0         0    
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
       

  
       

  

  $ 3,687      $ 1,493      $ 3,873      $ 1,021       $ 2,573       $ 1,079    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

       

  

       

  

    For the Year Ended December 31,   

    2008     2009      2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign      U.S.      Foreign   
    (Dollars in thousands)   

Net loss (gain)    $ (1,827 )    $ (3,191 )    $ 926      $ 127       $ (3,164 )     $ 1,051    
Amortization of prior service cost      1,090        187        0        175         0         193    
Amortization of initial net asset      0        0        0        0         0         0    
Amortization of net loss      (3,671 )      (201 )      (2,831 )      (36 )       (1,888 )       (35 )  
Effect of exchange rates      0        (4,020 )      0        (2,465 )       0         (93 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

       
  

       
  

Total recognized in other comprehensive income    $ (4,408 )    $ (7,225 )    $ (1,905 )    $ (2,199 )     $ (5,052 )     $ 1,116    
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
       

  
       

  

Total recognized in net post retirement cost (benef it) and 
other comprehensive income    $ (721 )    $ (5,732 )    $ 1,968      $ (1,178 )     $ (2,479 )     $ 2,195    
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The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of benefit obligations under, fair value of assets of, and the funded 
status of, our postretirement plans is set forth in the following table:  
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Postretirement Benefits at  
December 31,   

    2009     2010   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Changes in Benefit Obligation:          

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year    $ 17,470      $ 12,415      $ 17,493      $ 15,291    
Service cost      10        179        0        163    
Interest cost      1,033        981        685        1,074    
Foreign currency exchange rates      0        2,616        0        1,275    
Actuarial loss (gain)      1,676        127        (3,164 )      1,051    
Curtailment      (751 )      0        0        0    
Gross benefits paid      (1,945 )      (1,027 )      (539 )     (1,081 ) 

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net benefit obligation at end of year    $ 17,493      $ 15,291      $ 14,475      $ 17,773    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Changes in Plan Assets:          

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0      $ 0    
Employer contributions      1,945        1,027        539        1,081    
Gross benefits paid      (1,945 )      (1,027 )      (539 )      (1,081 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year    $ 0      $ 0      $ 0      $ 0    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Funded status:    $ (17,493 )    $ (15,291 )    $ (14,475 )    $ (17,773 )  
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensi ve loss:          

Initial net asset (obligations)    $ 0        0      $ 0      $ 0    
Prior service credit      0        2,666        0        2,604    
Net loss      (30,095 )      (867 )      (25,043 )      (1,922 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    $ (30,095 )      1,799      $ (25,043 )    $ 682    
      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial po sition:          

Current liabilities    $ (2,013 )      (1,065 )    $ (1,548 )    $ (1,145 )  
Non-current liabilities      (15,480 )      (14,226 )      (12,927 )      (16,628 ) 

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net amount recognized    $ (17,493 )    $ (15,291 )    $ (14,475 )    $ (17,773 )  
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We annually re-evaluate assumptions and estimates used in projecting the postretirement liabilities and expenses. These 
assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of postretirement plan liabilities and expenses in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Assumptions used to determine net postretirement benefit costs and postretirement projected benefit 
obligation are set forth in the following table:  
   

   

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for our postretirement benefits. A 
one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects at December 31, 2010:  
   

Discount rates are set for each plan in reference to the yields available on AA-rated corporate bonds of appropriate 
currency and duration. The appropriate discount rate is derived by developing an AA-rated corporate bond yield curve in each 
currency. The discount rate for a given plan is the rate implied by the yield curve for the duration of that plan’s liabilities. In certain 
countries, where little public information is available on which to base discount rate assumptions, the discount rate is based on 
government bond yields or other indices and approximate adjustments to allow for the differences in weighted durations for the 
specific plans and/or allowance for assumed credit spreads between government and AA-rated corporate bonds.  
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Postretirement  
Benefit  

Obligations At  
December 31,   

    2009     2010   
Weighted average assumptions to determine benefit obligations:      

Discount rate      5.96 %      5.52 %  
Health care cost trend on covered charges:      

Initial      6.68 %      6.68    
Ultimate      5.61 %      5.66    
Years to ultimate      7        7    

    

Postretirement  
Benefit  

Costs At  
December 31,   

    2009     2010   
Weighted average assumptions to determine net cost:      

Discount rate      6.76 %      5.96 %  
Health care cost trend on covered charges:      

Initial      6.74 %      6.68 %  
Ultimate      5.59 %      5.61 %  
Years to ultimate      8        1    

    

One  
Percentage  

Point Increase     

One  
Percentage  

Point Decrease   

    U.S.     Foreign     U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Effect on total service cost and interest cost 
components    $ 10      $ 135      $ (10 )    $ (110 )  

Effect on benefit obligations    $ 254      $ 1,284      $ (238 )    $ (1,055 )  
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The following table represents projected future postretirement cash flow by year:  
   

Other Non-Qualified Benefit Plans  
Since January 1, 1995, we have established various unfunded, non-qualified supplemental retirement and deferred 

compensation plans for certain eligible employees. We established benefits protection trusts (collectively, the “ Trust ”) to partially 
provide for the benefits of employees participating in these plans. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2010, the Trust had 
assets of approximately $3.1 million and $4.3 million, respectively, which are included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. These assets include 76,259 shares of common stock that we contributed to the Trust. These shares, if later sold, could be 
used for partial funding of our future obligations under certain of our compensation and benefit plans. The shares held in Trust are 
not considered outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share until they are committed to be sold or otherwise used for 
funding purposes.  

Savings Plan  
Our employee savings plan provides eligible employees the opportunity for long-term savings and investment. The plan 

allows employees to contribute up to 5% of pay as a basic contribution and an additional 45% of pay as supplemental contribution. 
For 2008, 2009 and 2010, we contributed on behalf of each participating employee, in units of a fund that invests entirely in our 
common stock, 100% on the first 3% contributed by the employee and 50% on the next 2% contributed by the employee. We 
contributed 188,527 shares in 2008, resulting in an expense of $2.7 million; 258,436 shares in 2009, resulting in an expense of $2.5 
million; and 175,530 shares in 2010, resulting in an expense of $2.7 million.  

(13) Management Compensation and Incentive Plans  

Stock-Based Compensation  
We have historically maintained several stock incentive plans. The plans permitted the granting of options, restricted stock 

and other awards. At December 31, 2010, the aggregate number of shares authorized under the plans since their initial adoption 
was 23,300,000.  

Stock-Based Compensation  
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, we recognized $3.2 million and $7.4 million, respectively, in 

stock-based compensation expense. A majority of the expense, $3.1 million and $6.8 million, respectively, was recorded as selling 
and administrative in the Consolidated Statements of Income, with the remainder recorded as cost of sales and research and 
development. We expect our stock-based compensation expense to approximate $12.0 million in 2011.  

As of December 31, 2010, the total compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock and stock options not yet 
recognized was $19.2 million which will be recognized over the weighted average life of 1.73 years.  

In December 2010, the 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2010 LTIP”) under our 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved. 
Under 2010 LTIP we granted 223,400 stock options with an exercise price of $19.89; 111,650 restricted share units; and up to 
299,400 performance shares, which represent the right to receive shares contingent upon the achievement of one or more 
performance measures. The options vest as to one-third of the grant on each of the next three grant date anniversaries and expire 
ten years from the grant date.  
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    U.S.     Foreign   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Expected contributions in 2011:        

Expected employer contributions    $ 1,548      $ 1,157    
Expected employee contributions      0        0    

Estimated future benefit payments reflecting expect ed future service for 
the years ending December 31:      

2011      1,548        1,157    
2012      1,526        1,172    
2013      1,499        1,178    
2014      1,454        1,189    
2015      1,379        1,194    
2016-2020      5,450        6,217    
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The restricted share units vest as to one-third of the grant on each of the next three grant date anniversaries. Performance shares 
are earned based on our ranking of revenue and EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) growth compared to a target peer group 
for a three year period beginning January 1, 2011. Compensation for performance shares can fluctuate based on our relative 
performance to the peer groups as well as how we perform to the targets. Performance shares earned will vest on March 31, 2014, 
provided the participant is still be employed by us on that date.  

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation  
Restricted Stock and Performance Shares. Compensation expense for restricted stock and performance share awards is 

based on the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant, less our assumptions of dividend yield and expected 
forfeitures or cancellations of awards throughout the vesting period, which generally range between one and three years. The 
weighted average grant date fair value of restricted stock and performance shares was approximately $12.07 and $17.80 per share 
at December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively.  

Restricted stock and performance share awards activity under the plans for the year ended December 31, 2010, was:  
   

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we granted 632,349 shares of restricted stock and performance shares to 
certain directors, officers and employees at prices ranging from $12.08 to $19.89. Of the total shares granted, 131,250 will vest 
over a three year period, with one-third of the shares vesting on the anniversary date of the grant in each of the next three years. 
The remaining shares vest over periods ranging from six months to three years depending on company service or company service 
and company-wide performance targets. Unvested shares granted to each employee also vest upon the occurrence of a change in 
control, as defined. Unvested shares are forfeited based on the terms of the award.  

Stock Options. Compensation expense for stock options is based on the estimated fair value of the option on the date of 
the grant. We calculate the estimated fair value of the option using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. During 2010, we 
granted 252,900 options to certain of our directors, officers and employees. The weighted-average fair value of the options granted 
in 2010 was $11.57. During 2009, we granted 227,300 options to certain of our directors, officers and employees. The weighted-
average fair value of the options granted in 2009 was $10.35. The weighted average assumptions used in our Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model for options granted in 2009 and 2010 are:  
   

Dividend Yield . A dividend assumption of 0% is used for all grants based on our history of not paying dividends.  

Expected Volatility . We estimate the volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of 
our common stock. The volatility factor we use is based on our historical stock prices over the most recent period 
commensurate with the estimated expected life of the award.  

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently  
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Number  
of  

Shares     

Weighted -  
Average  

Grant  
Date Fair  

Value   

Outstanding unvested at January 1, 2010      1,146,256      $ 12.07    
Granted      632,349        17.80    
Vested      (406,884 )      8.45    
Forfeited/canceled/expired      (33,668 )      10.60    

      
  

      
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2010      1,338,053      $ 15.91    
      

  

  

    

For the Year  
Ended  

December  31,  
2009     

For the Year  
Ended  

December  31,  
2010   

Dividend yield      0%        0%    
Expected volatility      69.72% –70.61%        64.53% – 69.76%    
Risk-free interest rate      2.57% – 3.25%        1.43% – 3.08%    
Expected term in years      5.5 – 6 years        6 years    
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available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term equal to the expected life of the award.  

Expected Term In Years. The expected life of awards granted represents the time period that the awards are expected to 
be outstanding. We determined the expected term of the 2010 grants using the “simplified” method as described by the 
SEC, since we do not have a history of stock option awards to provide a reliable basis for estimating such.  

Stock option activity under the plans for the year ended December 31, 2010 was:  
   

Options outstanding at December 31, 2010, have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.68 years, a weighted 
average remaining vesting period of 1.7 years, and an aggregate intrinsic value of $10.0 million. The intrinsic value of options 
exercised for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $5.0 million.  
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Number  
of  

Shares     

Weighted -  
Average  
Exercise  

Price   

Outstanding unvested at January 1, 2010      1,512,538      $ 9.80    
Granted      252,900        19.39    
Forfeited/canceled/expired      (44,251 )      13.36    
Exercised      (447,080 )      8.72    

      
  

      
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2010      1,274,107      $ 11.96    
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Stock options outstanding and exercisable under our plans at December 31, 2010 are:  
   

   
At December 31, 2010, we have 1,050,123 options vested and expected to vest in the next year. Options exercisable at 

December 31, 2010, have a weighted-average contractual life of 5.34 years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $9.5 million.  

Incentive Compensation Plans  
We have a global incentive program for our worldwide salaried and hourly employees, the Incentive Compensation 

Program (the “ ICP ”), which includes a shareholder-approved executive incentive compensation plan. The ICP is based primarily 
on earnings before income taxes and achieving cash flow targets and, to a lesser extent, strategic targets. The balance of our 
accrued liability for ICP was $21.2 million and $16.8 million at December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively.  

(14) Contingencies  

Legal Proceedings  
We are involved in various investigations, lawsuits, claims, demands, environmental compliance programs and other legal 

proceedings arising out of or incidental to the conduct of our business. While it is not possible to determine the ultimate disposition 
of each of these matters, we do not believe that their ultimate disposition will have a material adverse effect on our financial 
position, results of operations or cash flows.  

Product Warranties  
We generally sell products with a limited warranty. We accrue for known warranty claims if a loss is probable and can be 

reasonably estimated. We also accrue for estimated warranty claims incurred based on a historical claims charge analysis. Claims 
accrued but not yet paid amounted to $1.2 million at December 31, 2009, and $2.7 million at December 31, 2010. The following 
table presents the activity in this accrual for the year ended December 31, 2010:  
   

(15) Income Taxes  
The following table summarizes the U.S. and non-U.S. components of income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income 

taxes.  
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    Options Outstanding      Options Exercisable   

Range of Exercise 
Prices   

Number  
Outstanding     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Life in  
Years     

Weighted 
 

Average 
Exercise 

Prices      

Number  
Exercisable      

Weighted 
 

Average 
Exercise 

Prices   

$2.83 to $11.95      777,186        3.48      $ 8.26         777,186       $ 8.26    
$12.36 to $19.89      496,921        9.14        17.77         108,438         15.53    

      
  

           
  

   

    1,274,107             885,624       
      

  

           

  

   

    (Dollars in Thousands)   
Balance at December 31, 2009  

  

$  

1,239 
   

Product warranty charges      2,000    
Payments and settlements      (586 )  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2010  
  

$  

2,653 
   

      

  

    

For the Year Ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

U.S.    $ (8,898 )    $ (58,053 )    $ 30,602    
Non-U.S.      271,544        94,747        144,105    

      
  

      
  

      
  

  $ 262,646      $ 36,694      $ 174,707    
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Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following table.  
   

Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% to 
income before provision (benefit) for income taxes as set forth in the following table.  
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For the Year Ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

U.S income taxes:        

Current    $ 19,462      $ 18,373      $ 6,307    
Deferred      5,883        (9,894 )      (29,060 ) 

      
  

      
  

      
  

    25,345        8,479        (22,753 )  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Non-U.S. income taxes:        

Current      39,573        14,617        21,638    
Deferred      (2,787 )      1,048        754   

      
  

      
  

      
  

    36,786        15,665        22,392    
      

  
      

  
      

  

Total income tax expense    $ 62,131      $ 24,144      $ (361 )  
      

  

      

  

      

  

    

For the Year Ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Tax at statutory U.S. federal rate    $ 91,926      $ 12,844      $ 61,147    
Valuation allowance, net      (2,186 )      22,848        (41,715 )  
State tax expense, net of federal tax benefit      2,802        53        337    
Tax return adjustments to estimated tax expense      (277 )      (2,598 )      3,311    
Non-controlling interest gain      0        0        (3,345 )  
Nondeductible expenses acquisition cost      0        0        5,324    
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions      1,117        6,141        (1,151 )  
U.S. tax impact of foreign earnings, net of foreign tax credits      (34,902 )      4,693        (19,450 )  
Non-U.S. tax exemptions, holidays and credits      (3,763 )      (5,147 )      (4,781 )  
Worthless stock deduction      0        (14,067 )      0    
Tax effect of permanent differences      7,464        (24 )      (19 )  
Other      (50 )      (599 )      (19 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total income tax expense (benefit)    $ 62,131      $ 24,144      $ (361 )  
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities at December 31, 2009, and December 31, 2010 are set forth in the following table.  
   

   
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified on a net current and non-current basis within each tax jurisdiction. 

Net current deferred income tax assets are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the amount of $6.8 million at 
December 31, 2009 and $7.2 million at December 31, 2010. Net non-current deferred tax assets are separately stated as deferred 
income taxes in the amount of $11.4 million at December 31, 2009 and $6.7 million at December 31, 2010. Net current deferred tax 
liabilities are included in accrued income and other taxes in the amount of $3.2 million at December 31, 2009 and $3.5 million at 
December 31, 2010. Net non-current deferred tax liabilities are separately stated as deferred income taxes in the amount of $25.5 
million at December 31, 2009 and $72.3 million at December 31, 2010.  

We have assessed the need to establish valuation allowances for deferred tax assets based on determinations of whether 
it is more likely than not that deferred tax benefits will be realized through the generation of future taxable income. Appropriate 
consideration is given to all available evidence, both positive and negative, in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. The 
decrease in total valuation allowance for 2010 was $31.9 million, primarily due to the Acquisitions on November 30, 2010. As the 
result of the Acquisitions, GrafTech is now in a net deferred tax liability position on its temporary differences. The valuation 
allowance position on these U.S. federal temporary differences was released except for deferred tax assets that require a particular 
source of income. acquisition of Seadrift Coke L.P. and CG Electrodes, LLC. Until we determine that it is more likely than not that 
we will  
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    At December 31,   

    2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Deferred tax assets:      

Postretirement and other employee benefits    $ 45,381      $ 46,384    
Foreign tax credit and other carryforwards      91,122        85,342    
Capitalized research and experimental costs      3,955        2,670    
Inventory adjustments      6,182        5,146    
Capital loss      3,249        3,253    
Other      15,819        12,920    

      
  

      
  

Total gross deferred tax assets      165,708        155,715    
Less: valuation allowance      (106,831 )      (74,945 )  

      
  

      
  

Total deferred tax assets    $ 58,877      $ 80,770    
      

  

      

  

Deferred tax liabilities:      

Fixed assets    $ 36,969      $ 87,610    
Debt discount amortization      0        15,269    
Inventory      4,952        3,950    
Undistributed foreign earnings      16,959        0    
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain      648        2,227    
Investment in non-consolidated affiliate      9,245        0    
Goodwill and acquired intangibles      0        32,212    
Other      517        1,424    

      
  

      
  

Total deferred tax liabilities      69,290        142,692    
      

  
      

  

Net deferred tax liability    $ 10,413      $ (61,922 )  
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generate sufficient jurisdictional taxable income to realize our other deferred income tax assets, these assets will continue to be 
fully reserved  

Valuation allowance activity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 follows:  
   

We have total foreign tax credit carryforwards of $53.9 million at December 31, 2010. Of these tax credit carryforwards, 
$23.8 million expires in 2012, $1.5 million expires in 2013, $1.2 million expires in 2014, $3.7 million expires in 2015, and $23.7 
million expires in 2016.  

In addition, we have state carryforwards on a gross tax effected basis of $14.2 million, which can be carried forward from 
5 to 20 years. Historically, a full valuation allowance position existed on the state deferred taxes. As a result of the Acquisitions, we 
are now in a deferred tax liability position on our state temporary differences. The valuation allowance position that existed on these 
deferred tax assets was released except for deferred tax assets that require a particular value of income.  

Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections of future taxable income over the periods during which 
the other state carryforwards are utilizable, we do not believe it is more likely than not that we will realize the tax benefits of these 
deferred tax assets. Until we determine that we will generate sufficient jurisdictional taxable income to realize our other state 
deferred tax assets, these assets will continue to be fully reserved.  

The amount of state net operating loss carryforwards reflected in the table above has been reduced by $1.5 million as a 
result of unrealized stock option deductions.  

We have foreign loss carryforwards on a gross tax effected basis of $14.5 million, which can be carried forward from 5 
years to indefinitely.  

As of December 31, 2010, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $13.7 million which would have a favorable impact on our 
effective tax rate. However, for the majority of the unrecognized tax benefits, there would be no rate impact since they relate to 
items for which a valuation allowance is currently recorded. We have elected to report interest and penalties related to uncertain tax 
positions as income tax expense. Accrued interest and penalties were $0.5 million as of December 31, 2008, $0.3 million as of 
December 31, 2009 and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2010. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:  
   

It is anticipated that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change by up to $2.2 million due to settlements and 
statute of limitations expiration in 2011.  
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For the year ended  
December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Balance at January 1    $ 124,500      $ 42,900      $ 106,831    
(Credited) / charged to income      (2,200 )      22,848        (10,851 )  
Acquisition accounting      (22,400 )      0        (30,333 )  
Translation adjustment      (2,100 )      1,721        528    
Changes attributable to movement in underlying assets      (55,500 )      39,362        8,882    
Other      600        0        (111 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31    $ 42,900      $ 106,831      $ 74,946    
      

  

      

  

      

  

    December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Balance at January 1    $ 5,154      $ 10,779      $ 20,656    
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year      559        217        0    
Additions for tax positions of prior years      8,419        13,882        15,205    
Reductions for tax positions of prior years      (148 )      (3,705 )      (20,660 )  
Lapse of statutes of limitations      (2,787 )      (580 )      (1,183 )  
Foreign currency impact      (418 )      63        (299 )  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31    $ 10,779      $ 20,656      $ 13,719    
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We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and foreign jurisdictions. We are currently 
under federal audit in the U.S. for tax year 2007. All U.S. tax years prior to 2006 are closed by statute or have been audited and 
settled with the domestic tax authorities. We are also under federal audit in Italy for 2006. Generally, tax years beginning after 2004 
are still open to examination by foreign taxing authorities.  

We have not provided for U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on the December 31, 2010, undistributed 
earnings of our foreign subsidiaries which are considered to be permanently reinvested. These earnings would be taxable upon the 
sale or liquidation of the foreign subsidiaries, or upon the remittance of dividends. While the measurement of the unrecognized U.S. 
income taxes with respect to these earnings is not practicable, foreign tax credits would be available to offset some or all of any 
portion of such earnings that are remitted as dividends.  
   
(16) Earnings Per Share  

The following table shows the information used in the calculation of our basic and diluted earnings per share as of 
December 31:  
   

   
The weighted average common shares outstanding for the diluted calculation excludes consideration of stock options 

covering 19,451 shares in 2008, 281,172 shares in 2009 and 453,700 shares in 2010 because the exercise of these options would 
have been anti-dilutive due to their exercise prices being in excess of the weighted average market price of our common stock for 
each of the applicable periods.  
   
(17) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss  

The balance in our accumulated other comprehensive loss is set forth in the following table:  
   

   
108  

    At December 31,   

    2008     2009     2010   

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Net income, as reported    $ 200,515      $ 12,550      $ 175,068    
Add: Interest on previously held Debentures, net of tax benefit      6,125        0        0    
Add: Amortization of previously held Debentures issuance costs, 

net of tax benefit      370        0        0    
      

  
      

  
      

  

Net income, as adjusted    $ 207,010      $ 12,550      $ 175,068    
      

  

      

  

      

  

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic calculation     111,447,172        119,706,641        122,620,950    
Add: Effect of stock options and restricted stock      1,333,789        1,026,217        831,615    
Add: Effect of previously held Debentures      6,258,337        0        0    

      
  

      
  

      
  

Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted 
calculation      119,039,298        120,732,858        123,452,565    

      

  

      

  

      

  

    For year ended December 31,   

        2009             2010       

    (Dollars in thousands)   

Foreign currency translation adjustments    $ 233,214      $ 239,080    
Unrealized (gains) on securities, net of tax of $83 and $375, respectively      26        (1,039 )  
Amortization of prior service costs and unrecognized gains and losses, net of tax of 

$23,864 and $24,189, respectively      72,404        71,524    
      

  
      

  

Total comprehensive loss    $ 305,644      $ 309,565    
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(18) Subsequent Event  

On February 9, 2011, we purchased substantially all of the assets and assumed certain trade liabilities of Micron 
Research Corporation (“Micron Research”), a subsidiary of E. Holdings, Inc. Micron Research manufactures super fine grain 
graphite materials and today primarily services Electrical Discharge Machining (“EDM”) customers and we intend to utilize their 
technology and capability to service other applications including solar, electronics and medical. The purchase price was $6.5 million 
of cash, subject to a minimum working capital requirement. The substance of the transaction is the acquisition of a business and we 
will account for the transaction following the guidance in ASC 805.  
   

Not applicable.  
   

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be 

disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to 
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, 
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating 
the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.  

The Company carries out a variety of on-going procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of the 
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this report.  

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING  
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined 

in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based 
on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as of December 31, 2010.  

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010 
excluded from it’s scope of our assessment of internal control over financial reporting  
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with respect to the operations and related assets of Seadrift and C/G, both which were acquired during fiscal year 2010. Seadrift 
and C/G are wholly owned subsidiaries whose total assets and total net sales represent 50% and 2%, respectively, of the related 
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010. SEC guidelines permit companies to 
omit an acquired business’s internal controls over financial reporting from its management’s assessment during the first year of the 
acquisition.  

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTIN G  

There has been no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the Company’s most recent 
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial 
reporting.  

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2010 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as 
stated in their report included herein.  
   

We are reporting the following events which have occurred within the last four days and which would otherwise be 
reportable on a Form 8-K.  
   

On February 18, 2011, our board of directors approved a form of indemnification agreement (the “Indemnification 
Agreement”) to be entered into by the Company with its directors and executive officers (each, an “Indemnitee”). The 
Indemnification Agreement supplements existing indemnification provisions set forth in the Company’s organizational documents 
and replaces the prior indemnification agreements that the Company’s directors and executive officers had entered into with the 
Company.  

In general, the Indemnification Agreement provides that, subject to the procedures, limitations and exceptions set forth 
therein, the Company will indemnify (to the fullest extent permitted by law) the Indemnitee if the Indemnitee was, is, or becomes, or 
is threatened to be made a party in a claim or proceeding by reason of any event or circumstance related to, among other things, 
(i) the fact that the Indemnitee is or was serving as a director, officer, or employee of the Company or (ii) anything done or not done 
by the Indemnitee in any such capacity. The Company will also indemnify the Indemnitee against expenses and, if requested by the 
Indemnitee, shall advance such expenses to the Indemnitee as provided in the agreement.  

The above description of the Indemnification Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the Form of Indemnification Agreement, which is filed as Exhibits 10.17 hereto.  

On February 23, 2011, GrafTech entered into two agreements for the supply of petroleum needle coke, effective 
January 1, 2011, one with ConocoPhillips (UK) Limited and the other with ConocoPhillips Company (the “Conoco Agreements”). 
The Conoco Agreements are each for a period of three years and contain customary terms and conditions for the purchase and 
sale of petroleum needle coke, including delivery and price as well as decreasing volumes per each year of each agreement.  

The above description of the Conoco Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by 
reference to the Conoco Agreements, which are filed as Exhibits 10.14.1 and 10.14.2 hereto.  

PART III  

Items 10 to 14 (inclusive).  

Except as set forth below, the information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will appear in the GrafTech International 
Ltd. Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 26, 2011, which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is incorporated by reference in this Report pursuant to General Instruction G(3) 
of Form 10-K (other than the portions thereof not deemed to be “filed” for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934).  
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Executive Officers  
The information set forth below is provided as required by Item 10 and the listing standards of the NYSE.  

The following table sets forth information with respect to our current executive officers and directors, including their ages, 
as of March 1, 2011. There are no family relationships between any of our executive officers.  
   

   
Executive Officers  

Craig S. Shular was elected Chairman of the Board in February 2007. He became Chief Executive Officer and a director 
in January 2003 and has served as President since May 2002. From May 2002 through December 2002, he also served as Chief 
Operating Officer. From August 2001 to May 2002, he served as Executive Vice President of our former Graphite Power Systems 
Division. He served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from January 1999, with the additional duties of Executive Vice 
President, Electrode Sales and Marketing from February 2000, to August 2001. From 1976 through 1998, he held various financial, 
production and business management positions at Union Carbide, including the Carbon Products Division, from 1976 to 1979. We 
are the successor to the Carbon Products Division of Union Carbide. Mr. Shular serves on the Board of Directors of Junior 
Achievement of Greater Cleveland and is a director of Brush Engineered Materials Inc. (NYSE-BW).  

Mark R. Widmar became President, Engineered Solutions in January 2011 and will continue to act as Chief Financial 
Officer, a position he has held since May 2006, until a successor is found. Prior to joining GrafTech, he served as Corporate 
Controller of NCR Inc. from 2005 to 2006, and was a Business Unit Chief Financial Officer for NCR from November 2002 to his 
appointment as Controller. He also served as a Division Controller at Dell, Inc. from August 2000 to November 2002 prior to joining 
NCR, and held various financial and managerial positions with Lucent Technologies Inc. from June 1998 to August 2000, Allied 
Signal, Inc., and Bristol Myers/Squibb, Inc. He received his MBA from Indiana University in 1992, and is a Certified Public 
Accountant.  

Petrus J. Barnard became President of Industrial Materials in February 2008, and became a Vice President in April 2005. 
He was the President of Graphite Electrodes from April 2005 until January 2008. From April 2003 to March 2005 he served as 
President, Advanced Carbon Materials. He served as Executive Vice President, Graphite Power Systems, from March 2000 to 
March 2003. He began his career with us in 1972 when he joined our South Africa subsidiary where he served as Managing 
Director from 1991 to 1994. From November 1994 to September 1997, he was the Director of Operations for Europe and South 
Africa, based in France. In 1997 through 2000, he was the Director of Operations for the Americas. He is a graduate of University of 
Potchefstroom — South Africa with a B.S. Sciences degree and an MBA. He also holds a Ph.D from Rand Afrikaans University.  

Hermanus L. Pretorius became President of Seadrift Coke in January 2011, after having served as the Vice President 
and President, Engineered Solutions from February 2008. He was the President of Advanced Graphite and Carbon from December 
2006 until January 2008. Previously, he was General Manager, Cathodes, starting in September 2005. He served as Director 
Worldwide Operations and Engineering, Graphite Electrodes, from January 2003 to September 2005. From August 2001 to 
January 2003, he served as Managing Director from 1991 to 1994. From November 1994 to September 1997, he was Director of 
Operations for Europe and South Africa, based in France. In 1997 through 2000, he was Director of Operations for the  
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Name   Age     Position 
Craig S. Shular      58      Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of the Board 
Mark R. Widmar      45      Vice President, President, Engineered Solutions and Chief Financial Officer 
Petrus J. Barnard      61      Vice President and President, Industrial Materials 
Hermanus L. Pretorius      60      Vice President and President, Seadrift Coke 
John D. Moran      52      Vice President and General Counsel, Secretary 
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Americas. He began his career with us in Meyerton, South Africa in August 1977 before transferring to UCAR S.A. in Switzerland in 
March 1998. He is a graduate of University of Potchefstroom — South Africa with a B.S. Sciences degree and an MBA.  

John D. Moran became Vice President and General Counsel, Secretary in April 2009. He joined GrafTech in May 2006 
as Deputy General Counsel. From December 1996 to April 2006, he was employed by Corrpro Companies, Inc. serving as General 
Counsel, Senior Vice President & Secretary. He was in-house Counsel and Corporate Secretary for Sealy Corporation between 
January 1987 and December 1996. From 1984 through 1987 he was a tax accountant with Grant Thornton and became a certified 
public accountant. He received a Bachelor of Business Administration in 1980 and Juris Doctorate in 1983 from Cleveland State 
University.  
   

PART IV  
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Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 
  (a)(1) Financial Statements  
     See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at page 67 of this Report.  
  (2) Financial Statement Schedules  
     None.  
  (b) Exhibits  
     The exhibits listed in the following table have been filed with, or incorporated by reference into, this Report.  
     The exhibits listed in the following table have been filed with this Report.  

Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

  2.1.0(1)    

   

Recapitalization and Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 14, 1994 among Union Carbide 
Corporation, Mitsubishi Corporation, GrafTech International Ltd. and GrafTech International Acquisition Inc. and 
Guaranty made by Blackstone Capital Partners II Merchant Banking Fund L.P. and Blackstone Offshore Capital 
Partners II L.P.  

  2.2.0(1)    
   

Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 9, 1990 among Mitsubishi Corporation, Union Carbide 
Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.  

  2.3.0(1)       Transfer Agreement dated January 1, 1989 between Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.  
  2.3.1(1)       Amendment No. 1 to Transfer Agreement dated December 31, 1989.  
  2.3.2(1)       Amendment No. 2 to Transfer Agreement dated July 2, 1990.  
  2.3.3(1)       Amendment No. 3 to Transfer Agreement dated as of February 25, 1991.  
  2.4.0(1)    

   

Amended and Restated Realignment Indemnification Agreement dated as of June 4, 1992 among Union Carbide 
Corporation, Union Carbide Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc., Union Carbide Industrial Gases Inc., UCAR 
Carbon Company Inc. and Union Carbide Coatings Service Corporation.  

  2.5.0(1)    

   

Environmental Management Services and Liabilities Allocation Agreement dated as of January 1, 1990 among Union 
Carbide Corporation, Union Carbide Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc., UCAR Carbon Company Inc., Union 
Carbide Industrial Gases Inc. and Union Carbide Coatings Service Corporation.  

  2.5.1(1)    
   

Amendment No. 1 to Environmental Management Services and Liabilities Allocation Agreement dated as of June 4, 
1992.  
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Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

  2.6.0(2)    
   

Trade Name and Trademark License Agreement dated March 1, 1996 between Union Carbide Corporation and 
UCAR Carbon Technology Corporation.  

  2.7.0(1)    
   

Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities Agreement dated January 1, 1990 between Union Carbide Corporation 
and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.  

  2.7.1(1)       Amendment to Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities Agreement dated January 15, 1991.  
  2.7.2(1)       Supplemental Agreement to Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities Agreement dated February 25, 1991.  
  2.8.0(1)    

   

Letter Agreement dated December 31, 1990 among Union Carbide Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc., UCAR 
Carbon Company Inc., Union Carbide Grafito, Inc. and Union Carbide Corporation.  

  2.9.0(21)    

   

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 28, 2010, among GrafTech International Ltd.,  
GrafTech Holdings Inc., GrafTech Delaware I Inc., GrafTech Delaware II Inc., Seadrift Coke  
L.P., and certain partners of Seadrift Coke L.P.  

  2.10.0
(21) 

   

   

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 28, 2010, by and among GrafTech International  
Ltd., GrafTech Holdings Inc., GrafTech Delaware III Inc., C/G Electrodes, LLC, and certain  
members of C/G Electrodes, LLC.  

  3.1.0(23)       Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GrafTech International Ltd. Dated November 30, 2010.  
  3.2.0(23)       Amended and Restated By-Laws of GrafTech International Ltd. dated November 30, 2010..  
  10.1.0

(21) 
   

   

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 among GrafTech International  
Ltd. GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., GrafTech Switzerland S.A., the LC  
Subsidiaries from time to time party thereto, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, and  
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and Issuing Bank.  

  10.1.1
(21) 

   

   

Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 in respect of the Credit  
Agreement dated as of February 8, 2005 among GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global  
Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., the LC Subsidiaries from time to time party thereto, the  
Lenders from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative  
Agent.  

  10.1.2
(21) 

   

   

Amended and Restated Guarantee Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 made by GrafTech  
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., and the other  
subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. from time to time party thereto, in favor of JPMorgan  
Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  

  10.1.3
(21) 

   

   

Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 made by GrafTech  
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., and the other  
subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. from time to time party thereto, in favor of JPMorgan  
Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  

  10.1.4
(21) 

   

   

Amended and Restated Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement dated as of April 28,  
2010 among GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance  
Inc., each of the other domestic subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. from time to time  
party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  

  10.1.5
(21) 

   

   

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 made by GrafTech  
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., and the other  
subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. from time to time party thereto, in favor of JPMorgan  
Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  

  10.1.6
(21) 

   
   

Pledge Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 made by GrafTech Switzerland S.A., in favor of  
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  
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Exhibit  
Number    Description of Exhibit  

10.1.7(21) 

   

Amended and Restated Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of April 28, 2010 made  
by GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., and the  
other subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. from time to time party thereto, in favor of  
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.  

10.1.8(21) 
   

Swiss Security Agreement dated April 28, 2010 between GrafTech Switzerland S.A., as Assignor,  
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Assignee.  

10.1.9(21) 

   

Form of LC Subsidiary Agreement among GrafTech Finance Inc. or GrafTech Switzerland S.A.,  
as the Applicable Borrower, the applicable LC Subsidiary and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as  
Administrative Agent.  

10.2.0(8)    Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.  
10.3.0(14)    Forms of Restricted Stock Agreement (2005 LTIP Version).  
10.3.1(16)    Form of Amendment to Restricted Stock Agreements 2005-2007 (2005 LTIP Version).  
10.4(17)    Form of Performance Share Award Agreement (2008 Version)  
10.5.0(19)    Long Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement (2009 Version)  
10.5.1(23)    Long Term Incentive Plan Award Agreement (2010 Version)  
10.6.0(9) 

   

GrafTech International Ltd. Management Stock Incentive Plan (Senior Version) as amended and restated through 
July 31, 2003.  

10.7.0(10)    GrafTech International Ltd. Incentive Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2003.  
10.7.1(16)    Amendment No. 1 GrafTech International Ltd. Incentive Compensation Plan dated December 29, 2008.  
10.8.0(11)    Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Standard Form).  
10.9.0(16) 

   

GrafTech International Holdings Inc. Compensation Deferral Program as amended and restated (December 29, 
2008).  

10.10.0(11)    GrafTech International Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.  
10.10.1(16)    Amendment No. 1 to GrafTech International Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan dated December 29, 2008.  
10.10.2(18)    Amendment No. 2 to GrafTech International Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan dated May 25, 2009.  
10.10.3(21) 

   

Amendment No. 3 to GrafTech International Ltd. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan dated April 28,  
2010.  

10.11.0(8)    Form of Severance Compensation Agreement for senior management (U.S. 2.99 Version).  
10.11.1(16) 

   

Form of IRS 409A Amendment to Severance Compensation Agreement for senior management (December 2008 
U.S. 2.99 Version).  

10.12.0(8) 
   

Form of Severance Compensation Agreement for senior management (December 2008 International 2.99 
Version).  

10.12.1(16) 
   

Form of IRS 409A Amendment to Severance Compensation Agreement for senior management (December 2008 
International 2.99 Version).  

10.13.0(14)    Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement  
10.14.0(24) 

   

Agreement effective as of January 1, 2011 between and among ConocoPhillips Company and GrafTech 
International Holdings Inc. and Graftech Switzerland S.A. (confidential treatment requested under Rule 24b-2 as to 
certain portions which are omitted and filed separately with the SEC).  

10.14.1(24) 

   

Agreement effective as of January 1, 2011 among ConocoPhillips Company and Graftech Switzerland S.A. 
(confidential treatment requested under Rule 24b-2 as to certain portions which are omitted and filed separately 
with the SEC).  

10.15.1(14)    Form of Terms and Conditions of Sale to standard contract of sale (2007 revision)  
10.16.0(13) 

   

Technology License Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2006, among GrafTech International Ltd., UCAR 
Carbon Company Inc., Alcan France, and Carbone Savoie (confidential treatment requested under Rule 24b-2 as 
to certain portions which are omitted and filed separately with the SEC.)  
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Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

  10.17.0(24)       Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directors and Executive Officers.  
  10.18(18)       Executive Incentive Compensation Plan  
  10.19(23)    

   

Form of Senior Subordinated Promissory Note. issued pursuant to April 28, 2010 Agreements and Plans of 
Merger.  

  10.20.0(23)    

   

Form of Registration Rights and Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of November 30, 2010, by and among 
GrafTech International Ltd. and each of the stockholders party thereto entered into pursuant to April 28, 2010 
Agreements and Plans of Merger.  

  21.1.0(24)       List of subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd.  
  23.1.0(24)       Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  
  24.1.0(24)       Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).  
  31.1.0(24)    

   

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act by Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer 
and President.  

  31.2.0(24)       Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act by Mark R. Widmar, Chief Financial Officer.  
  32.1.0(24)    

   

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive 
Officer and President.  

  32.2.0(24)    
   

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Mark R. Widmar, Chief Financial 
Officer.  

  101       INS XBRL Instance Document  
  101       SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  
  101       CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document  
  101       DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  
  101       LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document  
  101       PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of GrafTech International Ltd. and GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. 
on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-84850).  

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1996 (File 
No. 1-13888).  

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 (File 
No. 1-13888).  

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 (File 
No. 1-13888).  

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (File 
No. 1-3888).  

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (File 
No. 1-13888).  

(7) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 
(File No. 1-13888).  

(8) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (File 
No. 1-13888).  

(9) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of the registrant on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-108039).  
(10) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
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(11) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report of the registrant on Form 8-K filed on September 6, 2005 (File No. 1-13888). 
(12) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(13) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(14) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(15) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(16) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(17) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 (File 

No. 1-13888).  
(18) Incorporated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the registrant 

(File No. 1-13888).  
(19) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of GrafTech International Ltd. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 

31, 2009 (File No. 1-13888).  
(20) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report of GrafTech International Ltd. on Amendment No.1 to 

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 1-13888).  
(21) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of GrafTech Holdings Inc. on Form S-4 (Registration No. 167446) 

filed June 10, 2010.  
(22) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement of GrafTech Holdings Inc. on Form S-4 

(Registration No. 167446) filed August 19, 2010.  
(23) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report of the registrant on Form 8-K filed on November 30, 2010 (File No. 1-

13888).  
(24) Filed herewith.  
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Exhibit  
Number    Description of Exhibit  

10.14.0 
   

Agreement effective as of January 1, 2011 among ConocoPhillips Company and GrafTech International Holdings Inc. 
and GrafTech Switzerland S.A.  

10.14.1    Agreement effective as of January 1, 2011 between ConocoPhillips Company and GrafTech Switzerland S.A.  

10.17.0    Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directors and Executive Officers.  

21.1.0    List of subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd.  

23.1.0    Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.  

24.1.0    Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).  

31.1.0 
   

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act by Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and 
President.  

31.2.0    Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act by Mark R. Widmar, Chief Financial Officer.  

32.1.0 
   

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer 
and President.  

32.2.0    Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Mark R. Widmar, Chief Financial Officer.  

101    INS XBRL Instance Document  

101    SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  

101    CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document  

101    DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  

101    LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document  

101    PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exch ange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused th is report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereun to duly authorized.  
   

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and 
appoints Craig S. Shular and Mark R. Widmar, and each of them individually, his or her true and lawful agent, proxy and attorney-
in-fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all 
capacities, to (i) act on, sign and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission any and all amendments to this Report together 
with all schedules and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission any and all exhibits to 
this Report and any and all exhibits and schedules thereto, (iii) act on, sign and file any and all such certificates, notices, 
communications, reports, instruments, agreements and other documents as may be necessary or appropriate in connection 
therewith and (iv) take any and all such actions which may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, granting unto such 
agents, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, and each of them individually, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act 
and thing necessary or appropriate to be done, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and 
hereby approving, ratifying and confirming all that such agents, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, any of them or any of his, her or their 
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exch ange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below  by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and i n the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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    GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.  
      

February 24, 2011    By:    /s/     C RAIG S. S HULAR          
    Craig S. Shular 

  Title:   Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of the Board 

  By:    /s/     M ARK R. W IDMAR          
    Mark R. Widmar 

  Title:   Vice President, President, Engineered Solutions and Chief Financial Officer 

Signatures    Title    Date 

/s/     C RAIG S. S HULAR          
Craig S. Shular  

   

Chief Executive Officer, President, and 
Chairman of the Board (Principal 
Executive Officer)     

February 24, 
2011 

/s/     M ARK R. W IDMAR          
Mark R. Widmar     

Vice President, President, Engineered 
Solutions and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer)  

   
February 24, 

2011 
      

/s/     R ANDY W. C ARSON          
Randy W. Carson  

   Director     February 24, 
2011       

/s/     M ARY B. C RANSTON          
Mary B. Cranston  

   Director     February 24, 
2011       
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Signatures    Title    Date 

/s/     H AROLD E. L AYMAN          
Harold E. Layman     

Director  
   

February 24, 
2011 

/s/     F ERRELL P. M C C LEAN          
Ferrell P. McClean     

Director  
   

February 24, 
2011 

/s/     N ATHAN M ILIKOWSKY          
Nathan Milikowsky     

Director  
   

February 24, 
2011 

/s/     M ICHAEL C. N AHL          
Michael C. Nahl     

Director  
   

February 24, 
2011 

/s/     S TEVEN R. S HAWLEY          
Steven R. Shawley     

Director  
   

February 24, 
2011 



EXHIBIT 10.14.0 

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED BASED ON A  
REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT  

OMITTED PORTIONS HAVE BEEN SEPARATELY FILED WITH THE SECURITIES  
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

SUPPLY AGREEMENT  

THIS SUPPLY AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made effective as of January 1, 2011 (“the Effective Date”) between:  

CONOCOPHILLIPS COMPANY (“Seller”); and  

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. and GRAFTECH SWITZERLAND S.A. (together, “Buyer”),  

(each a “Party” and together “the Parties”) and confirms and sets forth the terms and conditions agreed for the supply of needle coke (“Coke”).  
   

   

   

   

(b) Upon execution of this Agreement and on or before *, and *, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a written annual forecast (each, an “Annual 
Forecast”) of its planned liftings during the following calendar year by month and by Grade. On or before the twentieth day of each 
calendar month, Buyer shall deliver to Seller written updated forecasts of its planned liftings during the remainder of the then current 
calendar year. Within ten business days of its receipt of an Annual Forecast or updated forecast, Seller shall either accept or propose 
revisions to such Annual Forecast or updated forecast by giving Buyer written notice of such acceptance or proposal. If Seller proposes 
revisions to an Annual Forecast or updated forecast, Seller and Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to reach a  

   
1  

1. [Reserved.] 

2. Supply and Quantity 

2.1 (a) Subject to all the terms and provisions of the Agreement, during each of calendar years 2011, 2012 and 2013, Seller shall supply and 
Buyer shall purchase, receive and pay for the minimum volumes of Grade * and Grade * set forth in the following table (or such other 
quantities and percentages by each Grade (as that term is defined in Section 3.1) of Coke as agreed in writing by the Parties): 

     Grade *    Grade * 

2011    * Metric Tons    * Metric Tons 
2012    * Metric Tons    * Metric Tons 
2013    * Metric Tons    * Metric Tons 



CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN CLAIMED  
FOR PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

RULE 406 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1934 AND  
RULE 24b-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

   
written agreed Annual Forecast or updated forecast, provided that (i) no Annual Forecast or revised forecast shall relieve Buyer of its 
obligation to purchase or Seller of its obligation to sell the minimum volume of each Grade of Coke specified above or such other 
quantities of each Grade of Coke as agreed in writing by the Parties during each of 2011, 2012 and 2013, and (ii) except as provided in an 
agreed Annual Forecast or updated forecast, Seller shall not be required to deliver any Grade of Coke other than approximately ratably by 
calendar quarter, subject to typical seasonal variations.  

2.2 [Reserved.]  

2.3 Buyer further recognizes that, upon the occurrence of a force majeure event, Seller and its affiliates each has an obligation to supply its 
respective customers on a fair and equitable basis under the circumstances.  

3. Quality  

3.1 The Coke to be supplied and purchased pursuant to the Agreement shall be the under- mentioned grades of Coke derived from petroleum oil 
processing at Seller’s *, * and conforming to the quality requirements set out in Section 3.2 below (each a “Grade”):  
   

   

Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to “Coke” alone shall be understood to refer to and include any or all such Grades.  

3.2 Each such Grade shall have physical properties that conform to those listed in the applicable specifications which shall be agreed to in 
writing by the Parties from time to time pursuant to the Specifications Agreement (“Specifications”) between the Parties. The certificate of 
analysis provided to Buyer by Seller shall identify Coke with regard to which the lower and upper control levels have been reached or passed. 
Buyer shall have the right to reject any shipments which are below the Minimum Limit or above the Maximum Limit of the Specifications or 
which contain non-Coke contamination above agreed upon tolerances.  

3.3 The quality of each Grade of Coke delivered hereunder will be determined by testing samples which will be representative of the Coke 
loaded into Buyer’s designated transportation equipment (vessels, barges, trucks or railcars) at ConocoPhillips’ * or * of * or at such other 
loading facility as may be mutually agreed upon by Buyer and Seller. For Coke delivered into railcars, each sample will include Coke which is 
being loaded in up to eight railcars.  

3.4 ConocoPhillips will divide each Coke sample into two equal portions. ConocoPhillips will (i) test one portion at its own laboratory to 
determine the Coke’s physical properties, and (ii) retain the second portion for 90 days after the sample is obtained.  
   

2  

  (a) Lake Charles * Grade (“Grade *” ) 

  (b) Lake Charles * Grade (“Grade *” ) 
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3.5 Upon receipt of the Coke sample test results from its laboratory, ConocoPhillips will prepare a Quality Certificate, which it will immediately 
fax or transmit electronically to Buyer. If Buyer objects to ConocoPhillips’s test results/quality determination within five calendar days of receipt 
thereof, then the retained sample will be analyzed at a mutually acceptable independent testing laboratory. The cost of the independent testing 
laboratory’s analysis will be shared equally by Seller and Buyer.  

3.6 From time to time Seller and Buyer may agree in writing upon revised Specifications to existing Grades of Coke or the introduction of new 
Grades of Coke. In such an event an addition or modification shall also be set forth the properties and Specification values applicable to each 
such Specification revision or new Grade.  

3.7 Sampling and testing shall otherwise be performed in accordance with the methods set forth in the Specifications and/or such other methods 
as agreed by the Parties in writing.  

4. Delivery  

4.1 All prices established pursuant to Section 5 below shall apply (unless otherwise expressly agreed) on the basis that Coke is delivered * and/or 
* and/or delivered into road vehicles or containers at said * (and/or at such other loading facility upon which Buyer and Seller mutually agree), 
in each case in the manner specified in General Condition 1 of Appendix A.  

4.2 Prior to the first day of each delivery month, Seller and Buyer shall agree upon a mutually acceptable delivery schedule for the next delivery 
month and may mutually agree upon adjustments to the delivery schedule with the intent being to improve upon the supply chain process.  

4.3 From time to time, the Parties may agree for Seller to arrange rail or barge freight on Buyer’s behalf, in which case, Seller shall invoice 
Buyer and Buyer shall pay for such freight at Seller’s actual out-of-pocket cost.  

5. Coke Pricing  
   

   

   

5.2 For Coke delivered under this Agreement during calendar 2012 and 2013 (in either case, a “Price Year”), the price for each Grade of Coke 
shall be mutually agreed between Buyer and Seller.  

5.3 If the Parties have not agreed to the prices to be charged during calendar 2012 prior to *, or the prices to be charged during calendar 2013 
prior to *, then either Party may * the * (a “*”)  
   

3  

5.1 For Coke delivered under this Agreement during calendar 2011: 

  (a) the price for * Coke shall be $* metric ton, *; and 

  (b) the price for * Coke shall be $* metric ton *. 
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by giving written notice of its * to * a * to the other Party. The Parties shall make a good faith effort to *, and to *, an * (a “*”) to * as * and to * 
the matter as provided herein no later than 30 days from the date of such a written notice (such date being the “*”).  

5.4 If a Party has * a * and if the parties have * the * of a * on or before the *, then the Parties shall * such * and within 15 days of the * of the *, 
each Party shall * to the * its * on the *, together with any * to *, including a * for each Grade of Coke to be delivered under this Agreement 
during the relevant Price Year (a “*”). The * may *, and * each Party’s * to, one * of * to both Parties, to which each Party shall * within ten 
days of receipt. The Parties shall * the * to * a * of whether the * by the Seller or the * by the Buyer for all such Grades * and * during the 
relevant Price Year within 30 days of * or * of the * , regardless of whether the * has * or the Parties have * to *, and * the *, taking into account 
that pricing is on an annual basis and * on *, for * and * of Coke. For avoidance of doubt, the * may * of the * by the Seller or all of the * by the 
Buyer, but *.  

5.5 If a Party has * a * but the Parties have * to * the * of a * on or before the *, then within 15 days of the request of either Party, each of the 
Seller and the Buyer shall * a * of a * (a “*”), and as soon as practical thereafter shall * such *, and within 15 days of the date on which both 
such * have been *, those * shall * and * a * of the *. Within 15 days of the * of the * of the *, each Party shall * to the * a *, including a * for 
each Grade of Coke to be delivered under this Agreement during the relevant Price Year. The * may *, and * * to, * of * to *, to which each 
Party shall * within ten days of receipt. The Parties shall instruct the * to * a * of whether the * by the Seller or the * by the Buyer for all such 
Grades * and * during the relevant Price Year within 30 days of * or * of *, regardless of whether the * has * or the Parties have * to *, and * the 
*, taking into account that pricing is on an annual basis and not based on *, for * and * of Coke. For avoidance of doubt, the * shall * all of the * 
by the Seller or all of the * by the Buyer, but *. A * by the * shall only be * if such * is made by * a * of the *.  

5.6 It is the Parties’ intention that a *, and each * of a *, be * with * in the * for * of Coke.  
   

4  
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None of:  
   

   

   

shall * by Seller or Buyer or any of their affiliates * the *. No * of a * may disclose information provided to the * by one Party designated by 
that Party to be “Confidential Information” to any other party without the written consent of the providing Party.  

5.7 In no event shall a * or * from an affiliate of Buyer to Buyer for any Grade of Coke to be * of the * of such Grade of Coke.  

5.8 Any * by a * or * shall be * and * on * except to the extent based on * or * from the requirements of this Agreement.  

5.9 * by a * or * will be effective as of the first day of the relevant Price Year.  

5.10 Until the conclusion of any *, Coke will be invoiced at prices in effect for the preceding Price Year.  

5.11 * of any * (excluding the * of * and its * for and * in a *) shall be * by the * and *.  

6. [Reserved.]  

7. [Reserved.]  

8. Term . The term of this Agreement shall be three years, commencing at the beginning of the Effective Date and ending at the end of 
December 31, 2013.  

9. [Reserved.]  

10. [Reserved.]  
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  (a) the *; 

  (b) any * of a *; nor 

  (c) any * of the *’s or any * of a * 
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11. Dispute Resolution  

11.1 In the event that the Seller and Buyer are unable to resolve an issue within 30 days from the date such dispute is identified by a Party, 
notwithstanding their good faith efforts to do so, then the issue will be presented to senior executives of each Party for resolution.  

11.2 If such senior executives are unable to resolve such an issue within 30 days after it is presented to them, notwithstanding their good faith 
efforts to do so, and provided the senior executives have not agreed in writing to extend the time within which the dispute is to be resolved, then 
any remaining controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any breach thereof, shall be resolved by arbitration in New 
York, New York, United States of America by a panel of three arbitrators in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, 
and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  

11.3 Contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement, Graftech Switzerland S.A. (“GSSA”) and ConocoPhillips (U.K.) Limited 
(“CPUKL”) are entering an agreement pursuant to which CPUKL will sell, and GSSA will buy, Coke produced at CPUKL’s facility at Humber, 
England (such agreement, the “Humber Agreement”). In the event that a dispute arises under this Agreement simultaneously with a dispute 
under the Humber Agreement and in relation to an issue which is common to both of them then for the purposes of determining that issue:  

(a) they shall be treated as constituting one dispute only and shall be referred to and settled by one arbitration accordingly  

(b) any conflict or inconsistency between the applicable New York law and the applicable substantive law under the Humber Agreement 
shall be resolved by according precedence to New York law to the intent that it shall prevail over the applicable law under the Humber 
Agreement to the extent necessary for resolving such conflict or inconsistency.  

12. Exit Provisions  

12.1 This Agreement may be terminated by written notice given by Seller or Buyer to the other of them:  

(a)* that * cannot be * between the Parties after having negotiated in good faith to do so, provided that a Party’s refusal to agree to an 
amendment of this Agreement may not be the basis of a termination under this Agreement;  

(b) in the event that the Party to which notice is given has breached a material provision of this Agreement; and  

(c) in the event that the Party to which notice is given goes into liquidation (other than voluntary liquidation in a solvent condition for the 
purposes of amalgamation or  

   
6  
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reconstruction), enters into an arrangement or composition with its creditors or has a receiver appointed of any of its assets.  

12.2 Termination pursuant to Section 12.1 above shall take effect as follows:  

(a) in the case of notice given pursuant to Section 12.1(a), at the end of the calendar year in which it is given; or  

(b) in the case of a notice given pursuant to Section 12.1(b), immediately upon the expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of such 
notice unless such breach has been cured prior to the expiration of such 30-day period; or  

(c) in the case of notice given pursuant to section 12.1(c), forthwith upon such notice being given or on such later date as may be specified 
in that notice by the Party giving it.  

Each such date is hereinafter referred to as “the Effective Termination Date” and any Annual Forecast or revised forecast agreed prior to the 
Effective Termination Date shall remain in full force and effect until such Effective Termination Date, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Parties.  

13. Modification of Terms . Seller and Buyer agree that certain terms of the Agreement may be renegotiated in the event of certain material 
events provided, however, that no amendment to or variation in this Agreement or any Appendix or Annex hereto shall be effective unless it is 
made or evidenced in writing and signed by authorized representatives of the Parties.  

14. Confidentiality . The Parties may from time to time provide the other with certain confidential and proprietary information including but not 
limited to inventory, consumption, manufacturing, forecasts, technical data or information, processes, techniques, specifications, business 
information, and any other information marked or deemed confidential and further including the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement 
(“Confidential Information”). Each Party shall use any Confidential Information received only for purposes relating to the fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement and for no other purpose. Neither Party shall disclose Confidential Information to any third party (other than 
accountants, auditors, attorneys and advisors of such party) without the advance written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, except where such disclosure may be required by law or by government decree or in order to comply with disclosure 
requirements of the United States and/or other applicable securities law, is necessary to obtain financing, or is needed to assert a claim or defense 
in judicial, arbitration or administrative proceedings involving the Parties or their affiliates, in which event the Party required to make the 
disclosure will advise the other in advance in writing and will cooperate to the extent practicable to minimize the disclosure of such information. 
The term “Confidential Information” shall not include information which:  
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is generally available to the public at the time of disclosure or becomes generally known through no wrongful act on the part of a Party;  

is in the possession of a Party at the time of disclosure by the other Party, other than as a result of the non-disclosing Party’s breach of an 
legal obligation;  

becomes known to a Party through disclosure by sources other than the disclosing Party; or  

is independently developed by a Party without reference to or reliance upon the Confidential Information disclosed by the other Party.  

These confidentiality obligations shall continue for a period of three years from the date of disclosure. Notwithstanding any provision to the 
contrary in any prior agreement between Buyer and Seller, Buyer acknowledges that it has no right under any agreement with Seller to obtain 
any information regarding the sale of Coke by Seller to third parties.  

15. Entire Agreement; Headings; Counterparts.  

15.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement between Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement (which does 
not include the Specifications of Coke) and supersedes all prior agreements, whether written or oral, between them with respect to the subject 
matter of this Agreement.  

15.2 [Reserved.]  

15.3 The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and will not be used to interpret or construe any provision of 
this Agreement.  

15.4 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which will constitute one and the 
same instrument.  

16. Miscellaneous  

16.1 Immediately prior to the Effective Date, Seller was a party to one or more agreements with * (“*”) under which * of * under a * to this 
Agreement were * to *. Upon Seller’s or Buyer’s request, the other party shall * to * and * to * and * of * to * or * in order to provide for * the * 
that it * under the * with *.  

16.2 [Reserved.]  

16.3 The General Conditions of Sale, attached hereto and made a part hereof as Appendix A, shall apply and take effect subject to modification 
as follows:  
   

8  
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(a) Any references therein to “Product”, and “this Agreement” shall be read and construed as if they were references to Coke, and this 
Agreement respectively  

(b) General Condition 7 shall be read and construed and shall take effect in the like manner and to the like extent as if the events and 
circumstances described and referred to in 7.1 of the General Conditions of Sale:  

   

   

In the event of any inconsistency between the specific terms set forth in Sections 1 through 17 of this Agreement (the “Special Provisions”) and 
any provision of the General Conditions of Sale set forth in Appendix A, the Special Provisions shall govern.  

16.4 Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be effective when received by the addressee at:  

If to Seller:  

Attention: *  
ConocoPhillips Company  
600 North Dairy Ashford Road  
Houston, Texas 77079  
Facsimile: *  

with a copy to:  

Attention: *  
ConocoPhillips Company  
600 North Dairy Ashford Road  
Houston, Texas 77079  
Facsimile: *  
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(i) included any interference with or disruption to or any failure, limitation or cessation of Seller’s existing or contemplated sources of 

supply of Coke 

  
(ii) were expressed to be applicable to Seller’s supplier as well as to Seller to the intent that any effect which any of those events and 

circumstances may have on or in relation to Seller’s supplier and the production of Coke shall be treated conclusively as having the 
like and corresponding effect in relation to Seller and its sources of supply of Coke 
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If to Buyer:  

Attention: Vice President - Purchasing  
Route de Rennes 1  
Bussigny 1030  
Switzerland  
Facsimile: +41-21-821-3100  

with a copy to:  

Attention: General Counsel  
12900 Snow Road  
Parma, Ohio 44130  
Facsimile: (216) 676-2462  

or at such other address(es) or facsimile number(s) as a Party may specify to the other from time to time in writing.  

16.5 This Agreement shall be binding upon Seller and Buyer and their respective successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of Seller 
and Buyer and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  

17. Public Announcements . None of Seller, Buyer nor any affiliates, subsidiaries, employees, officers, directors or agents of Seller or Buyer 
will make any public statement with regard to this Agreement, the subject matter hereof or the transactions contemplated hereby, without the 
prior written consent and agreement of the other Party; provided, however, that each Party shall fully cooperate and shall not delay in providing 
its reasonable consent in the event that the other Party must make a public announcement in order to comply with the disclosure requirements of 
United States and/or other applicable securities laws; and provided, further, that this proscription shall not apply to public statements with 
respect to information previously made public in a manner consistent with this Agreement.  

[Signature page follows.]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective 
Date.  
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CONOCOPHILLIPS COMPANY   GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC. 

By:   /s/ Loretta Koster    By:   /s/ C. S. Shular  
  (Signature)     (Signature) 

Name:   Loretta Koster    Name:   Craig Shular  

Title:   Manager/Global Petroleum Coke and Polypropylene    Title:   Pres., GTIH  

Date:   February 23, 2011    Date:   Feb. 23, 2011  

GRAFTECH SWITZERLAND S.A. 

By:   /s/ C. S. Shular  
  (Signature) 

Name:   Craig Shular  

Title:   CEO GTI  

Date:   Feb. 23, 2011  



APPENDIX A  

LAKE CHARLES  

GENERAL CONDITIONS OF SALE  
   

Seller shall deliver Coke to Buyer (i) * in Buyer’s vessel at the designated load port, or (ii) * into Buyer’s railcars or trucks at the designated 
loading facility, as specified in the Special Provisions. Title to and risk of loss of Coke shall pass from Seller to Buyer when Coke enters Buyer’s 
transportation equipment at the point and time of loading.  

   

The quantity and quality of Coke delivered hereunder shall be determined from measurements and samples taken at the * and * of *. The 
quantity of Coke delivered shall be determined using * or if weighing equipment is not available (i) by * for shipments by vessel or barge; (ii) by 
* for shipments by truck; and (iii) by * for shipments by railcars. Seller shall bear the costs of *, and *. Seller shall also bear the cost of weighing 
the Coke delivered into Buyer’s railcars and trucks.  

   

Seller warrants that it has title to Coke delivered under this Agreement, that Coke will be free from all liens, encumbrances, and security 
interests, and that Coke shall have physical properties that conform to those listed in the Specifications to which the Parties have agreed. THERE 
ARE NO OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING THE WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS 
OF COKE FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, EVEN IF SUCH PURPOSE IS KNOWN TO SELLER. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE 
PROVIDED HEREIN, SELLER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTY, GUARANTY, PROMISE, OR REPRESENTATION THAT 
COKE DELIVERED HEREUNDER SHALL HAVE THE PHYSICAL PROPERTIES LISTED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.  

   

Seller’s liability under this Agreement for breach of warranty shall, at Seller’s option, be limited to (i) * the * of * by the * and * for the *, or 
(ii) * to * an amount not to exceed the * plus * by * for the * of Coke affected by the breach. Neither Party shall be liable on any claim under or 
arising out of or for breach of this Agreement unless such action is brought no later than one year from the date the cause of action arose. IN NO 
EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. BUYER SHALL NOT BE 
LIABLE FOR ANY DEMURRAGE CAUSED BY ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF SELLER.  
   

Appendix A/Page 1  

1. DELIVERY, TITLE, AND RISK OF LOSS . 

2. QUALITY AND MEASUREMENT . 

3. WARRANTIES . 

4. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY . 
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5.1 Unless otherwise amended, Buyer shall pay Seller’s invoice in full with immediately available U.S. dollars, not later than the * of the * 
following the * of the *, without any adjustments, discounts, or setoffs, by electronic transfer to the account specified in Seller’s invoice.  

5.2 If the payment due date falls on a day when Seller’s bank is closed (Saturday, Sunday, New York bank holiday, or other nonworking 
day), payment shall be due on the succeeding New York banking day.  

   

6.1 Seller shall pay any and all property taxes, fees, or other charges imposed or assessed by governmental or regulatory bodies, the taxable 
incident of which occurs prior to the transfer of title to Buyer.  

6.2 Buyer shall pay any and all property taxes, fees, or other charges imposed or assessed by governmental or regulatory bodies, the 
taxable incident of which occurs after transfer of title to Buyer.  

6.3 Any applicable sales, use, gross receipt, superfund, hazardous waste, gross income, or any other excise tax or inspection fee, imposed 
by any taxing authority with jurisdiction over any transaction covered by this Agreement, shall be paid by the Party who is liable for the tax 
according to the laws of the jurisdiction involved. However, if, at any time during the term of this Agreement, such a * a * or *, *, at its *, * with 
* to * the * of * by the * of the * or the * of the * in an *. This Subsection shall not apply to any federal, state, or local income, franchise, or 
excess profits taxes imposed as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  

6.4 Buyer shall furnish Seller with an exemption or resale certificate or other documents necessary to comply with any applicable sales and 
use tax laws.  

6.5 When applicable, Buyer shall furnish Seller in duplicate, with a Notice of Exportation of Articles with Benefit of Drawback (U.S. 
Customs Form No. 7511), and/or other such forms required by government authorities, covering each * and/or * with * which is exported by or 
for Buyer or any of Buyer’s subsidiaries or licensees. Each Notice of Exportation of Articles with Benefit of Drawback (U.S. Customs Form 
No. 7511), and/or other such forms required by governmental authorities, shall be fully completed and properly executed by all necessary parties 
and endorsed to Seller.  

   

7.1 No failure or omission by a Party to carry out or observe any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall, except in relation to 
obligations to make payments under this  
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5. PAYMENT . 

6. TAXES . 

7. FORCE MAJEURE . 
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Agreement, give rise to any claim against that Party or be deemed a breach of the Agreement if such failure or omission arises from any cause 
reasonably beyond the control of that Party, to the extent that such failure or delay may be due to:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

7.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7.1 hereof, nothing contained in this Agreement shall relieve Buyer of the obligation to pay 
in full the purchase price or any other amounts due for Coke actually delivered and invoiced hereunder.  

7.3 Upon the occurrence of any of the Force Majeure events described in Subsection 7.1 hereof, the Party claiming Force Majeure shall 
notify the other Party promptly in writing of such event, and, to the extent possible, inform the other party of the expected duration of the Force 
Majeure event and the quantity of Coke to be affected by the suspension or curtailment of performance under this Agreement.  
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a. Compliance (voluntary or involuntary) with laws, decrees, guidelines, requests, or the like, of any government or person purporting 

to act therefore, or of international organizations of which the United States is a member including, without limitation, the 
International Energy Agency. 

  
b. Restriction or cessation of production of Coke by reason of the imposition of any government or person purporting to act under the 

color or claim of any governmental authority of conditions or requirements which make it necessary to cease or to reduce the 
production of Coke. 

  c. Hostilities of war (declared or undeclared), embargoes, blockades, civil unrest, riots or disorders, terrorism, or sabotage. 

  d. Fires, explosions, lightning, maritime peril, collisions, storms, landslides, earthquakes, floods, and other acts of nature. 

  e. Strikes, lockouts, or other labor difficulties (whether or not involving employees of Seller or Buyer). 

  f. Disruption or breakdown of production or transportation facilities, equipment, labor, or materials. 

  g. Closing or restrictions on the use of harbors, railroads, or pipelines. 

  h. Any reduction in availability of crude petroleum or petroleum products and/or other materials necessary to make Coke. 

  
i. Any other cause, whether or not of the same class or kind, beyond the control of a party, which prevents or interferes with the 

performance of this Agreement. 
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7.4 Buyer acknowledges that Coke delivered hereunder is produced by Seller at its *. Seller shall have no obligation to acquire Coke from 

any other source to meet its obligations under this Agreement. If Seller’s production of Coke is stopped or disrupted by an event of Force 
Majeure, Seller shall have the right to allocate its available supplies of Coke, if any, among any or all of its existing customers (including its 
parent, subsidiaries, and affiliates) in a fair and equitable manner, whether or not such customers are under contract. Neither party shall be 
required to make up deliveries of Coke which have been prevented by a Force Majeure event and, unless the parties otherwise agree, the quantity 
obligation specified in the Agreement will be reduced by the quantity of Coke which is not delivered because of the Force Majeure event. Buyer 
shall have the right to purchase a substitute quantity of Coke to replace or partially replace any quantity of Coke which is not delivered because 
of a Force Majeure event.  

   

8.1 * SOLD BY * MAY * OR *, *, OR * WHICH MAY BE, OR MAY BECOME, BY * OR *, * OR * TO *, TO *, OR TO *, BY 
REASON OF *, OR FOR *, DURING *, OR *.  

8.2 The Material Safety Data Sheet (“MSDS”) furnished by Seller to Buyer, and made a part of this Agreement, contains information 
regarding health risks and recommendations for the safe use and handling of Coke. Buyer acknowledges and represents that it has read and 
understands the MSDS and the above warning and will read and undertake to understand any subsequent MSDS or written warnings provided by 
Seller from time to time and will exercise the degree of care required to protect persons and properties from all hazards of Coke disclosed in the 
MSDS or warnings including, but not limited to, (i) warning the employees of Buyer and its affiliates who may become exposed to Coke of the 
hazards of Coke, providing such employees with necessary and appropriate safety equipment, and taking appropriate measures to assure that 
such safety equipment is adequately maintained and properly used, and (ii) warning third parties who may purchase or come into contact with 
Coke or who handle or transport Coke on the behalf of Buyer of the hazards of Coke.  

   

No waiver, either express or by course of dealing or course of performance, of any of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, or 
waiver of any breach of any of the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, shall be construed as a subsequent waiver of any of the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement or as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term or condition of this Agreement.  

   

Except as provided in this Agreement, neither Party may assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. However, either Party may assign this Agreement to any of its affiliates, in which event the assignor 
shall remain responsible for the assignee’s complete performance.  
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9. WAIVER . 

10. ASSIGNMENT . 
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THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW 
YORK, U.S.A. THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION ON CONTRACTS FOR THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS, 1980, 
SHALL NOT APPLY TO THIS AGREEMENT.  
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11. GOVERNING LAW . 



EXHIBIT 10.14.1 

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED BASED ON A REQUEST  
FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT  

OMITTED PORTIONS HAVE BEEN SEPARATELY FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND  
EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

SUPPLY AGREEMENT  

THIS SUPPLY AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is effective as of January 1, 2011 (“the Effective Date”) BETWEEN  
   

   

(each a “Party” and together “the Parties”) and confirms and sets forth the terms and conditions agreed for the supply of needle coke (“Coke”) .  

   
   

   

   

  1. CONOCOPHILLIPS (U.K.) LIMITED (“Seller” ) of Portman House, 2 Portman Street, London W1H 6DU and 

  2. GRAFTECH SWITZERLAND S.A . (“Buyer”) of 1 Rte de Renens,1030 Bussigny-pres-Lausanne, Switzerland 

1. [Reserved] 

2. Supply and Quantity 

2.1 (a) Subject to all the terms and provisions of the Agreement, during each of calendar years 2011, 2012 and 2013, Seller shall supply and 
Buyer shall purchase, receive and pay for the minimum volumes of Grade * and Grade * set forth in the following table (or such other 
quantities and percentages by each Grade (as that term is defined in Section 3.1) of Coke as agreed in writing by the Parties): 

     Grade *      Grade *   

2011       * Metric Tons         * Metric Tons    
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(b) Upon execution of this Agreement and on or before *, and *, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a written annual forecast (each, an “Annual 
Forecast”) of its planned liftings during the following calendar year by month and by Grade. On or before the twentieth day of each 
calendar month, Buyer shall deliver to Seller written updated forecasts of its planned liftings during the remainder of the then current 
calendar year by month and location and provide a requested weekly shipping plan for the following month. Within ten business days of its 
receipt of an Annual Forecast or updated forecast, Seller shall either accept or propose revisions to such Annual Forecast or updated 
forecast by giving Buyer written notice of such acceptance or proposal. If Seller proposes revisions to an Annual Forecast or updated 
forecast, Seller and Buyer shall negotiate in good faith to reach a written agreed Annual Forecast or updated forecast, provided that (i) no 
Annual Forecast or revised forecast shall relieve Buyer of its obligation to purchase or Seller of its obligation to sell the minimum volume 
of each Grade of Coke specified above or such other quantities of each Grade of Coke as agreed in writing by the Parties during each of 
2011, 2012 and 2013, and (ii) except as provided in an agreed Annual Forecast of updated forecast, Seller shall not be required to deliver 
any Grade of Coke other than approximately ratably by calendar quarter, subject to typical seasonal variations.  

   

   

   

   
2  

2012       * Metric Tons         * Metric Tons    
2013       * Metric Tons         * Metric Tons    

2.2 [Reserved] 

2.3 Buyer recognizes that, upon the occurrence of a force majeure event, each of Seller and its affiliates has an obligation to supply its 
respective customers on a fair and equitable basis under the circumstances. 

3. Quality 
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Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to “Coke” alone shall be understood to refer to and include any or all such Grades.  

3.2 Each such Grade shall, in relation to the properties shown to be applicable to that particular Grade as set forth in the Specification Agreement 
(“Specifications”), conform in all respects with the * set opposite thereto in the Specifications and/or the * set opposite thereto in the 
Specifications-according to whichever of them shall be applicable when determined according to the Test Method set opposite thereto in the 
Specifications and, if so conforming, shall be accepted by Buyer.  
   

   

   

   
3  

3.1 The Coke to be supplied and purchased pursuant to the Agreement shall be the under- mentioned Grades of Coke derived from petroleum 
oil processing at Seller’s supplier’s Humber Refinery and conforming to the quality requirements set out in Section 3.2 below (each a 
“Grade” ): 

  (a) Humber * Grade (“* Grade”) 

  (b) Humber * Grade (“* Grade”) 

3.3 Any claims by Buyer with regard to alleged quality defects shall be made in accordance with General Condition 10 of Seller’s General 
Conditions of Sale (each a “General Condition”) referred to in Section 16.3 below and annexed hereto as Appendix A. 

3.4 Seller shall advise Buyer in advance of any planned change in the aim values shown in the Specifications. 

3.5 Upon receipt of the Coke sample test results from its laboratory, Seller will prepare a Quality Certificate, which it will immediately fax or 
transmit electronically to Buyer. If Buyer objects to Seller’s test results/quality determination within five calendar days of receipt thereof, 
then the retained sample will be analyzed at a mutually acceptable independent testing laboratory. The cost of the independent testing 
laboratory’s analysis will be shared equally by Seller and Buyer. 
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3.6 Further to Condition 9.2 of the General Conditions of Sale (and without prejudice to Condition 9.4 of the General Conditions of Sale), the 
Parties hereby expressly acknowledge and agree that Seller’s analysis of *, *, * and * values may, in Seller’s absolute discretion be based 
upon production samples from which the delivery was derived rather than the * in its laboratories in respect of the delivery as a whole. 

3.7 [Reserved.] 

3.8 From time to time Seller and Buyer may agree in writing upon revised Specifications to existing Grades of Coke or the introduction of new 
Grades of Coke setting forth the properties and Specification values applicable to each such Specification revision or new Grade. 

3.9 For both * and * Grade deliveries, on a best endeavours basis, Seller shall supply Product as a * blend from Seller’s supplier’s * and *. 
However, the Product supplied shall not have an apportionment of Seller’s supplier’s * and * worse than */ * unless Seller notifies Buyer 
otherwise prior to establishment of lay days for loading of said delivery. 

4. Delivery 

4.1 All prices established pursuant to Section 5 below shall apply (unless otherwise expressly agreed) on the basis that Coke is delivered * into 
vessels chartered by Buyer at the applicable loading point as provided by General Condition 2.2. 

4.2 Prior to the first day of each delivery month, Seller and Buyer shall agree upon a mutually acceptable delivery schedule for the next 
delivery month and may mutually agree upon adjustments to the delivery schedule with the intent being to improve upon the supply chain 
process. 
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5.2 For Coke delivered under this Agreement during calendar 2012 and 2013 (in either case, a “Price Year”), the price for each Grade of Coke 
shall be mutually agreed between Buyer and Seller.  

5.3 If the Parties have not agreed to the prices to be charged during calendar 2012 prior to *, or the prices to be charged during calendar 2013 
prior to *, then either Party may * the * (a “*”) by giving written notice of its * to * a * to the other Party. The Parties shall make a good faith 
effort to *, and to *, an * (a “*”) to * as * and to * the matter as provided herein no later than 30 days from the date of such a written notice (such 
date being the “*”).  

5.4 If a Party has * a * and if the Parties have * the * of a * on or before the *, then the Parties shall * such * and within 15 days of the * of the *, 
each Party shall * to the * its * on the *, together with any * to *, including a * for each Grade of Coke to be delivered under this Agreement 
during the relevant Price Year (a “*”). The * may *, and * each Party’s * to, one * of * to both Parties, to which each Party shall * within ten 
(10) days of receipt. The Parties shall * the * to * a * of whether the * by the Seller or the * by the Buyer for all such Grades * and * during the 
relevant Price Year within 30 days of * or * of the *, regardless of whether the * has * or the Parties have * to *, and * the *, taking into account 
that pricing is on an annual basis and * on *, for * and * of Coke. For the avoidance of doubt, the * may * of the * by the Seller or all of the * by 
the Buyer, but *.  

5.5 If a Party has * a * but the Parties have * to * the * of a * on or before the *, then within 15 days of the request of either Party, each of the 
Seller and the Buyer shall * a * of a * (a “*”),  
   

5  

5. Coke Pricing 

5.1 For Coke delivered under this Agreement during calendar 2011: 

  (a) the price for * Coke shall be $*/metric ton, *; and 

  (b) the price for * Coke shall be $*/metric ton *. 
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and as soon as practical thereafter shall * such *, and within 15 days of the date on which both such * have been *, those * shall * and * a * of 
the *. Within 15 days of the * of the * of the *, each Party shall * to the * a *, including a * for each Grade of Coke to be delivered under this 
Agreement during the relevant Price Year. The * may *, and * to, * of * to *, to which each Party shall * within ten (10) days of receipt. The 
Parties shall instruct the * to * a * of whether the * by the Seller or the * by the Buyer for all such Grades * and * during the relevant Price Year 
within 30 days of * or * of *, regardless of whether the * has * or the Parties have * to *, and * the *, taking into account that pricing is on an 
annual basis and not based on *, for * and * of Coke. For the avoidance of doubt, the * shall * all of the * by the Seller or all of the * by the 
Buyer, but *. A * by the * shall only be * if such * is made by * a * of the *.  

5.6 It is the Parties’ intention that a *, and each * of a *, be * with * in the * for * of Coke. None of the *, any * of a *, nor any * of the *’s or 
any * of a * shall * by Seller or Buyer or any of their affiliates * the *. No * or * of a * may disclose information provided to the * or * by one 
Party designated by that Party to be “Confidential Information” to any other party without the written consent of the providing Party.  

5.7 In no event shall a * or * from an affiliate of Buyer * for any Grade of Coke to be * of the * of such Grade of Coke.  

5.8 Any * by a * or * shall be * and * on * except to the extent based on * or * from the requirements of this Agreement.  

5.9 * by a * or * will be effective as of the first day of the relevant Price Year.  

5.10 Until the conclusion of any *, Coke will be invoiced at prices in effect for the preceding Price Year.  

5.11 * of any * (excluding the * of * and its * for and * in a *) shall be * by the * and *.  
   

6  
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5.12 VAT and Climate Change Levy. All prices as herein before referred to are exclusive of (i) any Value Added Tax and/or (ii) a Climate 
Change Levy (“CCL”) or any such similar energy or carbon tax which may from time to time be applicable to the sale and delivery of Coke and 
the gross amount (if any) payable in connection with either or both of them shall become due and shall be paid in like manner as is provided in 
relation to said prices.  

For the purposes of the Climate Change Levy the Buyer represents to the Seller that the Product delivered under this Agreement will be 
transported out of the U.K. and will not be resold for consumption within the U.K and the Buyer will provide such documentation as may be 
reasonably required by the Seller to evidence the foregoing. “Climate Change Levy” means as enacted in the Finance Act 2000.  

   
   

8. Term. The term of this Agreement shall be three years, commencing at the beginning of the Effective Date and ending at the end of 
December 31, 2013.  

   
   

   

The construction, validity and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by English law to the exclusion of any other law which may be 
imputed in accordance with the choice of law rules applicable in any jurisdiction. However, neither Party shall be precluded from pursuing 
arrest, attachment and/or other conservatory, interlocutory or interim actions in any court or exercising contractual rights under this Agreement.  
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6. [Reserved] 

7. [Reserved] 

9. [Reserved] 

10. [Reserved] 

11. Dispute Resolution 
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11.1 In the event that the Seller and Buyer are unable to resolve an issue within thirty (30) days from the date such dispute is identified by the 
Parties, notwithstanding their good faith efforts to do so, then the issue will be presented to senior executives of each Party for resolution.  

11.2 If such senior executives are unable to resolve such an issue within thirty (30) days after it is presented to them, notwithstanding their good 
faith efforts to do so, and provided the senior executives have not agreed in writing to extend the time within which the dispute is to be resolved, 
then any remaining controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any breach thereof, including any question regarding its 
existence, validity or termination, shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration pursuant to the terms of the Arbitration Act 1996, or any 
statutory modification thereof, before a single arbitrator agreed upon by the Parties, or if not so agreed, appointed in accordance with the said 
Act. The place of arbitration shall be London. The language of the arbitration shall be English. Except for the first sentence thereof, sub-clause 
16.6 of GCS-2011 is hereby deleted.  

11.3 Contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement, GrafTech Switzerland S.A. (“GSSA”), GrafTech International Holdings Inc.
(“GIH”) and ConocoPhillips Company (“CPC”) are entering an agreement pursuant to which CPC will sell, and GSSA and GIH will buy, Coke 
produced at CPC’s facility at Lake Charles, Louisiana, USA (such agreement, the “Lake Charles Agreement”). In the event that a dispute arises 
under this Agreement simultaneously with a dispute under the Lake Charles Agreement and in relation to an issue which is common to both of 
them then for the purposes of determining that issue:  

(a) they shall be treated as constituting one dispute only and shall be referred to and settled by one arbitration accordingly  

(b) any conflict or inconsistency between the applicable New York law and the applicable substantive law under the Humber Agreement, 
shall be resolved by according precedence to New York law to the extent necessary for resolving such conflict or inconsistency.  
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12.1 This Agreement may be terminated by written notice given by Seller or Buyer to the other of them:  

(a)* that a * cannot be * between the Parties after having negotiated in good faith to so do, provided that a Party’s refusal to agree to an 
amendment of this Agreement may not be the basis of a termination under this Agreement;  

(b) in the event that the Party to which notice is given has breached a material provision of this Agreement; and  

(c) in the event that the Party to which notice is given goes into liquidation (other than voluntary liquidation in a solvent condition for the 
purposes of amalgamation or reconstruction), enters into an arrangement or composition with its creditors or has a receiver appointed of 
any of its assets.  

12.2 Termination pursuant to Section 12.1 above shall take effect as follows:  

(a) in the case of notice given pursuant to Section 12.1(a), at the end of the calendar year in which it is given; or  

(b) in the case of a notice given pursuant to Section 12.1(b), immediately upon the expiration of 30 (thirty) days from the date of such 
notice unless such breach has been cured prior to the expiration of such 30-day period; or  

(c) in the case of notice given pursuant to section 12.1(c), forthwith upon such notice being given or on such later date as may be specified 
in that notice by the Party giving it.  

Each such date is hereinafter referred to as “the Effective Termination Date” and any Annual Forecast  
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12. Exit Provisions 
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or revised forecast agreed prior to the Effective Termination Date shall remain in full force and effect until such Effective Termination Date, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.  

13. Modification of Terms. Seller and Buyer agree that certain terms of the Agreement may be renegotiated in the event of certain material 
events provided, however, that no amendment to or variation in this Agreement or any Appendix or Annex hereto shall be effective unless it is 
made or evidenced in writing and signed by authorised representatives of the Parties.  

   

The Parties may from time to time provide the other with certain confidential and proprietary information including but not limited to inventory, 
consumption, manufacturing, forecasts, technical data or information, processes, techniques, specifications, business information, and any other 
information marked or deemed confidential and further including the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement (“Confidential 
Information”). Each Party shall use any Confidential Information received only for purposes relating to the fulfillment of its obligations under 
this Agreement and for no other purpose. Neither party shall disclose Confidential Information to any third party (other than accountants, 
auditors, attorneys and advisors of such Party) without the advance written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, except where such disclosure may be required by law or by government decree or in order to comply with disclosure requirements of 
the United States and/or other applicable securities law, is necessary to obtain financing, or is needed to assert a claim or defense in judicial, 
arbitration or administrative proceedings involving the Parties or their affiliates, in which event the Party required to make the disclosure will 
advise the other in advance in writing and will cooperate to the extent practicable to minimize the disclosure of such information. The term 
“Confidential Information” shall not include information which:  
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14. Confidentiality. 

  
(a) is generally available to the public at the time of disclosure or becomes generally known through no wrongful act on the part of a 

Party; 
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These confidentiality obligations shall continue for a period of three years from the date of disclosure. Notwithstanding any provision to the 
contrary in any prior agreement between Buyer and Seller, Buyer acknowledges that it has no right under any agreement with Seller to obtain 
any information regarding the sale of Coke by Seller to third parties.  

   

15.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement between Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement (which does 
not include the Specifications of Coke) and supersedes all prior agreements, whether written or oral, between them with respect to the subject 
matter of this Agreement.  

15.2 [Reserved.]  

15.3 The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and will not be used to interpret or construe any provision of 
this Agreement.  

15.4 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which will constitute one and the 
same instrument.  
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(b) is in the possession of a Party at the time of disclosure by the other Party, other than as a result of the non-disclosing Party’s breach 

of an legal obligation; 

  (c) becomes known to a Party through disclosure by sources other than the disclosing Party; or 

  
(d) is independently developed by a Party without reference to or reliance upon the Confidential Information disclosed by the other 

Party. 

15. Entire Agreement; Headings; Counterparts. 

16. Miscellaneous 
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16.1 Immediately prior to the Effective Date, Seller was a party to one or more agreements with * (“*”) under which * of * under a * to this 
Agreement were * to *. Upon Seller’s or Buyer’s request, the other party shall * to * and * to * and * of * to * or * in order to provide for * the * 
that it * under the * with *.  

16.2 [Reserved.]  

16.3 Seller’s General Conditions of Sale (GCS-2011) set forth in Appendix A annexed hereto (including its Annexes, which include in 
particular, as Annex 1, a Material Safety Data Sheet containing information regarding health risks and recommendations for the safe use and 
handling of calcined petroleum coke), are incorporated into and form part of this Agreement so far as they are not otherwise in conflict or 
inconsistent with the express terms of this present Agreement and for the purposes of those Conditions this Agreement shall constitute “the 
Principal Agreement” as therein referred to.  

The said General Conditions of Sale shall apply and take effect subject to modification as follows:  
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A. Any references therein to “Product”, “Seller’s Humber Refinery” (or “Humber Refinery”), and “this Agreement” shall be read and 

construed as if they were references to Coke, Seller’s supplier’s Humber Refinery, and this present Agreement respectively. 

  
B. General Condition 12 shall be read and construed and shall take effect in the like manner and to the like extent as if the events and 

circumstances described and referred to in 12.2: 

  
(i) Included any interference with or disruption to or any failure, limitation or cessation of Seller’s existing or contemplated 

sources of supply of Coke 

  
(ii) were expressed to be applicable to Seller’s supplier as well as to Seller to the intent that any effect which any of those events 

and circumstances may have on or in relation to Seller’s supplier and the production of Coke shall be treated conclusively as 
having the like and corresponding effect in relation to Seller and its sources of supply of Coke. 
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16.4 Notices. Notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be effective when received by the addressee at:  

   

16.5 This Agreement shall be binding upon Seller and Buyer and their respective successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of Seller 
and Buyer and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
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For Seller:     Attention * 

   ConocoPhillips (U.K.) Limited 

   Portman House 

   2 Portman Street 

   London W1H 6DU 

   Facsimile: * 

   Email: * 

For Buyer:     Attention Vice President - Purchasing 

   GRAFTECH SWITZERLAND S.A. 

   1 Rte de Renens 

   1030 Bussigny-pres-Lausanne 

   Switzerland 

   Facsimile: +41 21 821 3361 

   With a copy to: 

   Attention: General Counsel 

   GrafTech International Holdings Inc. 

   12900 Snow Road 

   Parma, Ohio 44130 

   United States 

   Facsimile: (216) 676-2462 

17. Public Announcements. 
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Neither Seller nor Buyer Party nor any affiliates, subsidiaries, employees, officers, directors or agents of Seller or Buyer will make any public 
statement with regard to this Agreement, including the fact of its existence, the subject matter hereof or the transactions contemplated hereby, 
without the prior written consent and agreement of the other Party; provided, however, that each Party shall fully cooperate and shall not delay in 
providing its reasonable consent in the event that the other Party must make a public announcement in order to comply with the disclosure 
requirements of U.S. and/or other applicable securities laws and provided further that this proscription shall not apply to public statements with 
respect to information previously made public in a manner consistent with this Agreement.  

[Signature page follows.]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the Effective 
Date.  
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CONOCOPHILLIPS (U.K.) LIMITED     GRAFTECH SWITZERLAND S.A. 

By:   /s/ P.N. Higgins      By:   /s/ C. S. Shular  
  (Signature)       (Signature) 

Name:   P.N. Higgins      Name:   Craig Shular  

Title:   Mgr, Specialty Petroleum Coke      Title:   CEO GTI  

Date:   Feb. 23, 2011      Date:   Feb. 23, 2011  
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GCS-2011 APPENDIX A  

CONOCOPHILLIPS (U.K.) LIMITED  

PETROLEUM COKE  
GENERAL CONDITIONS OF SALE  

FOR * DELIVERY  
   

   

   

For the purposes of the Agreement as hereinafter defined:  

“Commencement date” means the date of commencement of the Principal Agreement;  

“ETA” means estimated time and/or date or range of days of arrival of the vessel;  

“Laytime” means the time ascribed to it in the PA or in these General Conditions of Sale;  

“Loading berth” or “Berth” means the berth or dock at which Seller is to load Product on board vessel and which Seller is to make 
available or procure to be made available for that purpose;  

“NOR” means notice of readiness;  

“Principal Agreement” (hereinafter sometimes abbreviated for convenience to “PA”) means the agreement into which these General 
Conditions are incorporated by reference and “this Agreement” means PA and these General Conditions together;  
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1. DEFINITIONS 

  
1.1 Expressions used in these General Conditions and any attached schedules shall have the same meaning as they have in the Principal 

Agreement and vice versa. 

  
1.2 References to a clause or a schedule are references respectively to a clause of or schedule to PA; references to a condition are 

references to a condition of these General Conditions; and references to a clause, schedule or condition by number are references to 
the clause, schedule or condition so numbered. 
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“Public Holiday” means each day that is a public holiday in the place where the relative action pursuant to this Agreement is to be 
performed and in the case of a notice “relative action” shall include both the giving and the receiving of the notice;  

“Seller’s Supplier” means any legal entity supplying to Seller, directly or indirectly, the Product or services necessary to deliver the 
Product to Buyer;  

“Tonne” means a metric tonne of 2204.6 lbs;  

“Vessel” (or “Vessels”) means a vessel (or vessels) nominated or provided by Buyer for loading of Product by Seller;  

“Year” means twelve consecutive calendar months commencing with the Commencement date and “Month” means a calendar month 
beginning on the first day of that month;  

“Year N” and “Month M” mean the year and the month respectively in which Product is to be delivered and received and in respect 
of which price and/or quantity are/is to be determined.  
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2. DELIVERY 

  
2.1 * Delivery shall be effected and taken by loading into vessels at the loading berth applicable according to Condition 5.3 below. Seller 

shall load Product into Buyer’s vessel and level top hatches to permit closing free of expense to Buyer, subject to Condition 5.2 
below. 

  
2.2 Product shall be delivered and received at * dock during 06.00 hours to 22.00 hours, weather working day, Monday to Friday. 

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays are not worked. 

  2.3 Title and risk in the Product delivered hereunder shall pass to Buyer as Product enters the hold of the receiving vessel. 

  2.4 Seller shall be obliged to effect delivery of Product only from production at Seller’s Supplier’s Humber Refinery. 

3. NOMINATIONS 

  
3.1 Buyer shall take and receive Product in accordance with the terms of the Principal Agreement in quantities not exceeding * tonnes 

for any individual delivery. 

  3.2 [Reserved] 
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If rejected by Buyer, the Parties shall continue to use reasonable efforts to establish a new five (5) weekday range for loading 
which is mutually agreeable to them. Failure to agree on a loading date range for any one delivery shall not constitute a waiver or 
variation of any of the provisions hereof.  

   

Also, prior to or at nomination of a named vessel, Buyer or Buyer’s nominated party or agent will advise shipping agents (*) and 
Seller of all the pertinent information shipping agent or Seller requires to enable Seller to have the Bills of Lading and other required 
shipping documents made out and distributed according to Buyer’s requirements.  
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3.3 All notifications provided pursuant to shipping plans provided in Clause 2.1(b) of the PA are to be sent by electronic mail or 

facsimile and each notification shall state the following: 

  3.3.1 the approximate quantity (plus or minus five percent [5%]) that Buyer requests Seller to be loaded onto the vessel(s); and 

  
3.3.2 a loading date range of five (5) week days (Monday to Friday) in which Buyer intends the loading of the vessel(s) 

subsequently nominated to take place covering the immediate month following the month in which the schedule was 
issued. 

  

3.4 Seller may accept or reject the loading date range of five (5) week days proposed under Condition 3.3 above, and, if rejecting, shall 
within forty-eight (48) hours propose to Buyer another range of five (5) week days for loading as an alternative to Buyer’s proposed 
range under Condition 3.3 above. Buyer shall notify Seller of its acceptance or rejection of Seller’s proposed new range of days for 
loading within forty-eight (48) hours from receipt of such notice. 

  

3.5 Buyer shall nominate a named vessel at least 2 working days before the first day in the five (5) weekday range of loading dates 
established in condition 3.4 above. If Buyer fails to secure a vessel for the agreed to laydays, a new five (5) weekday loading date 
range will be agreed to between Buyer and Seller following the process described in 3.4 above. Buyer, or its nominated agent, shall 
propose the nomination of a named vessel to Seller’s email address at *. Such named vessel will comply with the standards of 
Condition 3.6 below. 

  
3.6 Buyer shall ensure that all nominated vessels are less than 30 years old, unless an older vessel is specifically approved by Buyer. For 

such vessels over thirty years old, Buyer will provide Seller with additional information on nomination to support  
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their approval. All vessels shall be suitable for loading Product and comply, on arrival for loading, with all of the following 
standards:-  

  

A) Each vessel and owner shall fully comply with the International Ship Management Code (ISM Code) and will be compliant 
with the International Ship and Port Facility Code (ISPS Code). If required, Buyer will provide Seller with a copy of relevant 
documents of compliance, Safety Management Certificate and International Ship Security Certificate. Not withstanding any 
prior acceptance of nominated vessel by Seller, if at any time prior to the passing of risk and title, the vessel ceases to comply 
with the requirements of the ISM or ISPS Codes, Seller shall have the right not to load such vessel and Buyer shall be obliged 
to substitute such vessel with a new nomination that will comply. Any loss, damage, demurrage, expense or delay caused by 
the failure on the part of the nominated vessel or its Owner/Operator to comply at any time with the ISM or ISPS Codes shall 
always be for Buyer’s account. 

  

B) Each vessel is to be classed 100A1 at Lloyds or equivalent and certified by a classification society approved by the 
International Association of Classification Societies (IACS). Each vessel shall have its said Class and Statutory Certificates in 
force for the duration of the voyage it is being nominated for, it shall not have any class condition expired and it shall be fully 
in class and will have completed its Special and Intermediate Survey according to the classification requirements. 

  

C) Each vessel, its cargo gear and all other equipment shall, as a condition of its charter, comply with all applicable rules, 
regulations and orders of government, local and port authorities, including those which relate to customs, operations, health, 
safety and environment in force at the loading port. It will have on board, available for inspection, all required certificates, 
records and other documents and shall conform in all respects to all relevant international regulations and agreements relating 
to operations, health, safety and environment. 
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Where all of the above details are furnished to Seller, Seller shall use its best efforts to provide such acceptance or rejection within 
four (4) working hours and in rare instances, no more than eight (8) working hours from receipt of Buyer’s said nomination and in 
the event of a rejection, the rejection provisions of Condition 3.4 above shall apply.  
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D) Each vessel shall not be on “The Paris Memorandum of Understanding on Port State Control”  list of “Banned Ships”  from the 

Paris MOU area ports. 

  

E) Each vessel will be fully insured and have Protection and Indemnity (“P & I” ) cover with all premiums paid. This P & I cover 
should be with a P & I club that is a member of the “International Group of P & I Associations”. If vessel’s P & I cover is not 
a member of the International Group of P & I Associations, Buyer shall provide Seller with details of its P & I cover upon 
nomination. 

  3.7 Such nomination of vessel complying with the requirements of Condition 3.6 above shall include all of the following details: 

  •   Buyer’s name;  
  •   Grade or Grades of Product to be loaded;  
  •   Vessel’s name;  
  •   Proposed Laydays and Cancelling date for Loading;  
  •   Year vessel built;  
  •   Number of Holds and Hatches;  
  •   Port of Destination;  

  
•   Expected time of arrival, within the five (5) day range established under 3.4 above, of said vessel, at *, which shall be early enough 

to permit completion of loading by 22:00 hours on a Friday;  

  
•   The minimum and maximum quantity of each grade of Product that Buyer requests Seller to load (and in whose option). This 

quantity shall be within the quantity range established under Condition 3.3.1. above and the PA;  
  •   Where more than one grade of Product is to be loaded, the required order of loading of the grades;  
  •   The demurrage and despatch rates of the vessel according to Buyer’s Charter party or Contract of Affreightment.  

  
3.8 Acceptance by Seller of a nomination under Condition 3.7 above shall be deemed to be a definite commitment for the vessel loading 

within the range of loading dates  
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If Buyer’s vessel fails inspection upon arrival at berth, and some other vessel is then waiting, and is ready to load subject only to 
availability of said berth, Buyer shall procure its vessel to vacate the berth forthwith at Buyer’s expense if Seller or its agent so requires.  

   

   

   

and the result shall be the Laytime expressed in terms of weather working days of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours (and pro-rated 
for fractions producing less than twenty-four (24) hours) allowed for the loading of each complete cargo, but in no event shall 
Laytime be less than twenty-four (24) hours, irrespective of the weight of Product loaded.  
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  established under that Condition and according to all the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  

4. SHIPPING PROVISIONS 

4.1 Buyer shall ensure that vessels nominated are (a) suitable for the berth, access thereto and loading facilities of or to be used by the Seller 
including length overall, draft and any other dimensions then in force at the loading terminal at the time in question, such that the vessel 
can safely reach and leave and where it can always lie safely afloat. It shall be the absolute responsibility of the Buyer to acquaint itself and 
comply with the requirements of the loading terminal current at the relevant time; (b)fit, clean and suitable and ready for receipt of Product 
at the berth; and, consistently with the need to ensure maintenance of the high purity of Product, Buyer shall be responsible for ensuring 
that vessel’s holds are swept and cleaned and are dry and free of loose rust and scale, and of all dunnage and previous cargo before vessel 
tenders NOR. If the berth is not available, then the Master may tender its notice of readiness at anchorage. But if the vessel fails inspection 
on arrival at berth, time consumed between vessel berthing and commencement of loading shall not count as laytime. 

  4.2 To calculate Laytime, the Bill of Lading weight (in Tonnes) of each complete cargo shall be divided by: 

  
A) * when the berth is that which is adjacent to Seller’s Supplier’s coke storage facilities at * and vessel is loaded by means of 

Seller’s Supplier’s vessel loading appliance directly from Seller’s Supplier’s dockside silo storage; 

  B) * when loading takes place by other means and/or at some other berth in accordance with 5.3 below; 

  
4.3 Subject to 4.1 and 4.2 above and to 4.4 below, Laytime shall commence at 14.00 hours if NOR to load is given to Seller’s Supplier’s 

agent before noon on a working day and at 06.00 hours the next working day if NOR is given to Seller’s agent at any other time. 
NOR is to be given during the normal office hours at the nominated dock, whether  
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vessel in berth or not. If loading shall commence prior to the commencement of Laytime, actual hours worked only shall count as 
time used.  

4.4 

  

 A) 

  

If Buyer’s said vessel arrives for loading before the lay days applicable under Condition 3.5 it shall give NOR to load to 
Seller’s agent and if other vessels are loading or about to load, it shall await its turn. Laytime shall commence at 06.00 
hours on the first day of the laydays applicable under Condition 3.5 or, if earlier, at the time at which Buyer’s vessel 
commences to load at the place designated by Seller but in this latter case actual hours worked only shall count as time 
used. 

  

 B) 

  

If Buyer’s vessel arrives for loading after the lay days applicable under Condition 3.5 and other vessels are about to load, 
Buyer’s vessel shall await its turn and Laytime shall not commence until the vessel commences to load at the place 
designated by Seller, hours used only to count as Laytime, or subject to Seller’s agreement, Buyer can cancel vessel 
loading and nominate new laydays when alternative vessel is secured. 

  4.5 The following shall not count against Laytime: 

A)   (i)   the time between 22.00 hours on a Friday and 06.00 hours on a Monday; or 

  

(ii) 
  

the time between 22.00 hours and midnight on a working day before a Public Holiday, the twenty-four (24) hours 
of a Public Holiday and time between midnight and 06.00 hours on a working day after a Public Holiday. 

B) 
  

any time lost in the event of suspension of the loading by reason of inclement weather, Buyer to ensure that Charter 
party contains a clause instructing Master to close the vessel’s hatches when loading ceases for such reason. 

  

C) any time lost or consumed by or in respect of any of the following, whether occurring during or after expiry of 
Laytime: 

  1.   vessel proceeding to berth; 

  

2. 
  

breakdown, inefficiency or any other cause attributable to the vessel, including failure of the vessel’s facilities or 
any other inability of the vessel to load within the time allowed; 



CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN CLAIMED  
FOR PORTIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH  

RULE 406 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1934 AND  
RULE 24b-2 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  
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  3.   the occurrence and/or continuance of any such event as is described in Condition 12 (Force Majeure); 

  4.   awaiting customs and immigration clearance and pratique; 

  5.   vessel making fast and clearing any berth; 

  6.   awaiting tugs, tides, pilot or daylight; 

  7   Buyer’s failure duly to comply with the requirements of this Agreement. 

  
4.6 Vessel loading shall be deemed to have been completed at the time at which the loading appliance has been withdrawn beyond the 

vessel’s rail at the completion of loading. 

  

4.7 Seller shall whenever possible assist Buyer in avoiding delays in the provision of a berth. Loading shall be continuous, weather and 
customs of the port permitting, and if such loading is not completed in the time provided for above, then Seller shall reimburse Buyer 
for such demurrage according to the terms of these General Conditions of Sale, and at the rate stipulated in the Charter Party or 
Contract of Affreightment for the vessel, to the extent that the same is directly and actually attributable to Seller’s fault. The Seller’s 
liability in all cases of delay, howsoever caused, shall be limited to the reimbursement of demurrage in accordance with this 
Condition 4.7 and the Seller shall not be liable for any other loss or damage, direct or indirect, which the Buyer may suffer as a result 
of loading not being completed in the time provided for herein. 

  
4.8 Despatch shall be earned by Seller at loading port on Laytime saved at one half of said demurrage rate if and to the extent that 

Laytime actually used is less than that allowed under this Agreement. 

  
4.9 For the purposes of agreeing and settling accounts for despatch earned or demurrage incurred on each vessel, the Parties agree to the 

following procedure: 

  
4.9.1 As soon as possible but in no event later than ninety (90) days after completion of loading, Buyer will furnish Seller with a 

written Laytime statement detailing: 

  A) allowed Laytime applicable to said vessel according to the terms of these General Conditions of Sale; 

  B) Laytime used for loading said vessel; 
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  C) net difference between (a) and (b) above (being time in respect of which despatch or demurrage is payable); 

  D) by reference to last mentioned time, the amount of despatch/demurrage due according to Conditions 4.7 and 4.8. 

  
4.9.2 Within thirty (30) days of receipt of each such statement, Seller shall advise Buyer whether or not Buyer’s statement is agreed and, if 

it is not, Seller shall provide Buyer with written details of Seller’s calculations but if they are not agreed by Buyer then the Parties 
will continue to work together in good faith to reach agreement. 

  

4.9.3 Each quarter, the Buyer shall cause its agent to send to the Seller the agreed net sum of despatch due to Seller from all vessels loaded 
in the previous quarter. Each quarter, the Buyer or Buyer’s Agent shall invoice the Seller for the agreed net sum of demurrage due to 
Buyer from all vessels loaded in the previous quarter. In each case payment will be made by the Party from which payment is due 
within thirty (30) days from the date on which the said net sum was finally agreed or within ten (10) days from date of receipt of 
invoice, whichever is the later. 

5. LOADING 

  

5.1 Buyer, Buyer’s agent or the master of Buyer’s vessel shall notify Seller’s Supplier’s agent by electronic mail, telex or facsimile upon 
departure of the vessel from its last port destined for port of loading advising of sailing time and expected time of arrival. At least 
forty-eight (48) hours, and again at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of arrival at the Loadport the Buyer, Buyer’s agent or the 
Master of Buyer’s vessel shall report the ETA to Seller’s Supplier’s agent at the Loadport. 

  
5.2 Additional levelling costs, if any, incurred when for example delivery is taken in vessels which are not single deck vessels, shall be 

for Buyer’s account. 

  

5.3 Seller agrees that, whenever practicable, the loading berth shall be the berth which is adjacent to Seller’s Supplier’s Product storage 
facilities at *. Whenever the latter is not available (for any reason whatsoever), Seller shall propose to Buyer an alternative loading 
berth at * or, if operating circumstances so require, at such other location as Seller shall reasonably nominate. The Buyer shall not 
unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to such nomination. In all cases, the foregoing is subject to (i) the operational 
requirements of Associated British Ports plc (as  
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  owners of the berths at *) and of the port authority and (ii) the rules and customs of the port of loading.  

  

5.4 Nothing in the Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to constitute or give rise to any implication of any warranty of the safety of 
any port, berth, dock, anchorage and/or other place to which the vessel may be ordered to load or discharge, and Seller shall not have 
or engage any duty or liability for any loss, damage, injury or delay resulting from conditions at such ports, berths, docks, anchorages 
or other places not caused by Seller’s fault or neglect or which could have been avoided by the exercise of reasonable care on the part 
of the Master. 

  

5.5 Seller shall be entitled but not obliged to inspect the vessel’s cargo compartments prior to loading to determine whether they are fit 
and suitable and in all respects ready for receipt of Product but nothing in this sub-condition or done by Seller shall diminish, remove 
or otherwise affect Buyer’s obligations under Condition 4.1 or give rise to legal relations between Buyer and Seller. If Seller, on 
reasonable grounds related to cleanliness, deems vessel unsuitable for loading, Seller shall notify Buyer (or Buyer’s agent) and, as a 
pre-condition to loading, Buyer (or Buyer’s agent) shall immediately procure the vessel to be made suitable for loading consistently 
with Condition 4.1. 

6. MEASUREMENT 

  
6.1 Measurement of Product supplied shall be calculated by reference to the loaded quantity as assessed at Seller’s Supplier’s calibrated 

weighing equipment at * or over a certified weighbridge. 

  
6.2 The accuracy of Seller’s Supplier’s aforesaid weighing equipment shall on request by Buyer be certified by an independent inspector 

acceptable to both Parties. If the inspector finds that the weighing mechanism has an error greater than 0.5 percent, the cost of the 
inspection shall be for the account of Seller; if 0.5 percent or less, for the account of the Buyer. 

7. INVOICING AND PAYMENT 

  
7.1 For all deliveries of Product hereunder, Seller shall invoice Buyer or Buyer’s nominated party or agent promptly but in any event 

within seven (7) working days after completion of loading in US dollars or in such other currency as may be agreed between the 
Parties from time to time. 

  
7.2 Buyer or Buyer’s nominated party or agent shall pay Seller against all such invoices in full and free of any charges to the Seller, 

without discount, counterclaim, withholding, set-off or other deduction to the Seller’s bank account as set out on  
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Seller’s Invoice so that Seller receives electronic payment with good value by not later than the * day of the month following the 
month of delivery. Should Buyer repeatedly exceed or otherwise commit a breach of such terms, Seller may thenceforth require 
Buyer to pay in cash against delivery for all subsequent deliveries until such time as Seller and Buyer are able mutually to agree on 
re-establishment of suitable payment terms.  

  

7.3 If payment is not made by Buyer punctually and strictly in accordance with condition 7.2 above, Seller shall have the right to demand 
and Buyer shall thereupon pay interest on the amount which is unpaid from due date until date of actual receipt of payment by Seller 
at a rate equal to *% (* per cent) above the * for US Dollar deposits quoted by the British Bankers Association (BBA) 2 days before 
the due date of payment and calculated on a daily basis from the date when payment first became due. 

  
7.4 If any payment falls due on a Saturday or bank holiday other than a Monday, then such payment shall be made on the last preceding 

banking day. If any payment falls due on a Sunday or Monday bank holiday, then such payment shall be made on the first following 
banking day. 

  

7.5 If at any time the reliability or the financial responsibility of Buyer (or of any guarantor or other person furnishing security in support 
of Buyer) should in Seller’s reasonable opinion be or become impaired or unsatisfactory, advance payment shall be made, or at 
Seller’s option other security satisfactory to Seller shall be given by Buyer to Seller on demand by Seller in respect of each delivery 
of Product. After such demand, and in the event that Product has not already been delivered, Seller may withhold any Product until 
such payment or security has been provided. If Buyer fails to provide such payment or security within two (2) London banking days 
after such demand is made, Seller may forthwith by notice terminate the Agreement without prejudice to any rights of action or 
claims it may have under the Agreement. In order to assist the Seller in assessing the financial responsibility of the Buyer (or of any 
guarantor or other person furnishing security in support of Buyer), the Buyer shall provide its audited financial statements (or those 
of such person providing a guarantee or security) promptly upon publication and no less frequently than each year. 

8. TAXES AND CHARGES 
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9. QUALITY DETERMINATION 

  9.1 Quality of Product shall be determined by reference to each delivery when taken as a whole. 

  

9.2 From each delivery Seller shall take and mingle sufficient samples of Product as fairly to represent the average quality of the delivery 
as a whole and shall have * of the * in its laboratories, send * for * to Buyer and keep * in store for at least six (6) months for control 
purposes. Seller shall immediately inform Buyer by facsimile or electronic mail of the findings of Seller’s analysis and Buyer shall 
without delay inform Seller if Buyer’s analysis differs materially from the findings of the Seller’s analysis. 

  
9.3 All analyses of the Product samples shall be performed in accordance with the methods referred to in the Specification Agreement, 

which methods may be subject to alteration by agreement of both Parties. 

  

9.4 In the event of a dispute over analysis the Parties agree to submit the material retained by Seller for an analysis by an independent 
laboratory acceptable to both Parties and this analysis shall be binding. The Party whose analysis differs most from the analysis of 
the independent laboratory shall pay the costs of the analysis by the independent laboratory unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
parties. 

10. CLAIMS 

  
10.1 Any claims by Buyer with regard to quantity or alleged quality defects shall be made by written notice sent by electronic mail, fax 

and/or by post setting out the particulars thereof within * days after delivery of the Product in question, failing which it shall be 
forever barred. 

  
10.2 Unless otherwise agreed between the Parties, Buyer shall not be at liberty to reject or return part only of a delivery of Product and 

shall be at liberty to reject or return the entire delivery only if, when taken as a whole, it is not in conformity with the requirements of 
the Quality Clause of the Principal Agreement. 

  
10.3 In any case where the Buyer has the right to reject any delivery of Product, it is the intention of the Parties to agree on the most 

economic and mutually beneficial manner of dealing with the situation. 

  
10.4 Seller shall in no event be liable for any amount in excess of the purchase price for the Product involved or for consequential 

damages of any type or nature and howsoever arising including, without limitation, negligence. Neither Party shall be liable (whether 
under this Agreement or otherwise in connection with it) in  
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contract, tort, breach of statutory duty or otherwise, in respect of any indirect or consequential loss or expense. In particular, but 
without limitation, neither Party shall be liable for any loss of profit, cost of wasted overheads, loss of revenue, loss resulting from 
shut-down of plant, loss of contract, loss of use or business interruption or for any liability for consequential demurrage or other 
losses incurred by other vessels that were caused by, or affected by, delays to the subject vessel, whether or not foreseeable. The 
provisions of this clause shall continue to apply notwithstanding the termination or expiry of the Agreement for any reason 
whatsoever.  

11. TERMINATION 

  11.1 Either Party may terminate this Agreement forthwith by giving written notice by registered letter to the other Party in the event that: 

  
A) save in the circumstances set out in (b) below, the other Party commits a material breach of this Agreement and fails to 

remedy the breach and any consequence thereof within thirty (30) days after having been called upon to do so by registered 
letter by the Party affected thereby; or 

  
B) the other Party fails to make, when due, any payment under this Agreement required to be made by it if such failure is not 

remedied on or before the third business day after notice of such failure is given to the Party 

  

C) the other Party (1) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger where the successor entity is 
acceptable to the other Party); (2) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or admits in writing its inability 
generally to pay its debts as they become due; (3) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the 
benefit of its creditors; (4) institutes or has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy 
or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is 
presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any such proceeding or petition instituted or presented against 
it, such proceeding or petition (A) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the 
making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (B) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each case 
within 30 days of the institution or presentation thereof; (5) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or 
liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger where the successor entity is acceptable to the 
other Party); (6) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, 
receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (7) has a secured party take  
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possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process 
levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any 
such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 30 days thereafter; or (8) causes or is 
subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of 
the events specified in (1) to (7) above (inclusive).  

  
11.2 Following termination, all amounts outstanding shall become immediately due and payable and any obligations to sell and deliver 

Product in accordance with the Principal Agreement shall terminate absolutely. 

  
11.3 Any termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any rights or remedies which either Party may otherwise have in 

respect of the period prior to such termination. 

12. FORCE MAJEURE 

  

12.1 Except in relation to obligations to make payments hereunder, if either Party is temporarily or permanently prevented, hindered or 
delayed in discharging any obligation or performing any duty imposed on it by this Agreement, it shall not be treated, whenever such 
prevention, hindrance or delay results from the occurrence of any circumstance or event which is beyond the reasonable control of 
such Party, as constituting a breach of this Agreement, and any obligation to discharge such contractual duty shall, during the period 
and to the extent of such prevention, hindrance or delay, be extinguished. A Party which is thus temporarily relieved of any 
obligation or duty imposed upon it by this Agreement shall take all reasonable and practicable measures and shall make all diligent 
efforts to remove or cause the removal of the cause of the prevention, hindrance or delay at the earliest possible moment. 

  

12.2 Circumstances or events beyond the reasonable control of the Parties shall include (but shall not be limited to) war, revolution, 
insurrection, sabotage, riot, strikes, civil commotion, acts of God, fire, explosion, acts of government or any agency, branch, 
department or representative thereof, and such interference with or curtailment of (i) the availability from any of Seller’s existing or 
contemplated sources of supply of the Product or the crude oil or the feedstock required for the manufacture of Product or 
(ii) transportation of the Product or such crude oil or feedstock, as either to delay or hinder the Seller in, or to prevent the Seller from, 
supplying the full quantity of Product or as either to delay or hinder the Buyer in, or to prevent the Buyer from, receiving the full 
quantity of the Product. 
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12.3 Upon the occurrence of any of the Force Majeure events described above, the Party claiming Force Majeure shall notify the other 
Party in writing within ten (10) working days of such event and, to the extent possible, inform the other Party of the expected 
duration of the Force Majeure event and the quantity of Product likely to be affected by the prevention, hindrance or delay in 
performance of this Agreement. Failure to notify in accordance herewith shall preclude such Party from claiming that any of its 
obligations hereunder were temporarily relieved pursuant to this Condition. The Party claiming Force Majeure shall also notify the 
other Party without delay after the cessation of the cause of prevention, hindrance or delay in performance of the Agreement 

  

12.4 If by reason of the occurrence of any of the Force Majeure events described above Seller is prevented, hindered or delayed, in 
delivering the full quantity of Product herein contracted for, Seller shall be at liberty, without any liability, to withhold, reduce or 
suspend any delivery hereunder to such extent as Seller considers reasonable and equitable in all the circumstances. In such event, 
Buyer shall be free to purchase from other suppliers to the extent of any deficiency caused by the operation of this condition but 
nothing contained in or to be implied by reason of any provision of the Agreement shall be construed or treated as requiring Seller to 
acquire by purchase or otherwise any additional or alternative quantities from other suppliers or supply sources. 

  
12.5 a) In the event that said delay, hindrance or prevention in performance by either Party continues for longer than ninety 

(90) consecutive days from such notification of said delay, hindrance or prevention, either Party shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement upon written notice given to other Party. 

  
12.6 For the purposes of the foregoing provisions of this Condition 12, regard shall be had to the whole of Seller’s obligations to supply 

its contracted customers with petroleum coke (of all grades) from its Supplier’s Humber Refinery and any delay, hindrance or 
prevention shall be assessed accordingly. 

13. LIMITATION OF ASSIGNMENT 

  
13.1 Neither of the Parties to the Agreement shall, without the previous consent in writing of the other Party assign this Agreement or any 

rights or obligations hereunder but this shall not apply in the case of an assignment by either Party to any  
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Conflicts of interest relating to this Agreement are strictly prohibited. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, neither Party to 
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or officer of the other, or designee of such employee or officer, any payments or rebates, or favor employees or officers of the other 
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sold at less than full market value, or enter into business arrangements with employees or officers of the other Party, unless such 
employees or officers are acting as representatives of that other Party.  
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  company which is controlled by it, controls it or is under common control with it, whether directly or indirectly in each case.  

  
13.2 In all cases of assignment the assignor shall always remain liable for the observance and performance of the obligations on its part 

arising under or by reason of the provisions of the Agreement to the extent that they or any of them shall not be duly observed and 
performed by the assignee. 

14. NOTICES 

  

14.1 All notices, declarations and other communications excluding routine notices, shall be in writing, sent by post, postage paid, or by 
telex or facsimile or, where permitted by the Agreement by email, to the address of the other Party as expressly stated in Principal 
Agreement or such other address as they may from time to time specify for this purpose and shall, unless otherwise specifically 
provided herein, be deemed to have been given or made on the day on or at the time at which it could reasonably be expected to have 
been received. 

  14.2 Either Party may from time to time nominate a particular person or persons to whose attention communications shall be addressed. 

15. ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

16. GENERAL 

  
16.1 Any express or implied condition, statement, representation or warranty, statutory or otherwise, with respect to any matter is hereby 

excluded so far as lawfully permitted. 

  
16.2 This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties hereto and there are no oral representations, 

promises or warranties affecting  
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the same. To the extent applicable, Buyer specifically acknowledges that any pre-printed purchase terms submitted to Seller in 
connection with this Agreement (if any) shall be disregarded for the purposes of this Agreement. Save to the extent set out in this 
Agreement, and so far as lawfully permitted, the Parties hereby waive any rights that would arise, in favour of either or both of them, 
by operation of law.  

  
16.3 Each delivery of Product shall be deemed to be the subject of a separate sale under a separate contract and any deficiency or other 

default concerning the same shall not invalidate or otherwise affect the rights and obligations hereunder of either Party in relation to 
the remainder of the quantity of Product to be sold and purchased under this Agreement. 

  16.4 Except in the case of explicit notice to the contrary given to the other Party: 

  
A) the temporary, repeated or permanent disregard of any of its rights under this Agreement by a Party shall not constitute a 

waiver of such rights, 

  
B) no action or communication of a Party shall constitute a waiver of any breach of this Agreement by the other Party, and no 

waiver shall operate to waive any subsequent breach, whether of the same provision or any other. 

  

16.6 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law. The Parties hereby submit to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the English Courts without recourse to arbitration or any conflict of law rules in respect of any claim or dispute arising 
out of or in connection with this Agreement and waive any and all objections to any inconvenience of the forum. The United Nations 
Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods 1980 shall not apply and the Parties agree to the service of process in 
any proceedings by registered mail at their respective registered offices. 

  
16.7 Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein or inconsistent herewith, INCOTERMS 2010 (as amended from time to time 

prior to this Agreement) shall apply. 



EXHIBIT 10.17.0 

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT  

AGREEMENT dated as of                     , 20     (this “ Agreemen t”), by and between GrafTech International Ltd., a Delaware corporation 
(the “ Corporation ”), and              (the “ Indemnitee ”).  

WITNESSETH:  

WHEREAS , it is in the best interests of the Corporation and its stockholders to retain and attract as directors and officers the most 
capable persons available; and  

WHEREAS , the Indemnitee serves, or is expected to serve, as a director or officer of the Corporation, or both; and  

WHEREAS , the Corporation and the Indemnitee recognize that there is a material risk of claims being asserted against directors and 
officers of public companies, including claims without merit and claims asserting personal liability solely by reason of service as such; and  

WHEREAS , protection against undue risk of personal liability of directors and officers is currently provided through certain insurance 
coverage, but no assurance can be given that such insurance will be able to be maintained at reasonable cost or that such insurance coverage will 
be sufficient; and  

WHEREAS , the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the Corporation, or both, generally require the Corporation to indemnify and 
advance expenses to directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “ Law ”), 
but no assurance can be given that such requirement will not be changed in the future; and  

WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “ Board ”) has determined that it would be in the best interests of the 
Corporation and its stockholders to assure its directors and officers that protection against undue risk of personal liability will be available in the 
future; and  

WHEREAS , the Indemnitee is willing to serve as a director or officer, or both, of the Corporation in part in reliance on such assurance;  

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises, covenants and agreements contained herein and other good, valuable and 
sufficient consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Corporation and the Indemnitee (collectively, the “ Parties ” and, 
sometimes individually, a “ Party ”), intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:  

1. Certain Definitions . The following terms shall have the meanings indicated below:  

A “ Change in Control ” shall be deemed to occur upon the occurrence of any of the following events or circumstances:  

(A) any “person” or group within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “ 
Exchange Act ”) becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the then outstanding common stock of the Corporation or 15% or more of the 
then outstanding voting securities of the Corporation;  



(B) any “person” or group within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act acquires, by proxy or 
otherwise, the right to vote on any matter or question with respect to 15% or more of the then outstanding common stock of the Corporation or 
15% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Corporation;  

(C) Present Directors (as defined below) and New Directors (as defined below) cease for any reason to constitute a majority 
of the Board (and, for purposes of this clause (C), “ Present Directors ” shall mean individuals who, at the date hereof, were members of the 
Board and “ New Directors ” shall mean individuals whose election by the Board or whose nomination for election as directors by the 
Corporation’s stockholders was approved by at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Present Directors and New Directors then in office);  

(D) the stockholders of the Corporation approve a plan of dissolution or complete or substantially complete liquidation of the 
Corporation; or  

(E) the consummation of:  

(i) any reorganization, restructuring, recapitalization, reincorporation, merger, consolidation or similar form of corporate 
transaction involving the Corporation (a “ Business Combination ”) unless, following such Business Combination, (a) all or 
substantially all of the persons who were the beneficial owners of the common stock of the Corporation and the voting 
securities of the Corporation outstanding immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or 
indirectly, more than 85% of the common equity securities and the combined voting power of the voting securities of the 
entity resulting from such Business Combination (including the Corporation, if it is such resulting entity) outstanding after 
such Business Combination (including an entity that, as a result of such Business Combination, owns the Corporation or all or 
substantially all of the assets of the Corporation and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, either directly or through one or 
more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of common stock of the Corporation and combined 
voting power of the voting securities of the Corporation, respectively, outstanding immediately prior to such Business 
Combination, (b) no “person” or group within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act (excluding 
(x) any entity resulting from such Business Combination and (y) any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of any entity 
resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns 15% or more of the common equity securities or of the 
combined voting power of the voting securities of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including the 
Corporation, if it is such resulting entity) outstanding after such Business Combination (including an entity that, as a result of 
such Business Combination, owns the Corporation or all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, either directly or through one or  



more subsidiaries), except to the extent that such beneficial ownership existed prior to such Business Combination with 
respect to the common stock of the Corporation and the voting securities of the Corporation, and (c) at least two-thirds of the 
members of the board of directors (or similar governing body) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were 
members of the Board at the earliest of the time of the execution of the initial agreement providing for such Business 
Combination, the time of the action of the Board approving such Business Combination or, if such approval is required or 
sought, at the time of action of the stockholders approving such Business Combination; or  

(ii) any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or a majority 
of the assets of the Corporation, whether held directly or indirectly through one or more subsidiaries (excluding any pledge, 
mortgage, grant of security interest, sale-leaseback or similar transaction, but including any foreclosure sale).  

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur pursuant to clause (A) or (B) above 
solely because 15% or more of the then outstanding common stock of the Corporation or the then outstanding voting securities of the 
Corporation is or becomes beneficially owned or is directly or indirectly held or acquired by one or more employee benefit plans (or related 
trusts) maintained by the Corporation. For purposes of this definition, references to “beneficial owner” and correlative phrases shall have the 
same meaning as set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act (except that ownership by underwriters (including when acting as initial 
purchasers in a private offering) solely for purposes of a distribution or offering shall not be deemed to be “beneficial ownership”), references to 
“affiliate” and “associates” shall have the same meaning as set forth under the Exchange Act and references to the Exchange Act shall mean the 
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder as in effect on the date hereof.  

“ Claim ” shall include any complaint, allegation, charge, petition, appeal, demand, notice, filing, inquiry, investigation, or claim of any 
kind, whether anticipated, pending, or completed, that commences, alleges a basis to commence or threatens to commence any Proceeding by or 
before any Governmental Authority or Judicial Authority or that asserts, alleges a basis to assert or threatens to assert any right, breach, default, 
violation, noncompliance, termination, cancellation or other action or omission that could result in an Expense, Liability or Loss.  

“ Expenses ” shall include any and all costs, expenses and charges (including attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, court costs, retainers, transcript 
fees, travel and lodging costs, and duplicating, printing and binding costs, as well as telecommunications, postage and courier charges) of any 
kind.  

“ Governmental Authority ” shall include any government (including any U.S. Federal, foreign, state, provincial, cantonal, city, municipal 
or county government), any political subdivision thereof and any governmental, administrative, ministerial, regulatory, enforcement, 
prosecutorial, central bank, self-regulatory, quasi-governmental, taxing, executive or legislative department, commission, body, agency, 
authority or instrumentality of any thereof.  



“ Indemnifiable Amounts ” shall mean any and all Expenses, Losses and Liabilities arising out of or resulting from any Claim or 
Proceeding relating to an Indemnifiable Event. “ Indemnifiable Expenses ,” “ Indemnifiable Losses ” and “ Indemnifiable Liabilities ” shall 
mean such Expenses, Losses and Liabilities, respectively.  

“ Indemnifiable Event ” shall mean any event or circumstance, whether occurring or existing before, on or after the date of this Agreement, 
related to (i) the fact that the Indemnitee is or was serving as a director, officer, employee, manager, trustee, agent or fiduciary of the Corporation 
or is or was serving at the request of or for the Corporation as a director, officer, manager, employee, trustee, partner, advisor, consultant, 
representative, agent or fiduciary of another Person or (ii) anything done or not done by the Indemnitee in any such capacity. “ Indemnifiable 
Event ” includes (i) a Claim or Proceeding to enforce the Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement and (ii) investigating, defending, being a 
witness in or participating in, or preparing to investigate, defend, be a witness in or participate in, any Claim or Proceeding in relation thereto.  

“ Independent Legal Counsel ” shall mean an attorney or firm of attorneys, selected in accordance with Section 3, who is experienced in 
matters of corporate law and who shall not have otherwise performed services for the Corporation or the Indemnitee within the last five years 
(other than with respect to matters concerning the rights of the Indemnitee under this Agreement or of other indemnitees under similar indemnity 
agreements).  

“ Judicial Authority ” shall include any court, arbitrator, special master, receiver, tribunal or other department, commission, body, agency, 
authority or instrumentality exercising judicial or quasi-judicial authority of any kind.  

“ Liability ” shall include any liability, duty, damage, judgment, settlement payment, responsibility, obligation, assessment, cost, expense, 
expenditure, charge, fee, penalty, fine, contribution, excise tax, premium or obligation of any kind (including all interest, assessments and other 
charges paid or payable in respect thereof), whether known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, 
liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due, and regardless of when sustained, incurred or asserted or when the relevant events occurred 
or circumstances existed.  

“ Loss ” shall include any Liability or any shortage, damage, diminution in value, deficiency or loss of any kind.  

“ Proceeding ” shall include any action, suit, arbitration, mediation, litigation, hearing, investigation, inquiry, appeal, review or other 
proceeding of any kind involving any Governmental Authority, any Judicial Authority or any other Person.  

“ Person ” shall include an individual, a partnership, a sole proprietorship, a company, a firm, a corporation, a limited liability company, an 
association, a joint stock company, a trust, a joint venture, an unincorporated organization, an employee benefit plan or trust, a union, a group 
acting in concert, a Judicial Authority, a Governmental Authority or any other entity, enterprise or association of any kind.  



“ Reviewing Party ” shall mean a Person (independent in respect of such matter) selected to review one or more matters within the subject 
matter of this Agreement. If a Reviewing Party is to be appointed and there has not been a Change in Control, the selection of such Reviewing 
Party shall be made by the Board (or any appropriate committee of the Board consisting solely of directors). If a Reviewing Party is to be 
appointed and there has been a Change in Control (other than a Change in Control that has been approved by a majority of the directors who 
were directors immediately prior to such Change in Control), such Reviewing Party shall be Independent Legal Counsel.  

2. Basic Indemnification Arrangement; Advancement of Expenses .  

(a) If the Indemnitee was, is or becomes a party to or witness or other participant in, or was, is or becomes threatened to be made a 
party to or witness or other participant in, a Claim or Proceeding by reason or arising out, in whole or in part, of an Indemnifiable Event, the 
Corporation shall indemnify (to the fullest extent permitted by law) the Indemnitee as soon as practicable, but in any event no later than thirty 
days after written demand is presented to the Corporation, against any and all Indemnifiable Amounts.  

(b) If so requested by the Indemnitee, the Corporation shall advance (within five business days after written request is presented to 
the Corporation) any and all Expenses incurred by the Indemnitee (an “ Expense Advance ”) by reason or arising out, in whole or in part, of an 
Indemnifiable Event. The Corporation shall, in accordance with such request (but without duplication), either (i) pay such Expenses on behalf of 
the Indemnitee or (ii) reimburse the Indemnitee for such Expenses. The Indemnitee’s right to an Expense Advance is absolute and shall not be 
subject to any prior determination by any Reviewing Party, Independent Legal Counsel, the Board (or any committee of the Board or group of 
directors), the stockholders (or group of stockholders) or any other Person that the Indemnitee has satisfied any applicable standard of conduct 
for indemnification.  

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Indemnitee shall not be entitled to indemnification or 
advancement of Expenses pursuant to this Agreement in connection with any Claim or Proceeding initiated by the Indemnitee unless (i) the 
Corporation has joined in, or the Board has authorized or consented to the initiation of, such Claim or Proceeding or (ii) the Claim or Proceeding 
is one to enforce the Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement.  

(d) The Indemnitee hereby undertakes to repay to the Corporation all Expense Advances made hereunder if it is ultimately judicially 
determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under applicable law. The Indemnitee’s undertaking to repay such Expense 
Advances shall be unsecured and interest-free. The Indemnitee shall not be required to post a bond or other security for any repayment of 
Expense Advances that may become due.  

(e) If the Indemnitee has commenced or commences Proceedings to secure a determination that the Indemnitee is entitled to 
indemnification, hereunder or otherwise, any determination made by any Reviewing Party, Independent Legal Counsel, the Board (or any  



committee of the Board or group of directors), the stockholders (or any group of stockholders) or any other Person that the Indemnitee is not 
entitled to indemnification, hereunder or otherwise, shall not be binding and the Indemnitee shall not be required to repay the Corporation under 
Section 2(d) until a final judicial determination is made with respect thereto (as to which all rights of appeal therefrom have been exhausted or 
lapsed).  

(f) Nothing contained in this Agreement (including the pendency of any review of any matter within the subject matter of this 
Agreement by any Reviewing Party, Independent Legal Counsel, the Board (or any committee of the Board or group of directors), the 
stockholders (or any group of stockholders) or any other Person) shall limit, restrict or impair the right, power or authority of the Indemnitee 
(i) to seek enforcement of this Agreement or exercise of other rights to indemnification or advancement of expenses or (ii) under any directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Corporation, in each case at any time and from time to time and by any means.  

3. Change in Control . If there is a Change in Control and thereafter the Corporation or the Board (or any committee of the Board or group 
of directors) seeks legal advice with respect to any matter concerning the rights of the Indemnitee to indemnification or advancement of 
expenses, hereunder or otherwise, or under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Corporation, the 
Corporation shall seek and rely on legal advice only from Independent Legal Counsel selected by the Indemnitee and approved by the 
Corporation (which approval shall not be unreasonably delayed, conditioned or withheld). Any such advice given by such Independent Legal 
Counsel must be given in writing to the Corporation, with a copy to the Indemnitee. The Corporation shall pay the fees and expenses of such 
Independent Legal Counsel and shall indemnify it against any and all Expenses, Losses and Liabilities arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto.  

4. Indemnification for Additional Expenses . The Corporation shall indemnify the Indemnitee against any and all Expenses and, if 
requested by the Indemnitee, shall advance such Expenses to the Indemnitee subject to and in accordance with Section 2(b) in connection with 
any Claim or Proceeding brought by the Indemnitee for (i) indemnification or advancement of expenses, hereunder or otherwise, or (ii) recovery 
under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Corporation, regardless of whether the Indemnitee is ultimately 
determined to be entitled to such indemnification, advancement or recovery, as the case may be.  

5. Partial Indemnity and Successful Defense .  

(a) If the Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification or advancement of expenses, hereunder or otherwise, for a portion of the 
Indemnifiable Expenses, Indemnifiable Losses or Indemnifiable Liabilities in respect of a Claim or Proceeding, but not for the total amount 
thereof, the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which the Indemnitee is entitled.  

(b) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, to the extent that the Indemnitee has been successful, on the merits or 
otherwise, in defense of any Claim or  



Proceeding relating in whole or in part to an Indemnifiable Event or in defense of any issue or matter therein, including dismissal without 
prejudice, the Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses in connection therewith.  

6. Burden of Proof . In connection with any determination by the Reviewing Party, Independent Legal Counsel, the Board (or any 
committee of the Board or group of directors), the stockholders (or any group of stockholders) or any other Person as to whether the Indemnitee 
is entitled to indemnification, hereunder or otherwise, it shall be presumed that the Indemnitee has satisfied the applicable standard of conduct 
and is entitled to indemnification and the burden of proof shall be on the Corporation to establish, by clear and convincing evidence, that the 
Indemnitee is not so entitled.  

7. Reliance and Knowledge . For purposes of this Agreement and all other purposes, the Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good 
faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation if the Indemnitee’s actions or 
omissions are taken in good faith reliance upon the records of the Corporation, including its financial statements, or upon information, opinions, 
reports or statements furnished to the Indemnitee by the officers or employees of the Corporation in the course of their duties, or by committees 
of the Board, or by any other Person (including legal counsel, accountants and financial advisors) as to matters which the Indemnitee reasonably 
believes are within such other Person’s competence and who has been selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Corporation. In 
addition, the knowledge, actions and omissions of any director, officer, agent, manager, representative, counsel, accountant, advisor, consultant, 
partner, trustee, manager, fiduciary or employee of the Corporation or its subsidiaries or other affiliates shall not be imputed to the Indemnitee 
for purposes of determining the right to indemnification or advancement of expenses, hereunder or otherwise.  

8. No Other Presumptions . For purposes of this Agreement and all other purposes, the termination of any Claim or Proceeding, by 
judgment, order, settlement (whether with or without court approval) or conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not 
create a presumption that the Indemnitee did not meet any particular standard of conduct or have any particular belief or that a court has 
determined that indemnification is not permitted by applicable law. In addition, neither the failure of the Reviewing Party, Independent Legal 
Counsel, the Board (or any committee of the Board or group of directors), the stockholders (or any group of stockholders) or any other Person to 
have made a determination as to whether the Indemnitee has met any particular standard of conduct or had any particular belief, nor an actual 
determination by any of them that the Indemnitee has not met such standard of conduct or did not have such belief, prior to the commencement 
of Proceedings by the Indemnitee to secure a judicial determination that the Indemnitee should be indemnified, shall be a defense to the 
Indemnitee’s claim or create a presumption that the Indemnitee has not met any particular standard of conduct or did not have any particular 
belief.  

9. Nonexclusivity and Automatic Amendment . The rights of the Indemnitee hereunder shall be in addition to any other rights the 
Indemnitee may have under the Corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws, under the Law, or otherwise. To the extent that a change in 
applicable law (whether by statute or judicial decision) permits greater  



indemnification by agreement than would be afforded currently under the Corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws or this 
Agreement, this Agreement shall automatically and without further action by the Parties be deemed amended to provide for such greater 
indemnification.  

10. Liability Insurance . To the extent the Corporation maintains a policy or policies providing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, 
the Corporation shall cause the Indemnitee to be covered by such policy or policies, in accordance with its or their terms, to the maximum extent 
of the coverage available for any director or officer of the Corporation.  

11. Period of Limitations . No Claim or Proceeding shall be asserted or brought, initiated or commenced by or in the right of the 
Corporation against the Indemnitee or the Indemnitee’s estate, heirs, executors or personal or legal representatives after the expiration of two 
years from the date of accrual of the underlying cause of action, and any cause of action of the Corporation against the Indemnitee shall be 
extinguished and deemed released unless asserted by the timely filing of a Proceeding within such two-year period; provided, however, that, if 
any shorter period of limitations is otherwise applicable to any such cause of action, such shorter period shall govern; and, provided further that, 
this Section 11 shall not apply to any “clawback” provision under any applicable securities law or under any applicable incentive or bonus plan 
or agreement or employment, severance or separation agreement.  

12. Subrogation . In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Corporation shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of 
the rights of recovery of the Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers reasonably required and shall do everything that may be reasonably 
necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to enable the Corporation effectively to commence and 
prosecute a Proceeding to enforce such rights.  

13. No Duplication of Payments . The Corporation shall not be liable to make any payment hereunder to the extent that the Indemnitee has 
actually received payment (under any insurance policy, provision of the Corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws, or otherwise) of 
the amounts otherwise payable hereunder.  

14. Defense of Claims . The Corporation shall be entitled to participate in the defense of any Claim or Proceeding relating to an 
Indemnifiable Event or to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnitee; provided, that, if the Indemnitee 
believes, after consultation with counsel selected by the Indemnitee, that (i) the use of counsel chosen by the Corporation to represent the 
Indemnitee would present such counsel with an actual or potential conflict of interest, (ii) the named parties in any such Claim or Proceeding 
(including any impleaded parties) include both the Corporation and the Indemnitee and the Indemnitee concludes that there may be one or more 
legal defenses available to him or her that are different from or in addition to those available to the Corporation or (iii) representation by such 
counsel would be precluded under the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, then the Indemnitee shall be entitled to retain 
separate counsel (but not more than one law firm, plus, if applicable, local counsel in respect of any particular Claim or Proceeding) at the 
Corporation’s expense. The Corporation shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee (not to be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed), effect any settlement of any Claim or  



Proceeding relating to an Indemnifiable Event in respect of which the Indemnitee has had or could have any Expense, Liability or Loss unless 
(i) such settlement solely involves the payment of money and includes a complete and unconditional release of the Indemnitee from all Liability 
on all causes of action that are the subject matter of such Claim or Proceeding and (ii) all such Expenses, Liabilities and Losses will be paid or 
reimbursed by or for the Corporation without any liability, obligation or responsibility on the part of the Indemnitee. The Indemnitee shall not, 
without the prior written consent of the Corporation (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), effect any settlement of any 
Claim or Proceeding relating to an Indemnifiable Event in respect of which the Corporation has had or could have any liability, obligation or 
responsibility for any Indemnifiable Amount unless the Indemnitee has in good faith requested security pursuant to Section 15 and such security 
has not been provided.  

15. Security . To the extent requested by the Indemnitee and approved by the Board (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, 
delayed or conditioned), the Corporation shall provide security to the Indemnitee for the obligations of the Corporation hereunder through an 
irrevocable bank line of credit, funded trust or other collateral or by other means. Any such security, once provided to the Indemnitee, may not 
be revoked or released without the prior written consent of such the Indemnitee.  

16. Specific Performance . The Corporation acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by it is likely to cause 
irreparable harm to the Indemnitee and that remedies at law are likely to be inadequate and insufficient to protect the Indemnitee against any 
such actual or threatened breach. Accordingly, the Corporation agrees to the granting of specific performance, injunctive relief and other 
equitable remedies in favor of the Indemnitee in the event of any such breach or threatened breach, without proof of actual damages and without 
the requirement to post any bond or other security. Such performance, relief and remedies shall not be the exclusive remedy for such a breach or 
threatened breach, but shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies available at law, in equity or otherwise.  

17. Notice . All requests and demands required or permitted to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by written notice, shall 
be transmitted by personal delivery, registered or certified mail (return receipt requested, postage prepaid), nationally recognized courier service, 
facsimile or email, and shall be addressed to the intended recipient at the address of its principal executive office (in the case of the Corporation) 
or his principal residence as shown on the records of the Corporation (in the case of the Indemnitee). A Party may designate a new address to 
which such notices shall thereafter be transmitted by giving written notice to that effect to the other Party. Each notice transmitted in the manner 
described herein shall be deemed to have been (a) delivered to the addressee as indicated by the return receipt (if transmitted by mail), the 
mailing label (if transmitted by courier service), the affidavit of the messenger (if transmitted by personal delivery) or the answerback, call back 
or email receipt (if transmitted by facsimile or email) or (b) presented for delivery to the addressee as so indicated during normal business hours, 
if such delivery shall have been refused for any reason.  

18. Governing Law and Jurisdiction . THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE (WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY 
CHOICE OR CONFLICT OF LAW RULE THAT WOULD CAUSE THE APPLICATION OF  



THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE TO THE RIGHTS AND 
DUTIES OF THE PARTIES). Each Party agrees that any proceeding arising out of or relating to this letter agreement or the breach or threatened 
breach hereof shall be commenced and prosecuted in a court in the State of Delaware. Each Party consents and submits to the exclusive personal 
jurisdiction of any court in the State of Delaware in respect of any such proceeding. Each Party consents to service of process upon it with 
respect to any such proceeding by any means by which notices may be transmitted hereunder or by any other means permitted by applicable laws 
and rules. Each Party waives any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such proceeding in any court in the 
State of Delaware and any claim that it may now or hereafter have that any such proceeding in any court in the State of Delaware has been 
brought in an inconvenient forum.  

19. Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall be binding upon, shall inure to the benefit of and shall be enforceable by the Parties and 
their respective successors (including any successor by reason of a purchase of all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Corporation, 
by merger or consolidation, or otherwise), assigns, estate, heirs, executors and personal and legal representatives. The Corporation shall cause 
any successor, by written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Indemnitee and his or her counsel, to expressly assume and agree 
to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Corporation would be required to perform if no such succession 
had taken place. This Agreement shall continue in effect regardless of whether the Indemnitee continues to serve in any capacity for or at the 
request of the Corporation.  

20. Entire Agreement and References . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and cancels and supersedes all of the previous or contemporaneous contracts, representations, warranties and understandings 
(whether oral or written) by or between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. As used herein, the words “including” and “include” 
shall in all cases be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation.”  

21. Amendments and Modifications . No addition to, and no cancellation, extension, modification or amendment of, this Agreement shall 
be binding upon a Party unless such addition, cancellation, extension, modification or amendment is set forth in a written instrument that 
expressly states that it adds to, amends, cancels, extend or modifies this Agreement and that is executed and delivered by such Party. No waiver 
of, or agreement or confirmation under, any provision hereof shall be binding upon a Party unless such waiver is expressly set forth in a written 
instrument which is executed and delivered by a Party. Neither the exercise (from time to time and at any time) by a Party of, nor the delay or 
failure (at any time or for any period of time) to exercise, any right, power or remedy shall constitute a waiver of the right to exercise, or impair, 
limit or restrict the exercise of, such right, power or remedy or any other right, power or remedy at any time and from time to time thereafter. No 
waiver of any right, power or remedy of a Party shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other right, power or remedy of such Party or shall, except 
to the extent so waived, impair, limit or restrict the exercise of such right, power or remedy.  

22. Counterparts . This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which (when executed and delivered) shall 
constitute an original instrument, but all of  



which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become effective at such time as counterparts shall have been 
executed and delivered by each of the Parties, regardless of whether each of the Parties has executed the same counterpart. A facsimile or PDF of 
an original shall be as effective as delivery of such original.  

23. Validity and Severability . If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or incapable of being enforced, in whole or in 
part, in any jurisdiction under any circumstances for any reason, (i) such provision shall be reformed to the minimum extent necessary to cause 
such provision to be valid, enforceable and legal while preserving the intent of the Parties as expressed in, and the benefits to the Parties 
provided by, such provision or (ii) if such provision cannot be so reformed, such provision shall be severed from this Agreement and an 
equitable adjustment shall be made to this Agreement (including addition of necessary further provisions to this Agreement) so as to give effect 
to the intent as so expressed and the benefits so provided. Such holding shall not affect or impair the validity, enforceability or legality of such 
provision in any other jurisdiction or under any other circumstances. Neither such holding nor such reformation or severance shall affect or 
impair the legality, validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.  

24. Headings . The headings set forth herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only, shall not be considered a part of this 
Agreement and shall not limit, modify or affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have duly executed this Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  
   
INDEMNITEE     GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. 

       By:      
Signature       



EXHIBIT 21.1.0 

Subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd. as of February [    ], 2011(a)  
   

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech  International Ltd. 

GrafTech Holdings Inc.     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech USA LLC     Delaware    100% 
Seadrift Coke L.P.     Delaware    81.1%(b) 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech Holdings Inc. 

GrafTech Finance Inc.     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc.     Delaware    100% 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. 

GrafTech International Holdings Inc.     Delaware    100% 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech International Holdings 

Inc. 

GrafTech DE LLC     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech Seadrift Holding Corp.     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech International Trading Inc.     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech Switzerland S.A.     Switzerland    100% 
GrafTech Technology LLC     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech NY Inc.     New York    100% 
Graphite Electrode Network LLC     Delaware    100% 
GrafTech Hong Kong Limited     Hong Kong    100% 
GrafTech Germany GmbH     Germany    100% 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech DE LLC 

GrafTech Canada ULC     Canada    100% 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech Switzerland S.A. 

GrafTech UK Limited     United Kingdom    100% 
Graftech Iberica S.L.     Spain    99.9%(c) 
GrafTech Mexico S.A. de C.V.     Mexico    99.92%(d) 
GrafTech Comercial de Mexico S. de. R.L. de C.V.     Mexico    99.99%(e) 
GrafTech S.p.A.     Italy    100% 
GrafTech Brasil Participacoes Ltda.     Brazil    100% 
GrafTech France S.A.S.     France    100% 
GrafTech South Africa (Pty) Ltd.     South Africa    100% 
GrafTech RUS LLC     Russia    99.9%(f) 

Name of Subsidiary    
Jurisdiction of  
Incorporation    

Ownership by  
GrafTech France S.A.S. 

GrafTech France SNC     France    100%(g) 
  
(a) Directors Qualifying Shares of subsidiaries are deemed to be owned by their immediate parent entity. 
(b) 18.9% held by GrafTech Seadrift Holding Corp. 
(c) 0.01% held by GrafTech International Holdings Inc. 
(d) 0.05% owned by GrafTech International Holdings Inc., 1 share owned by a director of GrafTech Mexico S.A. de C.V., in trust for 

GrafTech Switzerland S.A. and 99.92% owned by GrafTech Switzerland S.A. 
(e) 0.01% owned by GrafTech International Holdings Inc. 
(f) 0.10% owned by GrafTech UK Ltd. 
(g) One share held by GrafTech Switzerland S.A. 



EXHIBIT 23.1.0 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-3 (No. 333-135389, 333-170881 and 170882) 
and Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-46680, 333-135388 and 333-170883) of GrafTech International Ltd. of our report dated February 24, 2011 relating to 
the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Cleveland, Ohio  
February 24, 2011  



EXHIBIT 31.1.0 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Craig S. Shular, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GrafTech International Ltd. (the “Registrant” ); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this Report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report; 

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared; 

  
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 



   

  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

By:   /s/ Craig S. Shular  
  Craig S. Shular 

  

Chief Executive Officer, President, and  
Chairman of the Board  
(Principal Executive Officer)  
February 24, 2011  



EXHIBIT 31.2.0 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Mark R. Widmar, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GrafTech International Ltd. (the “Registrant” ); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this Report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report; 

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have: 

  
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared; 

  
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such 
evaluation; and 

  
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s 

most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 



   

  
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

By:   /s/ Mark R. Widmar  
  Mark R. Widmar 

  

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &  
President, Engineered Solutions  
(Principal Accounting Officer)  
February 24, 2011  



Exhibit 32.1.0 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the following Certification shall not be deemed 
to be filed with the Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of 
the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act, notwithstanding any general incorporation by reference of the Quarterly Report of GrafTech International Ltd. (the 
“Corporation”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), into any 
other document filed with the Commission.  

In connection with the Report, I, Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Corporation, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:  
   

   

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Corporation and will be retained by the 
Corporation and furnished to the Commission or its staff upon request.  
   

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and 

  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 

Corporation. 

By:   /s/ Craig S. Shular  
  Craig S. Shular 

  

Chief Executive Officer, President, and  
Chairman of the Board  
(Principal Executive Officer)  
February 29, 2011  



EXHIBIT 32.2.0 

CERTIFICATION  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the following Certification shall not be deemed 
to be filed with the Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of 
the Exchange Act and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act, notwithstanding any general incorporation by reference of the Quarterly Report of GrafTech International Ltd. (the 
“Corporation”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), into any 
other document filed with the Commission.  

In connection with the Report, I, Mark R. Widmar, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and President, Engineered Solutions of the 
Corporation, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best 
of my knowledge:  
   

   

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Corporation and will be retained by the 
Corporation and furnished to the Commission or its staff upon request.  
   

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and 

  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 

Corporation. 

By:   /s/ Mark R. Widmar  
  Mark R. Widmar 

  

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer & President, 
Engineered Solutions  
(Principal Accounting Officer)  
February 24, 2011  


